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2014 - 2018

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT (IN SAR MILLION) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Special commission income, net  2,755  2,766  2,507  2,298  1,966 
Total non-special commission income  809  946  1,178  1,302  1,216 
Total operating income  3,564  3,712  3,685  3,600  3,182 
Operating expense  1,278  1,266  1,336  1,159  1,011 
Net operating income  2,286  2,446  2,349  2,441  2,171 
Impairment charge for credit losses & investment, net  1,163  1,120  1,288  418  346 
Net income  1,130  1,336  1,065  2,022  1,821 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (IN SAR MILLION) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Shareholders' Equity  13,860  13,600  12,663  12,027  10,742 
Customers' deposits  64,573  78,275  85,359  89,088  76,814 
Loans and advances to customers, net  57,767  63,639  72,743  76,412  65,148 
Investment, net  16,069  16,689  21,258  21,263  18,784 
Total assets  82,028  99,870  104,990  108,070  96,619 

NO OF SHARES OUTSTANDING (IN THOUSANDS)  1,143,072  1,143,072  1,143,072  571,536  476,280 
NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES  1,709  1,706  1,713  1,691  1,637 
NO OF BRANCHES 67 67 65 60 55

FINANCIAL INDICATORS 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Net earnings per share (SAR)  0.99 1.17 0.93 1.77 1.59
Payout ratio (dividend/net profit) % 0.00 12.83 0.00 14.70 34.00
Net asset value per share (SAR) 12.13  11.90  11.08  10.52  22.55 

RATIOS 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Return on average equity % 8.23  10.17  8.62  17.76  18.08 
Return on  average assets % 1.24  1.30  1.00  1.98  2.06 
Capital adequacy ratio % (Tier 1 plus Tier 2) 20.61  20.34  17.62  15.58  15.85 
Efficiency ratio % 35.86  34.10  36.25  32.20  31.78 

Credit 
Ratings

Rating Agency 

Moody›s
Fitch Group*

Long-Term 

 A3 
 BBB+/RWP 

Short-Term 

P-2
F2

Outlook 

 Positive 
 Stable 

Financial Highlights

* Fitch credit rating revised from F2 to F2/RWP as of 30 January 2019.
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Net Profit (Amounts in SAR Millions) Customers’ Deposits (Amounts in SAR Millions)

Return on Average Equity (%)

Total Assets (Amounts in SAR Millions)

Loans & Advances (Amounts in SAR Millions) Return on Average Assets (%)
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2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Total Assets  82,028  99,870  104,990  108,070  96,619 
Total Liabilities  68,168  86,270  92,327  96,043  85,877 
Net Asset  13,860  13,600  12,663  12,027  10,742 

DISCLOSURES UNDER BASEL III FRAMEWORK

Certain qualitative and quantitative disclosures are required under Basel III framework on quarterly, semi-annual or annual basis. These disclosures are made available on the Bank›s websites www.alawwalbank.com 
within prescribed time as required by SAMA. Such disclosures are not subject to audit by the external auditors of the Group.
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Alawwal Bank 
A Saudi joint stock company

Commercial Registration Number 
1010064925

Share Capital 
SAR 11,430,720,000 fully paid represented by 1,143,072,000 shares of SAR 10 each

Shareholders  
Saudi nationals 60%, ABN AMRO Bank N.V. 40%

Head Office  
P. O. Box 1467, Riyadh 11431, Saudi Arabia

Website  
www.alawwalbank.com

Telephone  
+ 966 11 401 0288

Board of Directors
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Directors’
Report
INTRODUCTION

The Board of Directors of Alawwal bank is pleased to present its annual 
report to the bank’s valued shareholders for the financial year ending 
31 December 2018.

SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE
• 	 Net profit of SAR 1,130 million for the financial year ending 31 

December 2018, down 15.4% versus 2017
• 	 Q4 2018 net profit was up 10.3% versus Q3 2018
• 	 Effective cost control maintained, with cost almost flat versus 2017 

despite inflationary pressure from VAT and merger related costs
• 	 Cost-income ratio for the year stood at 35.9%
• 	 Loans and advances ended the year at SAR 57.8 billion, down by 9.2% 

versus 2017
• 	 Tier 1 capital at 19.5% and total capital at 20.6% are the highest ever 

in the bank’s history 
• 	 Focus continued on developing Alawwal bank’s market leading digital 

platform
Innovation and expansion
2018 saw Alawwal bank continue to build on its proud legacy of 
supporting the bank’s customers and the Kingdom through investment 
in innovation and improvement of its services. 
The bank solidified its position as a market leader for digital services, by 
expanding its digital channels with popular new services. These include 
faster access to the mobile application through finger print ID and facial 
recognition creating greater levels of convenience for customers. As a 
result, Alawwal Online and Alawwal Mobile are increasingly becoming 
the channels of choice for Retail customers. Online and mobile user 
penetration stands at 66% and 45%, respectively – with registered 
users increasing 27% year-on-year. Total digital transactions also 
increased by 27%. 
Alawwal bank focuses on developing a culture of innovation across all 
of its business. In 2018 it became the first organisation in the Middle 
East to offer training in artificial intelligence to all members of staff. 
The bank continued to modernise its network by rolling out faster 

digitised processes for instant account opening and card issuance in 
some of its traditional branches, a service which has proved popular in 
its flagship digital café branch IBDA, located at Al Nakheel mall.
Industry recognition
The achievements of the bank in 2018 secured a number of high-profile 
endorsements from respected regional and international institutions. 
Alawwal bank won a number of awards including: ‘Best Private Bank in 
KSA” and “Most Innovative Bank in KSA” from the Banker Middle East, 
“Most Innovative Banking Initiative – IBDA Digital Branch (Saudi Arabia)” 
and “Best Cash Management Solutions Bank in Saudi Arabia” by the 
Global Banking and Finance Review, “Award for excellence in customer 
experience” at the Temenos Community Forum in Dublin, Ireland, and 
the “‘Retail Banking CEO of the year’ at the Enterprise Agility Awards 
hosted by the Entrepreneur Middle East Magazine. 
Merger discussions with The Saudi British Bank
On 3 October 2018 (corresponding to Muharram 23, 1440H) the Boards 
of Directors of The Saudi British Bank and Alawwal bank approved the 
entry into a binding merger agreement under which the two banks 
agreed to take the necessary steps to implement a merger by way of a 
statutory merger. The merger is subject to the approval by SAMA, the 
Capital Market Authority, the General Authority for Competition, the 
Saudi Stock Exchange and shareholders of both banks. 
The merger will create the Kingdom’s third-largest bank, a top tier retail 
and corporate bank, and provide unrivalled access to a global banking 
network to facilitate the flow of investment capital into Saudi Arabia 
and the growth of international trade.

1- FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
 
Alawwal bank recorded net profit of SAR 1,130 million for the year 
2018, down 15.4% versus 2017. 
Operating income decreased by 4% versus 2017 mainly due to a 
decrease in fee and commission income by 12.8% and trading income 
by 21.4%. Net special commission income remained stable year-on-
year. 
Operating expenses, excluding the net impairment charge for credit 
losses and other financial assets remained stable at an increase of 

just 1% year-on-year including VAT and merger related expenses. 
The stability was achieved mainly through decreases in salaries and 
employee-related expenses by 1.3%. General and administration 
expenses and depreciation and amortisation increased by 4.5% and 
4.9%, respectively. The impairment charges for credit and other losses 
increased by 4.2% year-on-year.
The cost-income ratio for the year stood at 35.9% compared to 34.1% 
in 2017 due to lower total operating income.
The balance sheet contracted by SAR 17.8 billion, or 17.9% year-on-
year. Loans and advances decreased by SAR 5.9 billion or 9.2% versus 
2017. Customers’ deposits decreased by 17.5% compared to 2017. 
Alawwal bank’s strong capital and liquidity positions were further 
strengthened. The bank’s Tier 1 is at 19.5% with the total capital 
adequacy ratio at 20.6%. The Loan-to-Deposit ratio ended the year at 
84.1%.
There was a continued focus on credit quality and risk-reward ratios, 
with the bank maintaining its conservative approach towards credit 
provisioning. Provision coverage of non-performing loans at the end 
of 2018 was 157.1%, versus 139.6% a year prior. Alawwal bank’s 
provisions to total loans stands at 6.3%, up from 4.2% in 2017. 
The income vs. costs growth graph below, excluding net provisions for 
credit losses and other financial assets, displays the success of the 
bank’s tight cost management over the years.

For the year ended 
31 December 2018
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Key operating segment financial data

2018
SAR’ 000

Corporate
banking

Personal
banking

 Investment banking and
investment services

Central treasury
and ALCO Total

Total assets 39,719,589 18,047,534 810,629 23,450,450 82,028,202

Total liabilities 16,116,244 27,588,970 268,549 24,194,042 68,167,805

Net income for the year 290,771 471,734 9,940 358,005 1,130,450

Key Financial Information for last five years

SAR millions 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Loans and advances 57,767 63,639 72,743 76,412 65,148

Investments, net 16,069 16,689 21,258 21,263 18,784

Total assets 82,028 99,870 104,990 108,070 96,619

Customers’ deposits 64,573 78,275 85,359 89,088 76,814

Due to banks and other financial institutions 1,532 3,345 1,348 1,357 3,055

Subordinated debt - 2,505 3,910 3,907 3,900

Shareholders' equity 13,860 13,600 12,663 12,027 10,742

Net income for the year 1,130 1,336 1,065 2,022 1,821

Earnings per Share – SAR 0.99 1.17 0.93 1.77 1.59

Net Dividends per share - SAR - 0.25 - 0.25 1

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

NPLs 2,480 1,986 1,656 824 842

NPL to Net Loans (%) 4.3 3.1 2.3 1.1 1.3

Coverage (%) 157.1 139.6 130.0 166.8 160.6

Capital ratios (%)

- Tier 1 19.5 16.2 13.2 11.6 11.2

- Total (Tier1+ Tier II) 20.6 20.3 17.6 15.6 15.9

Loans to deposit (%) 84.1 78.6 81.3 82.3 80.9

Liquidity ratio (%) 26 34.7 25.9 25.7 24
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Alawwal bank’s core business continued to perform well. Prudent 
provisions for potential credit losses were taken and the bank maintained 
a disciplined approach to asset quality and risk-returns. The bank’s capital 
base strengthened significantly with the Tier 1 capital at 19.5% and total 
capital at 20.6%.

2- BUSINESS SEGMENTS 

The bank is organised into three main business segments: Corporate 
Banking, Personal Banking and Treasury. In addition, it provides brokerage, 
asset management and investment banking services through Alawwal 
Invest, a wholly-owned subsidiary. Other subsidiaries are Alawwal 
Insurance Agency (the bancassurance distribution arm), Alawwal Real 
Estate and Alawwal Financial Markets Limited Company. The bank also 
holds a 20% shareholding in Wataniya Insurance Company.
The key services provided under each of the main operating business 
segments are:  
2.1) Corporate Banking
The Corporate Banking Group provides institutional, corporate, and 
commercial customers with a wide range of products and services including 
term loans, trade finance, guarantees, corporate finance and advisory (in 
cooperation with Alawwal Invest). It also offers an extensive range of 
Shariah-compliant corporate products under Islamic structures.
2.2) Personal Banking
The Personal Banking Group operates through a national network of 
branches and ATMs, complemented by a range of phone banking, e-banking, 
and mobile banking services.  
Products in this segment include: current and time deposit accounts, 
personal loans, home finance, and credit cards. Tailored “Preferred Banking” 
and “Taqdeer” services are available to qualifying customers. Private 
Banking is offered to high net worth individuals as an exclusive banking 
relationship with bespoke products and the highest level of personalized 
services through assigned senior relationship managers. Share trading 
services and fund management products are available through Alawwal 

Invest. The bank also offers a wide range of ladies banking services 
through a network of ladies branches.
2.3) Treasury
Alawwal bank’s Treasury Department provides hedging and 
investment products for the bank’s corporate customers.  The 
Treasury department has retained its leading position in foreign 
exchange cash products as well as in its structured derivatives 
businesses in foreign exchange and special commission rates.  
Alawwal bank is among the most active interbank market makers in 
Saudi Riyal-denominated foreign exchange and special commission 
rate products. Treasury is also responsible for managing the bank’s 
overall commission rate, liquidity and currency risk on the bank’s 
balance sheet on behalf of the Asset and Liability Committee 
(ALCO). 
The assets, liabilities and results of these segments are included in related 
operating segments as set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial 
statements.
The activities and services of Alawwal bank’s subsidiaries and an 
associate are: 
Alawwal Invest  
Alawwal Invest, a Closed Joint-Stock company incorporated in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, a wholly owned subsidiary of the bank through 
direct ownership, was established in accordance with the Capital Market 
Authority’s (CMA) Resolution number 1-39-2007 under commercial 
registration number 1010242378 dated 30 Dhul Hijjah 1428H 
(corresponding to January 9, 2008). Alawwal Invest was formed to take 
over and manage the Group’s Investment Services and Asset Management 
activities regulated by CMA related to dealing, managing, arranging, 
advising and taking custody of securities. Alawwal Invest commenced its 
operations effective on 2 Rabi’II 1429H (corresponding to April 8, 2008). 
Alawwal Real Estate Company (“AREC”)
AREC, a limited liability company incorporated in the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia, a wholly owned subsidiary of the bank through direct ownership, 
was established under commercial registration number 1010250772 dated 
21 Jumada I 1429H (corresponding to May 26, 2008) with the approval of 
the Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority (SAMA). The Company was formed 
to register real estate assets under its name which are received by the 
bank as collateral from borrowers.
Alawwal Insurance Agency Company (“AIAC”)
AIAC, a limited liability company incorporated in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia, a wholly owned subsidiary of the bank through 
direct ownership was established under commercial registration 
number 1010300250 dated 29 Muharram 1432H (corresponding 
to January 4, 2011) with the approval of SAMA. The Company was 
formed to act as an agent for Wataniya Insurance Company (WIC), 
an associate, for selling its insurance products. 

Alawwal Financial Markets Limited (“AFML”)
Alawwal Financial Markets Limited., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
bank was established and licensed to operate on 1 February 2017 
(corresponding to 4 Jumada I 1438H), with the approval of SAMA. The 
Company was formed to engage in derivatives trading, repo and reverse 
repo activities on behalf of the bank. It was registered in Cayman Islands 
under incorporation number 319452.
Wataniya Insurance Company (“WIC”)
The bank purchased a 20% equity stake in Wataniya Insurance Company in 
2008 which enabled the bank to broaden its insurance agency capabilities to 
complement its retail banking offering. Wataniya was incorporated in 2010. 
Further details of subsidiaries and associates are covered in Note 1 and 
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements respectively and section 
11 of this report.

3- STRATEGY

The bank’s strategy supports the pursuit of its primary objectives: to be 
the bank of choice for its chosen customer segments in Corporate and 
Personal Banking through maximizing customer value by providing a 
comprehensive, personalised, quality service. This core objective will 
continue to drive business planning and management decision-making.  
The following are highlights of the strategy for each segment:
Corporate Banking Group
Alawwal bank plays a major role in the Corporate banking segment, 
offering a comprehensive range of products and services to support 
growth of businesses of all sizes and across all industrial sectors. Alawwal 
bank pays specific attention to the needs of corporate clients by offering 
them high-quality products and services to satisfy their expectations in 
a highly competitive business environment. The Corporate Banking Group 
at Alawwal bank, comprises of two segments: 1) Institutional Banking for 
large Corporations and 2) Corporate Banking for mid-tier corporates and 
small and medium-sized enterprises. During 2018, Alawwal bank gained 
international recognition for its innovative services and was awarded 
‘Best Cash Management Solutions Bank Saudi Arabia 2018’ by the Global 
Banking and Finance Review. The bank introduced the Alawwal Corporate 
Online portfolio to help corporate customers transact securely, without the 
need to visit a branch.
SME Banking
SME Banking at Alawwal bank forms a part of the Corporate Banking Group. 
During 2018 Alawwal bank increased its focus and efforts to offer a wide 
range of products and services to support SME’s. SME banking relationship 
teams are located in all three main regions of the Kingdom.
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During 2018, Kafalah and Alawwal bank enhanced their partnership 
to support the Saudi SME sector in its role to generate new jobs and 
contribute to the local economy.
The revised agreement with Kafalah involves additional propositions, 
including raising the lending limit for SMEs and expanding the eligible SME 
segments to include for example the tourism sector, entertainment, female 

business owners, and businesses that have been in the market for less 
than three years. A new segment for mid-sized companies with turnover 
from SAR 40 mln to SAR 200 mln was introduced. The program will provide 
guarantees with coverage of 70% to a maximum of SAR 15 mln to finance 
working capital for all sectors.
The SME training initiatives and workshops in 2018 were as follows:

2018

Number of man days training provided to staff 375

Number of man days training provided to customers 0

Total number of staff in SME 37

31-Dec-18 (SAR x 000) Micro Small Medium   Total 

Loans to MSMEs-On balance sheet (B/S)* 249,000 1,015,000 4,282,000 5,546,000

Loans to MSMES-Off balance sheet  74,000 547,000 1,906,000 2,527,000

On B/S MSMEs Loans as a % of total on B/S loans 0.40% 1.65% 6.94% 8.99%

Off B/S MSMEs Loans as a % of total Off B/S loans 0.33% 2.41% 8.41% 11.16%

Number of loans (on and off)** 320 256 1,518 2,094

Number of customers for loans (on and off)** 351 400 432 1,183

Number of Loans granted by Kafalah Program (on and off)** 30 20 1 51

Amount of Loans granted by Kafalah Program (on and off) 21,000 19,000 2,000 42,000

31-Dec-17 (SAR x 000) Micro Small Medium   Total 

Loans to MSMEs-On balance sheet (B/S)* - 822,197 776,168 1,598,365

Loans to MSMES-Off balance sheet  - 216,479 300,623 517٫102

On B/S MSMEs Loans as a % of total on B/S loans - 1.20% 1.13% 2.33%

Off B/S MSMEs Loans as a % of total Off B/S loans - 0.83% 1.15% 1.98%

Number of loans (on and off)** - 1,124 827 1,951

Number of customers for loans (on and off)** - 519 146 665

Number of Loans granted by Kafalah Program (on and off)** - 81 - 81

Amount of Loans granted by Kafalah Program (on and off) - 132,498 - 132٫498

* SAMA’s revised definition of MSME’s (Micro, Small and Medium sized Enterprises) has been applied for 2018 only. 
** Number of customers and loans are actual numbers.

bank’s mobile app offers the widest range of access options in the Kingdom. 
This includes instant access via face and fingerprint authentication. In 
addition, to facilitate further customer service excellence and migration 
to cost effective channels, the bank has launched a National ID update 
through Alawwal Online and Alawwal Mobile. This allows customers to 
instantly update their records without the need to visit a branch.
The bank was recognized with multiple awards during the year for its 
Personal Banking business:
•	 Best Innovative Banking Initiative – IBDA digital branch (Saudi Arabia) by 

Global Banking and Finance 
•	 Most Innovative Bank in KSA by The Banker Middle East 
•	 Best Private Bank in KSA by The Banker Middle East
•	 Retail Banking CEO of the year’ by the Entrepreneur Middle East Magazine

Personal Banking Group
The Personal Banking Group (PBG) offers a comprehensive product suite, 
as well as high quality personalized services and market leading online and 
mobile banking. The bank pursued selective growth while maintaining an 
emphasis on product development and risk management across Consumer 
Loans, Home Finance, Credit Cards, and Deposits.
The bank launched various innovative Home Finance solutions such as 
Ready to Move Property, Construction and Off Plan Sale. For Home Finance 
the bank is aligned with the Real Estate Development Fund, a government 
fund established to provide and create diversified and balanced funding 
programs to suit all segments of Saudi society.
Personal customers have continued to benefit from the convenience 
offered by the bank’s market leading range of digital services. Alawwal 

Treasury department, Alawwal Invest, Alawwal Real Estate and 
Islamic Banking.
Alawwal bank’s Treasury department, Alawwal Invest and Alawwal Real 
Estate provide products, services and advisory expertise to the bank’s 
corporate and personal banking customers. The Treasury department 
provides corporate and personal banking customers with hedging solutions 
and investment yield enhancement offerings. Alawwal Invest offers a full 
range of brokerage, asset management and investment banking products. 
Alawwal Real Estate provides real estate purchase and registration 
services in support of the bank’s Home Finance business as well as support 
to its corporate banking business in connection with real estate collateral 
provided by clients. 
Additionally, the bank continues to invest in its Islamic business 
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4.2.1 Capital adequacy approach
SAMA requires all banks in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia to operate in 
accordance with the Basel III framework. In addition to setting minimum 
international capital requirements, Basel III introduces minimum standards 
for liquidity risk: The Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) and the Net Stable 
Funding Ratio (NSFR).
The Basel framework consists of three pillars which are intended to 
increase robustness and transparency within the financial system:
• Pillar I: refers to Minimum Capital Requirements relating to Credit Risk, 

Operational Risk and Market Risk. Alawwal bank prepares its Pillar I 
capital requirements under the standardised approach; further financial 
details are provided in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements;

• Pillar II: The Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Plan (ICAAP) requires 
banks to assess and demonstrate to the supervisor that the level of 
capital held adequately supports all relevant current and future risks in 
their business; 

• Pillar III: aims to promote market discipline through regulatory disclosure 
requirements by enabling market participants to access key information 
relating to a bank’s regulatory capital and risk exposures in order to 
increase transparency and enable comparison.

4.2.2 ICAAP overview
An internal assessment of the sufficiency of capital against all the risk 
types to which the bank is exposed is performed through its annual 
Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Plan (ICAAP) process. Applying 
a range of quantitative and qualitative techniques, the ICAAP is an 
assessment of the bank’s current and projected capital adequacy. Through 
the ICAAP management ensures and is able to demonstrate to the bank’s 
Board of Directors and to SAMA that the bank holds sufficient capital to 
support all material risks to which it is exposed. Together with the bank’s 
stress-testing programme, the ICAAP demonstrates the bank’s capability 
to withstand stress events at varying levels of severity.  It, therefore, 
reinforces the link between risks and capital so that the bank’s risk appetite 
is integrated with its capital planning.
4.2.3 Internal Liquidity Adequacy Assessment Plan
An internal assessment of the sufficiency of the bank’s liquidity position 
and control framework is performed through its annual Internal Liquidity 
Adequacy Assessment Plan (ILAAP) process. The bank applies a range of 
quantitative and qualitative techniques in the preparation of the ILAAP in 
order to demonstrate to the bank’s Board of Directors and to SAMA that 
the bank’s liquidity position is sufficient to support the business and all 
material risks to which it is exposed.  Further details of the approaches 
taken are described in section 4.3.4, below. Together with the bank’s 
stress-testing programme, the ILAAP demonstrates the bank’s capability 
to withstand stress events at varying levels of severity.
4.2.4 Stress testing overview
Alawwal bank’s stress testing programme is performed at enterprise-wide 

with the Islamic Banking Unit providing expertise and support to all 
business units in the bank. 

4- RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1 Introduction
Risk Management remains of paramount importance at Alawwal bank. 
The bank’s continued focus on sound risk management ensures that all 
material risks are identified, measured, monitored and reported and that 
the risk appetite set by the Board is adhered to in the pursuit of the bank’s 
strategic objectives.
Alawwal bank’s risk management approach is guided by its Risk Governance 
Framework. This Framework sets out the bank’s risk management 
principles, the roles and responsibilities of the Risk Management function 
and the methods used to manage risk.  These methods include: internal 
policies, procedures, limits, stress-testing, risk monitoring and reporting, 
as well as fully complying with all regulatory requirements as set out by 
the Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority (SAMA). Risk management methods 
extend to specific guidance and techniques to be considered when 
structuring transactions.
The bank’s Board Risk Committee (BRC) provides guidance and strategic 
direction to management with respect to the bank’s Risk Governance 
Framework. The BRC is responsible for advising the Board on matters 
such as risk appetite and strategy, risk assessment processes, policies, 
regulatory developments and risk infrastructure considerations and also 
has to provide remedial guidance should material breaches of limits occur.
4.2 Overview of risk-weighted assets and capital approach
Alawwal bank’s main business activities are corporate and retail banking in 
the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Many of the bank’s corporate customers have 
a long-standing relationship with the bank and have stable credit histories 
and experience in operating through multiple economic cycles, enabling 
the bank to take a long term view.  
Alawwal bank’s balance sheet is dominated by Credit Risk assets, as 
demonstrated in the Pillar I risk-weighted assets as at the end of 2018.

level and focuses on the key risk types to which the bank is exposed. 
‘Stress testing’ refers to various techniques (quantitative and qualitative) 
used to gauge the bank’s vulnerability to exceptional but plausible events. 
The bank’s stress testing programme incorporates the guidelines set out 
by SAMA and the principles set out by the Basel Committee and is a key-
component of the bank’s Risk Governance Framework.
In conjunction with the ICAAP and ILAAP, a major objective of stress testing 
is to demonstrate that the bank is adequately capitalised and sufficiently 
liquid to withstand a stress event and, in particular, would be able to 
restore its financial standing and operations to normal levels without 
undue reliance on external parties. Sensitivities that are identified during 
the stress-testing process are followed up with management actions with 
the intention of mitigating their potential impact in the event of an actual 
stress event.
The primary stresses focus on credit events – in both the corporate and 
retail portfolios - together with a reduction in earnings, stressed levels of 
operational losses and market risk stresses. In total, eight stress scenarios 
are modelled, ranging from mild to severe to reverse. Liquidity stress 
testing scenarios consider a range of cash metrics and stressed Basel III 
and other regulatory liquidity measures.
4.3 Principal risk-types and controls
The following section provides an overview of the principal risk-types the 
bank is exposed to and the associated risk management approach. 
The vast majority of principal risk-types have an associated risk appetite 
metric forming part of the Risk Appetite Statement set by the Board.  On 
a regular basis, the Board and its committees monitor the results of these 
risk appetite metrics to obtain assurance that the bank is operating within 
appetite and where adverse trends or breaches may occur, to assess the 
adequacy of remedial action taken by management.
The bank’s Risk Appetite Statement and metrics are reviewed at least 
annually. Changes to risk-appetite levels may be recommended taking into 
account the business environment and strategic developments. 
4.3.1 Credit Risk 
Credit Risk is the risk of loss resulting from the failure of a borrower or 
counterparty to honor its financial or contractual obligations to the bank. 
Credit Risk arises from the bank’s direct lending operations, its issuance 
of guarantees, bonds and like instruments, trade finance activities and its 
investment and trading activities. 
The granting of credit to customers is a core business of the bank and 
accounts for a major portion of the bank’s balance sheet and profitability. 
The quality of the credit portfolio has a direct and important impact on the 
bank’s performance and strength. Credit policies, manuals and procedures 
specify lending guidelines to manage Credit Risk across the bank’s 
portfolios. 
The bank’s Corporate Credit Policy & Procedures Manual (CCPPM) ensures 
that Credit Risk is managed to the highest standard and in a consistent 
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manner throughout the organisation.  The CCPPM embodies the core 
principles for identifying, measuring, approving and managing Credit Risk 
in all Corporate Banking lending activities and some aspects of Small and 
Medium Enterprises, Interbank and Retail Banking lending activities. The 
CCPPM is reviewed periodically by the Board Risk Committee and approved 
by the Board.
Credit risk is monitored using a variety of Credit Risk management 
techniques such as assigning credit ratings, setting limits, monitoring 
credit exposures, limiting transactions with specific counterparties, 
continually assessing the creditworthiness of counterparties and through 
the appropriate structuring of transactions including the use of collateral. 
Management monitors the market value of collateral on a regular basis and 
requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement, 
if required. In addition, management also assess the market value of 
collateral when reviewing the adequacy of allowances for impairment 
losses. 
The bank manages credit exposure relating to its treasury trading 
activities by entering into master netting agreements and collateral 
arrangements with counterparties in appropriate circumstances, and 
by limiting the duration of exposure. The bank’s Credit Risk exposure 
on derivatives represents the potential cost of replacing the derivative 
contracts if counterparties fail to fulfill their obligations. To control the 
level of Credit Risk taken, management assesses counterparties using the 
same techniques as for lending activities.
Alawwal bank’s financial performance could be affected by concentrations 
of Credit Risk. Concentrations of Credit Risk arise when a number of obligors 
are engaged in similar business activities or have similar attributes that 
would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly 
affected by a particular change in economic, political or other conditions. 
Concentration Risk can also arise from large exposures to a single borrower 
or group of related borrowers. Management seeks to manage concentration 
of Credit Risk through the diversification of lending activities and through 
the use of internal and regulatory limits.
The debt securities included in the investment portfolio are mainly 
sovereign risk. Analysis of investments by class of obligor / issuer is 
provided in Note 6 of the consolidated financial statements. For details of 
the composition of loans and advances refer to Note 7 to the consolidated 
financial statements. Further information on Credit Risk relating to 
derivative instruments and commitments and contingencies are provided in 
Notes 11, 19 and 29, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements. 
Further information on the bank’s maximum credit exposure by operating 
segment is provided in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
4.3.2 Operational Risk
Operational Risk is the risk of loss, whether direct or indirect, to which 
Alawwal bank is exposed due to inadequate or failed internal processes 
or systems, human error, or external events. Operational Risk covers three 
main areas: i) financial losses through operational errors, ii) reputational 

damage and iii) adverse regulatory impact through legal breaches.
The bank follows the accepted ‘best practice’ methodology of risk 
assessments and control evaluations for the identification of residual 
Operational Risks for both existing products and processes as well as for 
proposed new products and processes. Operational Risks are identified 
and assessed using the Risk and Control Self-Assessment and Key Risk 
Indicator tools. A register of risks, controls and mitigating actions is 
maintained in a central control repository.
Operational Risk Management (ORM) manages Operational Risk for new 
or changed initiatives/products through the Operational Risk Assessment 
Procedure (ORAP), the use of which is governed by the bank’s ORAP Policy.
All operating losses and issues are recorded in the bank’s Governance, Risk 
and Control system (GRC). GRC is a joint initiative between Operational 
Risk Management, Compliance, Internal Audit, and Information Security. 
This unified platform collects and monitors the risks, controls, deficiencies 
and actions to ensure that the control activities form an integral part of 
the daily activities of the bank. The control activities are defined for every 
business level and every department with automated follow-up on non-
compliance through approval workflows. Information in the GRC system is 
analyzed by the ORM function; this can result in policies and processes 
being revised or other controls being adopted to mitigate the prospect of 
any similar loss re-occurrence. 
4.3.3 Market Risk
Market Risk is the risk of losses arising from movements in financial market 
prices (including foreign exchange, commission rates, credit spreads, 
equities, and commodities) that will change the carrying value of certain of 
the bank’s assets and liabilities.  
The bank is exposed to Market Risk due to its trading activities. The 
bank’s appetite for Market Risk is low and limits and controls are in place 
to ensure that market risk positions are maintained within appetite.  The 
limited nature of the bank’s market risk taking can be seen in figure 1 on 
the previous page, which shows that just 1% of risk weighted assets derive 
from market risk positions.
The Market Risk for the trading book is managed and monitored using 
a variety of measures including a Value at Risk (VaR) methodology. 
Market Risk for the non-trading book is managed and monitored using a 
combination of economic value of equity, stress testing and sensitivity 
analyses.
4.3.3.1 Market Risk - Trading book:
The Board of Directors has set limits for the acceptable level of risk in 
managing the trading book. In order to manage Market Risk in the trading 
book, management applies a VaR methodology daily to assess the Market 
Risk positions held and to estimate the potential loss based on a set of 
assumptions and changes in market conditions.
A VaR methodology estimates the potential negative change in the market 
value of a portfolio at a given confidence level and over a specified time 

horizon. The bank uses simulation models to assess the possible changes 
in the market value of the trading book based on historical data. VaR 
models are usually designed to measure the Market Risk in a normal market 
environment. Therefore, the use of VaR has limitations as it is based on 
historical correlations and volatilities in market prices and assumes that 
future movements will follow a statistical distribution. The VaR model that 
management uses provides an estimate, using a confidence level of 99%, 
of the potential loss that is not expected to be exceeded if the current 
market positions were to be held unchanged for one day. The use of a 99% 
confidence level implies that within a one-day horizon, losses exceeding 
the VaR figure should occur, on average, not more than once every one 
hundred days.
Whilst a useful tool, VaR does have a number of limitations. In particular, 
VaR is calculated by the bank based on the risk of portfolios at the close 
of a business day. Further, VaR does not account for losses that may occur 
beyond the defined confidence interval and VaR models rely on historic or 
implied price movements and correlations being good predictors of future 
market moves. Actual trading results may differ from the VaR calculations, 
and the metric needs to be considered with particular care in stressed 
market conditions.
To overcome the VaR limitations mentioned above, management maintains 
a framework of non-modeled limits that show potential loss for a given 
change in a market factor and makes no assumption about the behavior 
of market factors. Furthermore, management employs stop loss limits 
on Market Risk positions and carries out stress tests of its portfolio to 
simulate conditions outside normal confidence intervals. The potential 
losses occurring under stress test conditions are reported regularly to the 
Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) for review.
4.3.3.2 Market Risk-Non-Trading / Banking Book:
Market Risk on non-trading or banking book positions mainly arises from 
commission rate, foreign currency exposures and equity price changes.
- Special Commission Rate Risk: Special commission rate risk in the 

banking book arises from the changes to cash flows on financial assets 
and liabilities as a result of commission rate changes.  The bank is exposed 
to special commission rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps in the 
amount of assets and liabilities and other financial instruments that 
mature or re-price in a given period. This risk is managed by matching the 
re-pricing of assets and liabilities through risk management strategies. 
The Board of Directors has established special commission rate risk gap 
limits for stipulated periods. These limits are monitored daily by the 
bank’s Treasury Division. Management monitors positions and where 
necessary uses hedging strategies to ensure maintenance of positions 
within established gap limits.
The bank identifies, measures and reports special commission rate risk 
in accordance with regulatory requirements and within the parameters 
of its internal Rate Risk Management framework. Special Commission 
Rate Risk measurement methodologies assess the effects of interest 
rate changes using an earnings basis and an economic value basis across 
a number of regulatory prescribed scenarios. These provide meaningful 
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measurements of current levels of special commission rate risk exposure, 
and facilitate management of this risk.

- Currency Risk: Currency risk represents the risk of change in the value of 
financial instruments due to changes in foreign exchange rates. Exposure 
to the effects of fluctuations in prevailing foreign currency exchange 
rates on the bank’s financial position and cash flows is managed by the 
Board of Directors setting limits on the level of exposure by currency 
and in total. These limits are monitored daily. Hedging strategies are also 
used to ensure that positions are maintained within these limits.

- Equity Price Risk: Equity price risk refers to the risk of a decrease in the 
fair values of equities in the bank’s non-trading investment portfolio as 
a result of changes in levels of equity indices or the value of individual 
stocks.

4.3.4 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity Risk is the risk that Alawwal bank may be unable to meet its 
financial obligations in a timely manner at reasonable prices. Financial 
obligations include liabilities to depositors, payments due under derivative 
contracts, settlement of repurchase transactions, and lending and 
investment commitments. To mitigate Liquidity Risk, diversified funding 
sources are sought by the bank and assets are managed considering 
liquidity positions to maintain a healthy balance of cash, cash equivalents 
and readily marketable securities.
The management of liquidity is a core function of any bank, being inherent 
in the maturity transformation process that underlies corporate and retail 
banking.  Given its wide scope, a single measurement to identify Liquidity 
Risk rarely suffices. The bank therefore applies two broad approaches 
in managing Liquidity Risk – forward looking and historical. These are 
underpinned by the bank’s Liquidity Risk Management Framework that 
contains a variety of risk management techniques, which are consistent 
with the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision Principles for Sound 
Liquidity Risk Management and Supervision. 
Forward looking   approaches assess funding needs across the foreseeable 
future. This is undertaken by the Treasury function, which manages funding 
needs across a variety of time horizons. Regular control and monitoring is 
undertaken by the Risk Management and Finance functions with select 
reporting extending to senior committees. Historical monitoring includes a 
wide range of liquidity ratios, both regulatory and internally applied to the 
actual balance sheet. Product behaviouralisation based on assumptions 
is applied to actual balance sheet positions to assess the potential 
emergence of increasing Liquidity Risk. 
Alawwal bank’s Contingency Funding Plan (CFP) sets out the plan of action 
the bank would use to fund business activity in crisis. The CFP comprises 
of two main parts:
• Part 1: Analysis and Identification - the risk factors, key reports and 

metrics that are reviewed on an ongoing basis to identify whether the 
bank is entering a stressed liquidity environment that necessitates 
the activation of the Liquidity Crisis Action Plan. It includes the stress 
scenarios that are deemed to be relevant.  

• Part 2: The Liquidity Crisis Action Plan - describes in detail the bank’s 
responses to a liquidity crisis.  This includes identification of key 
individuals and formulation of the decision making and communication 
trees. It further details specific actions and mitigants that could be 

applied and the individuals responsible for executing them.
The CFP includes a number of stress scenarios, which are tested on an annual 
basis. As part of the annual CFP testing, the effectiveness of the Liquidity 
Crisis Action Plan and the suitability of the stress scenarios are observed. 
The results and recommendations are presented to the bank’s ALCO.  
The bank performs liquidity stress-testing that, amongst other objectives, 
is designed to meet SAMA stress-testing requirements. The Basel III 30-
day liquidity stress measure, the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR), is the 
basis of the bank’s liquidity stress-testing. Stress scenarios are created by 
adjusting the assumed behavior of assets and liabilities. These scenarios 
are then applied to generate stressed LCRs and other key regulatory and 
internal liquidity measures including a stressed Net Stable Funding Ratio. 
The bank stresses its intraday position based on the Basel scenarios 
combined with bank specific scenarios.
4.3.5 Macro-Economic and Business Cycle Risk
Macro-Economic and Business Cycle Risk is the risk to earnings as a result 
of fluctuations in the business cycle. Alawwal bank considers increased 
financial risk from an economic downturn as part of its assessment of Credit 
Risk, Market Risk and Special Commission Rate risk. Having done this, the 
bank assesses potential incremental risks to financial performance, not 
covered by the aforementioned risk types, such as a reduction in fee income. 
The risks posed from an economic downturn and the severity and length 
thereof are uncertain, and historical data can be no more than indicative. 
As such, specific risk-mitigants cannot be precise. An economic downturn 
reduces business activity and therefore reduces the bank’s ability to write 
new business and generate income.
4.3.6 Reputational Risk
Reputational Risk covers the risk of losses due to other market participants, 
including customers, forming an adverse opinion of the bank, irrespective 
of whether this opinion is based on fact or merely perception. Reputational 
Risk is primarily a risk that can be caused by the occurrence of other types 
of risks.
Reputation plays a key role in determining whether the bank has a 
sustainable future. It helps strengthen the trust and confidence of the 
bank’s major stakeholders, which serves to bolster its safety and soundness, 
competitiveness and business value. A good reputation may also increase 
the bank’s chance of overcoming a market crisis when it occurs. If, however, 
the bank’s reputation has been badly damaged, and public confidence in 
the bank is undermined, its business prospects and even survival could 
be in doubt. Managing Reputational Risk (or, more precisely, those risks 
consequently affecting reputation) and having in place appropriate plans 
to identify and mitigate these risks warrant special attention and priority.
The bank’s principal strategy for managing Reputational Risk is focused 
on guiding corporate and employee behavior using the following core 
components:
•	 Alawwal bank’s corporate values;
•	 Alawwal bank’s business principles;
•	 Alawwal bank’s Reputational Risk Management policy;
•	 Policies and procedures covering day to day activities of the bank.
Among the applicable policies and standards are those dealing with 

Customer Acceptance, Anti-Money Laundering and Credit, the bank’s Code 
of Conduct and the staff whistle-blowing policy.
Alawwal bank adopts a systematic approach to identify, assess and control 
any risk or potential threat that may adversely affect the bank’s reputation. 
In terms of measurement, the bank conducts an annual Reputational Risk 
Survey. The purpose of the survey is to identify whether risk management 
policies and processes and operational controls are operating effectively so 
as to promote the bank’s aim of avoiding Reputational Risk. Reputational 
Risk is a standing agenda item for the bank’s Operational Risk Committee.
4.3.7 Risks in the Islamic Banking Department
Alawwal bank considers risks inherent in the structure of products within 
its Islamic Banking Department separately. The principal risk areas are 
commodities fulfillment and handling, Operational Risks and Reputational 
Risks. For all these areas, specific processes, controls and procedures are 
in place. 
Any failure by the bank to conduct its business in compliance with Shariah 
approvals issued by Alawwal bank’s Shariah Board could cause a serious 
Reputational Risk. The bank follows a strict policy of zero tolerance in 
failure to comply with the Shariah Board’s approvals and therefore places 
emphasis on the following: 
A.	 All staff who are involved in any aspect of Islamic Banking activities are 

required to complete the Islamic finance training that consists of a basic 
level and an advanced level.

B.	 Product and business/branch level workshops are conducted to 
enhance staff understanding of Islamic Banking business; 

C.	 Prior to the launch of any new Islamic product, all staff involved in the 
product are given training on the product structure and procedures; 

D.	 The bank arranges seminars to increase its customers’ understanding 
of Islamic Banking and finance concepts in general, and Islamic products 
offered by the bank in particular; 

E.	 Shariah reviews are carried out on a regular basis to ensure Shariah 
compliance.

4.4 Other Risk Types / Control Areas
4.4.1 Business Continuity Management
Business Continuity Management (BCM) is defined as the capability of 
the organisation to continue the delivery of products and services at 
acceptable, predefined levels following a disruptive event. In order to 
minimize the risk of business disruption, to respond in an organised way 
to any potentially disruptive incident and to resume ‘business as usual’ as 
soon as possible, the bank has in place a Business Continuity Plan (BCP). 
The activation of the BCP is authorized through the Command & Control 
Centre (CCC), which is the decision-making authority during the entire 
period of a crisis until ‘business as usual’ resumes. The CCC team is 
comprised of senior management with nominated alternates for back-
up. This centralized approach ensures efficiency and effectiveness in the 
business recovery process whilst minimizing uncertainty in responsibilities 
and avoiding potential duplication of effort. A number of key business 
continuity risk scenarios of varying severity levels are identified that could 
give rise to the BCP being initiated. 
Regular reports are circulated to senior management that cover the status 
of all the key BCM initiatives, completed tasks as well as ongoing tasks.
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4.4.2 Information Security
As part of its core business processes, Alawwal bank handles various types 
of customer information and data relating to its customers. Handling of 
information and data includes its storage, processing and transmission. 
The bank has established an Information Security Department that aims 
to minimize the risk of damage to or misuse of data held by Alawwal bank. 
The Department acts as the central point of control and processing of any 
changes in user access rights to the bank’s computer systems; it addresses 
potential security weaknesses of Alawwal bank’s enterprise network and 
aims to provide and maintain a secure information network infrastructure. 
Further, the Information Security Department conducts on-line monitoring 
to ensure Alawwal bank’s network is secure and is in compliance with 
Information Security Policies; promotes system security awareness for 
staff and clients in coordination with concerned business departments 
and acts as a liaison with SAMA and other regulatory bodies. The bank 
maintains awareness of industry security trends, developments and 
methods to ensure constant application of the most appropriate system 
security practices.
4.4.3 Strategic Risk
Strategic Risk is concerned with risks arising from institutional changes in 
strategy and changes in fundamental market conditions. 

Strategic Risk is a key consideration when business planning is undertaken. 
Excessive Strategic Risk may arise as the result of planning to enter into 
new markets, into new products, or through geographical expansion. 
Management does not believe that there are any high-risk initiatives 
currently envisaged that would give rise to undue Strategic Risk. The 
pending merger with The Saudi British Bank might add a number of risk 
factors through the implementation phase which will require careful 
planning and monitoring. 
Alawwal bank has several committees that contribute to the management 
and mitigation of Strategic Risk. The Strategic Business & Technology 
Steering Committee provides the governance framework for the effective 
selection of investments in portfolios of projects for the bank. The Contracts 
Committee closely governs the contract approval process. Additionally, 
senior management has regular sessions at which performance is reviewed 
against the assigned strategic and tactical goals.
4.4.4 Other Risks
Other risks that the bank considers when the course of business so 
dictates, include securitization and syndication risk.  However, the bank 
has not contracted any new business in these areas during 2018. So-called 
Global risk is considered in the context of macro-economic and business 
cycle risk.

Further details on the risks the bank is exposed to are detailed in Notes 29, 
30 and 31 of the consolidated financial statements.

5- CREDIT RATING

Alawwal bank’s credit rating has been assessed by Moody’s and Fitch 
Group as follows:  

Credit Rating Agency Rating

Moody’s A3

Fitch Group BBB+/RWP

6- GEOGRAPHICAL CONCENTRATION

6.1 Geographical distribution of financial assets with credit risk is 
as follows: 

2018 (SAR ‘000) Saudi Arabia GCC and Middle East Europe  Americas South East-Asia Other countries Total

Assets 
Cash and balances with SAMA 368,000 - - - - - 368,000
Due from banks and other  financial institutions 25,096 177,810 583,781 317,900 532 10,893 1,116,012
Positive fair value derivatives, net 44,118 21,474 44,515 - - - 110,107
Investments, net 15,485,711 38,119 166,836 377,872 - - 16,068,538
Loans and advances, net 57,767,123 - - - - - 57,767,123
Other assets, net 270,574 454,245 27,128 1,989 2 45 753,983
Total 73,960,622 691,648 822,260 697,761 534 10,938 76,183,763
Commitments and Contingencies 19,436,800 714,763 1,469,027 359,921 10,395 661,749 22,652,655

Maximum credit exposure (stated at credit equivalent amounts)

Commitments and contingencies 10,406,399 482,927 636,849 172,128 5,198 623,057 12,326,558
Derivatives 281,393 137,802 175,864 6,363 - - 601,422

The four subsidiaries of the bank, Alawwal Invest, Alawwal Real Estate Company, Alawwal Insurance Agency Company and Alawwal Financial Markets Limited have no exposures outside the Kingdom. Further details are 
provided in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
6.2 Geographical Analysis of Income
Alawwal bank generates its operating income from its activities in the Kingdom and has no branches, subsidiaries or associates established or operating outside the Kingdom, except for Alawwal Financial Markets Limited (AFML). AFML has 
been incorporated in the Cayman Islands solely to facilitate the bank’s derivatives trading, repo and reverse repo activities. The following table shows the distribution of operating income in accordance with the geographical classification of 
the Kingdom’s regions at Group level including all the subsidiaries of the bank.

Year Central Province Western Province Eastern Province

Saudi Riyal (millions)

2018  1,832  973 759
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7- KEY PROFIT AND LOSS ITEMS AS A PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL INCOME
The pie chart below displays the major income statement lines as a percentage of total income.

The table below shows the variation in the key profit and loss lines between 2018 and 2017: 

SAR’000 2018 2017 Change %

Total operating income 3,563,514 3,711,622 )4%(

Operating expenses 1,278,422 1,265,615 1%

Impairment charge for credit and other losses (net) 1,162,897 1,120,299 3.8%

Share in earnings of an associate 8,255 9,810 )15.9%(

Net profit 1,130,450 1,335,518 )15.4%(

Earnings per share (SAR) 0.99 1.17 0.24

8- FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS & AUDIT

Alawwal bank prepares its consolidated financial statements:
•	 in accordance with ‘International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as modified by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority (“SAMA”) for the accounting of Zakat and income tax’, which requires adoption of all IFRSs as issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), except for the application of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 12 - “Income Taxes” and International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee 21 (IFRIC 21) - “Levies” 
so far as these relate to Zakat and income tax. Further, certain accounting policies followed in the current and comparative period are different as explained in Note 3; and;

•	 in compliance with the provisions of Banking Control Law, the Regulations for Companies in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and by-laws of the bank.  
Proper books of account have been maintained. The bank has an Internal Audit department which submits its reports to the Audit Committee which in turn reports to the Board of Directors which has oversight of the bank’s Internal 
Audit processes. The Audit Committee oversees the proper functioning and independence of the Internal Audit department and considers its recommendations. The Audit Committee has periodic discussions with management, the 
internal auditors and the external auditors on matters affecting consolidated financial statements, internal controls and various governance and control issues and advises the Board of Directors accordingly. The Board acknowledges 
receipt of that advice.
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that could adversely affect the achievement of the bank’s goals are 
recognized and continually assessed. The GRC initiative is a joint effort 
by Operational Risk Management, Compliance, Internal Audit, and 
Information Security. This unified platform to collect and monitor the 
risks, controls, deficiencies and actions also ensures that the control 
activities form an integral part of the daily activities of the bank. The 
control activities are being defined for every business level and every 
department with automated follow-up on non-compliance through 
approval workflows.
Alawwal bank’s GRC thus facilitates a unified picture of risk factors and 
thresholds. It clarifies responsibilities and creates more transparency 
in risk ownership allowing the bank to close any control gaps and to 
present full coverage of the various types of risks. Moreover, the bank’s 
GRC goes hand in hand with the integration of risk management with 
the bank’s governance processes as it consolidates all risk registers 
and controls to optimize the functions of all the bank’s internal control 
departments. The bank also continually refines and realigns its GRC 
initiatives as markets and circumstances change to avert future 
risks. The initiative has also involved a communication and training 
programme to ensure that all staff fully understand and adhere to 
policies and procedures affecting their duties and responsibilities. 
By considering all the factors in the preceding paragraphs, the control 
environment in place, the yearly reviews of its effectiveness and the 
confirmation made by Management, the Audit Committee and the 
Board are of the opinion that the functioning of the internal control 
system is effective and nothing has come to their attention that 
causes them to believe that the system of internal controls has not 
been properly designed or implemented or that effective and efficient 
internal controls have not been in place throughout the year 2018.

10- ALAWWAL BANK’S ETHICAL STANDARDS AND 

CODE OF CONDUCT

Alawwal bank’s Ethical Standards and Code of Conduct represent 
a standard and guide for high ethical principles and professional 
business dealing practices. Through its Code of Conduct, the bank is 
committed to instill and maintain a culture of professionalism where 
the utmost ethical standards prevail.  The bank’s Code of Conduct 
is based on fundamental principles of integrity, confidentiality and 
professionalism. It applies to all Directors, employees, consultants, 
affiliates and any other person associated with the bank. The bank’s 
Board of Directors oversees the implementation and effectiveness of 
the bank’s Ethical Standards and Code of Conduct.

11- SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

A. Alawwal Invest 
Alawwal Invest was formed in accordance with the Capital Market 

Authority’s (CMA) Resolution number 1-39-2007 under commercial 
registration number 1010242378 dated 30 Dhul Hijja 1428H 
(corresponding to January 09, 2008) to take over and manage the 
bank’s Investment Banking Services and Asset Management activities 
related to dealing, managing, arranging, advising and taking custody 
of securities regulated by the CMA. Alawwal Invest is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the bank through direct ownership and commenced its 
operations effective 2 Rabi’II 1429H (corresponding to April 8, 2008). 
Alawwal Invest’s Head Office is in Riyadh, and it operates within the 
Kingdom.  
The authorized, issued and fully paid-up share capital of Alawwal 
Invest is SAR 400 million, consisting of 40,000,000 shares of SAR 10 
each.
B. Alawwal Real Estate Company
Alawwal Real Estate Company (AREC) is a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the bank through direct ownership. It was established under 
commercial registration number 1010250772 dated 21 Jumada I 
1429H (corresponding to May 26, 2008), with the approval of the Saudi 
Arabian Monetary Authority (SAMA). AREC engages in the purchase, 
sale and leasing of real estate. It further engages in the registration of 
real estate title deeds of financed products and manages real estate 
funds. AREC head office is in Riyadh, and it is operating within the 
Kingdom.
The authorized, issued and fully paid-up share capital of Alawwal Real 
Estate is SAR 500 thousand, consisting of 500 shares of SAR 1,000 
each.
C. Alawwal Insurance Agency Company 
Alawwal Insurance Agency (AIAC), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
bank through direct ownership was established under commercial 
registration number 1010300250 dated 29 Muharram 1432H 
(corresponding to January 4, 2011), with the approval of SAMA. The 
Company was formed to act as an agent for Wataniya Insurance 
Company, an associate, for the purpose of selling its products. AIAC’s 
Head Office is in Riyadh, and it is operating within the Kingdom.
The authorized, issued and fully paid-up share capital of Alawwal 
Insurance Agency is SAR 500 thousand, consisting of 50,000 shares 
of SAR 10 each.
D. Alawwal Financial Markets Limited 
Alawwal Financial Markets Limited (AFML)., a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the bank was established and licensed to operate on 04 Jumada 
I  1438H (corresponding to 1 February 2017), with the approval of 
SAMA. The Company was formed to engage in derivative trading, repo 
and reverse repo activities on behalf of the bank. It was registered in 
Cayman Islands under incorporation number 319452.
The authorized, issued share capital of Alawwal Financial Markets 
Limited is USD 50 thousand, consisting of 50,000 shares of USD 1 
each.
E. Wataniya Insurance Company
Alawwal bank purchased a 20% equity stake in the Wataniya Insurance 
Company (WIC) during 2008 at a cost of SAR 20 million. During 2016, a 

9- EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The Board of Directors, assisted by the Audit Committee, is responsible 
for ensuring that an adequate and effective internal control system 
exists in the bank and that senior management is maintaining and 
monitoring the performance of that system.
Management is responsible for the appropriate design and functioning 
of the internal control system, while Risk Management, Internal Audit, 
Compliance and other internal control departments are responsible for 
the continuous monitoring and evaluation of the system. The external 
auditors are responsible for determining the adequacy of the system 
of internal controls so as to be able to decide on the level of reliance 
they can place on the effectiveness of the bank’s internal controls and 
to design their audit procedures. 
All employees are ultimately responsible for operating and maintaining 
an efficient internal control system at their respective levels. 
Systems and procedures have been designed to ensure effective and 
efficient operations, safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or 
dispositions, maintaining proper accounting records, providing reliable 
financial information used within the business or for publication, 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations and for monitoring 
internal policies in relation to business performance. The system in 
place is designed to manage, rather than to eliminate, the risks of 
failure to achieve business objectives. It can only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance against material errors, losses or fraud. 
During its normal course of business, the bank is exposed to credit, 
market and operational risks. Policies, procedures and processes are 
in place to identify, measure, control, and mitigate such risks. There 
is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating, and managing 
the significant risks faced by the bank and for ensuring there are 
appropriate controls in place to manage them. In addition to regular 
reviews by the concerned departments, exposures to these risks are 
reviewed by various management committees within the bank. 
Systems and procedures are in place to identify, control, and report on 
the major risks including credit risk, changes in the market prices of 
financial instruments, liquidity, operational risks, and fraud. Exposure 
to these risks throughout the bank is monitored by the Operational 
Risk Committee, the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO), and the 
Head Office Credit Committee (the bank’s Senior Credit Committee). 
These exposures are also monitored by the Executive Committee and 
the Board Risk Committee. 
The Internal Audit function provides management with an independent 
and objective assessment of the effectiveness of the internal control 
framework. This objective is achieved by following a risk-based Audit 
plan, which is approved by the Audit Committee. The Operational 
Risk Management and Compliance functions also monitor the control 
environment during their respective reviews in close coordination with 
each other. 
As part of Alawwal bank’s commitment to provide an effective internal 
control environment, a state-of-the-art Governance, Risk and Control 
system (GRC) has been put in place. GRC ensures that all material risks 
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one-for-one rights issue was made by WIC, which was fully subscribed 
by the bank and resulted in the total cost of investment reaching SAR 
40 million. WIC is classified as an associate company. This strategic 
investment enables the bank to have an insurance capability to 
complement its existing retail banking offering. Wataniya Insurance 
Company was incorporated on 15th May 2010 and commenced trading 
on 1st July 2010.

12- LONG TERM BORROWINGS

In December 2018, the bank exercised the option of early redemption 
of its 2013 Subordinated Sukuk issue of SAR 2,500 million. The Sukuk 
had an original maturity of ten years (due in 2023) and was callable in 
December 2018. All the required approvals from regulatory authorities 
were obtained for the purpose of redemption. 
The bank also confirms the following:
• 	 There are no long term borrowings by the bank.  
•	 There are no debt instruments issued by subsidiaries.
•	 There are no outstanding loans payable to subsidiaries. 
•	 The bank has not issued or granted any convertible debt instruments 

or any contractual securities, notes of rights issue, or similar rights 
during 2018. 

•	 The bank has not issued or granted any transfer or subscription 
rights under convertible debt instruments, contractual securities, 
subscription rights notes or similar rights during 2018.

Further details are provided in Note 14 of the consolidated financial 
statements. 

13- DIVIDEND POLICY 
 
A.	 Article (49) of the bank’s Bylaws states that the net annual 

profits shall be distributed after deducting all general 
expenses, other expenses and after making necessary 
allowances for expected credit losses and contingent 
liabilities, if any, and any other necessary deductions 
proposed by the Board of Directors in accordance with the 

Saudi Arabian Banking Control Law. After these deductions, 
dividend distribution is subject to the following:

1.	 The Zakat due on the Saudi Shareholders and Tax due on the non-
Saudi Shareholders will be calculated according to the laws of the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The bank shall settle these amounts 
to the concerned Authority on behalf of the Saudi and foreign 
shareholders. 

2.	 25% (Twenty five percent) of the net profit shall be allocated 
for the purpose of constituting a Statutory Reserve. The General 
Assembly may reduce or suspend such allocation in case the total 
reserve has reached an amount equal to the paid up capital. 

3.	 Out of the remaining net profit, after deduction of the allocation 
to the Statutory Reserve, at least 0.1% (one tenth of a percent) of 
the paid-up capital shall be allocated for distribution to the Saudi 
and non-Saudi shareholders based on their respective contributions 
to the share capital as per the recommendation of the Board of 
Directors and approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders. 
In case such remaining net profit is not sufficient for paying such 
dividend, shareholders will not be entitled to claim the balance 
of said percentage in the subsequent year or years. The General 
Assembly of Shareholders cannot resolve to pay dividends unless 
the Board recommends the payment of such dividends, nor can the 
General Assembly pay dividends at a higher percentage than what 
was recommended by the Board.

4.	 The remaining amount after deducting the amounts in paragraphs 
(2) and (3), if any, shall be utilized at the Board’s recommendation 
and as approved by the General Assembly of Shareholders. 

5.	 The bank must maintain the share percentage of Saudi and non-
Saudi shareholders when determining the necessary deduction 
for the Statutory Reserve and other reserves from the net profit, 
provided these two groups (Saudi and non-Saudi Shareholders) 
shall contribute to these reserves pro-rata to their shares in the 
capital which shall be deducted from their respective share in the 
net profit. 

B. Guiding Principles
In reviewing and setting the annual dividend policy the Board and 
senior management will be guided by the following principles:
1.	 Dividend sustainability: To build long-term shareholder value and 

market confidence in the bank’s future, the amount and frequency 
of dividends to be paid shall be evaluated based on the bank’s 
ability to continue paying dividends at an equal or increased level in 
the foreseeable future. Risks that may threaten the bank’s ability 
to maintain current levels of dividends need to be identified and 
evaluated;

2.	 Growth of the bank: The amount, frequency and type of dividends 
paid shall not impede the ability of the bank to meet its strategic 
growth plans;

3.	 Capital management: During the annual review and while setting 
the dividend policy for the current year, the Board and senior 
management must ensure that the bank:
• maintains sufficient levels of capital to meet the minimum 

regulatory requirements as set by SAMA;
• maintains sufficient levels of capital to support the bank’s 

strategic growth objectives as presented in the bank’s ICAAP;
• considers any proposed changes to future minimum capital levels 

made by the Basel Committee; does not hold capital in excess of 
the requirements as summarized in items (1) and (2) above. 

14- PROPOSED DIVIDEND
 
The Board of Directors on October 03, 2018 has resolved to recommend 
to the General Assembly of Shareholders that no dividends shall be 
distributed for the fiscal year 2018 (2017: SAR 400.1 million). This 
resolution was made pursuant to the Merger Agreement entered into 
with the Saudi British Bank (SABB). The proposal will be subject to 
approval by the Annual General Shareholders Assembly due in the first 
half of 2019.
There are no arrangements or agreements under which a shareholder 
has waived any rights to dividends.

15- SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDINGS

Material shareholdings (i.e. in excess of 5%) during 2018 

31 December 2018 1 January 2018

Shares Held % Shares Held % Change%

Royal Bank of Scotland N. V. (formerly known as ABN AMRO Bank N.V.) 457,228,800 40 457,228,800 40 No Change

Olayan Saudi Investment Company 248,445,723 21.73 248,445,723 21.73 No Change

General Organisation for Social Insurance 120,116,916 10.51 120,116,916 10.51 No Change
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16- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of its activities, the Group transacts business with related parties. The related party transactions are performed on an arm’s length basis. Banking transactions with related parties are governed by limits set 
by the Banking Control Law and regulations issued by SAMA, in addition to the bank’s Related Party Transaction Policy. 

The balances at reporting date, unless reported elsewhere in the financial statements, resulting from such transactions are as follows: 

(SAR ‘000) 2018 2017

Royal Bank of Scotland N. V. (formerly known as ABN AMRO Bank N.V.)

Due from banks and other financial institutions 29,971 189,337

Due to banks and other financial institutions 839 1,990

Derivatives at fair value, net 212 239

Commitments and contingencies 33,118 45,769

Associates & other major shareholders and their affiliate entities with significant influence:

Loans and advances 1,160,928 576,689

Derivatives at fair value, net 3,629 9,366

Customers’ deposits 5,331,347 4,656,774

Subordinated debt - 424,533

Commitments and contingencies 104,103 289,146

Mutual funds managed by the group:

Investments 146,389 153,347

Subordinated debt - 15,271

Customers’ deposits 273,101 167,453

Derivatives at fair value, net 89 311

Other major shareholders represent shareholdings (excluding the non-Saudi shareholder) of more than 5% of the bank’s issued share capital. Income and expenses pertaining to transactions with major shareholders and other related 
parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows;	

(SAR ‘000) 2018 2017

Special commission income 7,657 12,880

Special commission expense 122,486 190,336

Fees from banking services, net 1,355 944

Fees from management services 14,572 17,732

General and administrative expenses 30,214 41,320

Directors’ remuneration and other related expenses 4,691 4,763

Compensation paid to key management personnel 42,834 34,381

End of service benefits paid to key management personnel 1,391 691
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The businesses and contracts to which the bank is a party and in which a director, a senior executive or any person related to any of them has a direct and/or indirect interest during 2018 are as follows:

No. Related Party
Name of the party with 
direct and / or indirect 

interest

Amount of the  Business & 
Contracts

Duration of the  Business & 
Contracts Nature of the  Business & Contracts Conditions of the Business & 

Contracts

1 Al-Bustan Company Ltd Mrs. Lubna Al-Olayan                  
(Board Member) SAR 1,634,038.35 Annual Contracts Staff Housing Contract

usual business activity, 
without any  preferential 

conditions or benefits

2 Schindler Olayan Elevator Company Mrs. Lubna Al-Olayan                  
(Board Member) SAR 70,396.20 Annual Contracts Elevator Maintenance Contract

usual business activity, 
without any  preferential 

conditions or benefits

3 Arabian Business Machines Company (ABM) Mrs. Lubna Al-Olayan                  
(Board Member) SAR 29,032.50 Annual Contracts X-Ray Machine Maintenance Contract

usual business activity, 
without any  preferential 

conditions or benefits

4 Saudi Xerox Agencies Company (SXL) Mrs. Lubna Al-Olayan                  
(Board Member) SAR 3,166,590.00 Annual Contracts Printing Services Contract

usual business activity, 
without any  preferential 

conditions or benefits

5 General Organization for Social Insurance (GOSI) Mr. Eyad Al-Hussai
(Former Board Member)* SAR. 220,500.00 Annual Contracts Data Supplying 

usual business activity, 
without any  preferential 

conditions or benefits
* Mr. Eyad Al-Husain resigned from the Board and his resignation was deemed effective on 18 November 2018.

17- BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Members of the Board of Directors:
The membership status of the bank’s directors during 2018, their current and previous positions, qualifications and experience are as follows:

1- Eng. Mubarak Abdullah Al-Khafrah (Chairman): Independent
Current Positions Chairman of the National Industrialization Company (TASNEE) and Tasnee & Sahara Olefins Company.

Previous Positions

• Member of the Council of Al-Riyadh Region (2009-2017).
• Member of the Board of the U.S.–Saudi Arabian Business Council and Co-Chairman of Saudi-German Business Dialogue.
• Member of the Shura Council (1997-2001).
• Undersecretary of the Ministry of Industry and Electricity (1986-1997). 
• Acting Undersecretary of the Ministry of Industry and Electricity (1984-1986).
• Secretary General of the Foreign Capital Investment Committee of the Ministry of Industry and Electricity (1977-1984).

Qualifications • Bachelor’s degree in Industrial Engineering from Western Michigan University, USA, 1973.
• Postgraduate Diploma in Management from Canada, 1976.

Experience Over 40 years of experience in Government Affairs and Business Management.

2- Mrs. Lubna Suliman Al-Olayan (Vice Chairman): Non-Executive
Current Positions Deputy Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Olayan Financing Company (OFC) (1986-Present).

Previous Positions • Assistant to the Chairman of Olayan Financing Company (OFC) (1983-1986).
• Financial Analyst at J.P. Morgan (1979-1983).

Qualifications 
• Honorary PhD in Law from Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland, 2011.
• Master of Business Administration (MBA) from Indiana University, USA, 1979.
• Bachelor’s degree in Science from Cornell University, USA, 1977.

Experience Over 35 years of experience in investment, banking and business management.
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3- Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif: Independent
Current Positions -

Previous Positions Held various positions at the National Commercial Bank, the latest of which was NCB’s General Manager (1975-2005).

Qualifications Bachelor’s degree in Economics from the American University of Beirut (AUB), 1970. 

Experience Over 35 years in banking and general management.

4- Mr. Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi: Independent

Current Positions Chairman of Walaa Cooperative Insurance Company.

Previous Positions
• President and CEO of the Saudi Electricity Co. (2000-2006).
• General Manager of the Saudi Electricity Company-East (1983-2000).
• Held various positions at Saudi Aramco, the latest of which was VP of Saudi Aramco (1965-1983).

Qualifications Bachelor’s degree in Petroleum Engineering from the University of Texas, USA, 1964. 

Experience Over 40 years of experience in business management and human resources.

5- Mr. Eyad Abdulrahman Al-Hussain*:  Non-Executive
Current Positions Assistant Governor for Financial and Administrative Affairs - the General Organization for Social Insurance “GOSI”.

Previous Positions Held various positions at the General Organization for Social Insurance (2000-Present).

Qualifications • Master of Commerce (Applied Finance) from the University of Adelaide, 2007.
• Bachelor’s degree in Accounting from King Saud University (KSU), 2000.

Experience Over 17 years of experience in general management, accounting and finance.

6- Mr. Ahmed Farid Al-Aulaqi: Independent

Current Positions Co-founder & President of Aspect Investment Partners. Ltd.

Previous Positions
• President of Safanad International Company (2010-2016).
• Held various positions in the National Commercial Bank in Saudi Arabia and the United Kingdom, the latest of which was the Chief Executive Officer of NCB 
Capital Company. 

Qualifications • Master of Business Administration (MBA) from the University of Stirling, UK, 1987.
• Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration from King Abdulaziz University (KAU), 1985.

Experience Over 30 years of experience in business management, banking, treasury, capital markets, investment services and brokerage.

7- Mr. Martin Powell: Non-Executive

Current Positions -

Previous Positions Held various positions at the Royal Bank of Scotland PLC (RBS) since 1973, the latest of which was the Chief Risk Officer Capital Resolution Group.

Qualifications ACIB - The Chartered Institute of Bankers, 1977.

Experience Over 40 years of senior management expertise in banking, financial services and risk management.
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8- Mr. Javier Maldonado: Non-Executive
Current Positions Senior Executive Vice-President of Santander Bank, Head of the Santander Group’s Corporate Costs, Organization, Procurement and Real Estate area and Vice 

Chairman of Santander Holdings USA (SHUSA).

Previous Positions
• Held various positions at Santander Bank (1995- Present).  
• Head of the Corporate and International Law Department at J.Y. Hernandez-Canut Law Firm (1991-1994).
• Attorney at Baker & McKenzie Law Firm (1987-1991).

Qualifications • Juris Doctor Degree from Northwestern University Law School in Chicago, Illinois, USA, 1988.
• Law Degree from Madrid University in Spain, 1984.

Experience Over 30 years of experience in banking, law, general management, acquisitions, insurance & asset management, wealth management and corporate banking.

9- Mr. Frank Vermeulen: Non-Executive
Current Positions Consultant at Olayan Financing Company (OFC), Advisor to the Board of Jarir Marketing Company and member of its Audit Committee.

Previous Positions
• Held various positions at ABN Amro Bank in different countries, including Head of Corporate Banking & In’tl  at Saudi Hollandi Bank.
• Treasurer and CFO of Olayan Financing Company.
• Senior advisor for the Middle East of Mitsubishi Chemical Company (MMC).

Qualifications 
• Master’s degree in Dutch Law (majored in civil and commercial law) from the University of Utrecht, 1970.
• Bachelor’s degree in Dutch Law from the University of Utrecht, 1967.
• Certificate of the Dutch Institute for the Banking & Securities Industry.

Experience Over 45 years of law, audit and international banking and private sector experience in Europe, Canada and Saudi Arabia.

10- Mr. Soren Kring Nikolajsen: Executive
Current Positions Managing Director – Alawwal bank

Previous Positions

• Held various positions at the Royal Bank of Scotland in the UK and Hong Kong, the latest of which was Head of Executive Office, Corporate and Institutional 
Banking (2008-2016).
• Held various positions at Lehman Brothers, the latest of which was Executive Director- Structured Credit Products- UK, Europe and the Middle East (2000-2008).
• Senior Associate Director - Money Market/Repo Sales in the Nordic Region, Deutsche Bank AG London (1996-2000).

Qualifications 

• Module of Master of Finance Program in Investment Management from London Business School, 1999.
• Module of Master of Finance Program in Corporate Finance from London Business School, 1998.
• HD Degree in International Trade from Copenhagen Business School, 1990.
• Bachelor’s Degree in Business Studies from Frederica Business School, 1984.

Experience Over 30 years of experience in investment, corporate banking, international trade, business management, corporate governance and treasury.

* Mr. Eyad Al-Husain resigned from the Board and his resignation was deemed effective on 18 November 2018. 
The bank’s Board Members current directorships in other companies inside and outside the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia during 2018 were as follows:

Name Current Memberships Previous  Memberships

Eng. Mubarak Al-Khafrah (Chairman)

National Industrialisation Co. (Tasnee) (JS), Malath Insurance Co., (JS), Tasnee & Sahara 
Olefins Co., (CJS), Al-Khafrah Group Companies, Air Liquide Al-Khafrah Industrial Gases, Saudi 
Carbonate Company (SCC), Geotextile and Staple Fiber (TEXOFIB), Saudi Bitumen Industries Co. 
Ltd. (SABIT), National Lighting Company (NLC). 

Saudi Basic Industries Corporation (SABIC), Saudi Consulting Housing, Gulf Organization 
for Industrial Consulting (GOIC), Saudi Industrial Development Fund (SIDF), Arabian Axles 
Manufacturing Co., Arabian Industrial Investments Co., General Organization of Petroleum and 
Mineral (PETROMIN), Saudi Arabian Standards Organization, General Organization of Technical 
Education and Vocational Training, Royal Commission of Jubail and Yanbu, Technical Committee 
for Customs Duties and Exemptions on Imported Industrial Goods, Eastern Petrochemical Co. 
(SHARQ), Saudi Methanol Co. (AR RAZI), National Company for Glass Industries (ZOUJAJ), National 
Petrochemical Industrialization Co.(NPIC).

Mrs. Lubna Al-Olayan
(Vice Chairman)

Schlumberger Co. Ltd., Saudi Arabian Mining Company (Ma’aden) (JS), Olayan Financing 
Company (OFC)

WPP plc. 
Chelsfield plc. 
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Mr. Sulaiman Al-Kadi Chemical Development Co. (CJS), Basic Chemical Industries Co. (JS), Walaa Cooperative Insurance 
Company, (JS) Saudi Electricity Co. (JS)

Mr. Abdulhadi Shayif Bupa Arabia Insurance Company (JS), Saudi Ground Services Company (JS), Deutsche Securities 
Saudi Arabia Ltd, Al Majdouie Group, Health Water Bottling Co. (Ltd)

FWU International Advisory Board, Munich, Atthieh Steel Co. (Ltd), Byblos Bank (Beirut), Arab 
Cement Co. (Ltd), Saudi Arabian Airlines,  National Commercial Bank, Saudi Railways Organization, 
General Organization for Social Insurance (GOSI), Al Obeikan Group, Saudi Cable Company, SABB 
Takaful Co., Arab Financial Services Company (AFS-Bahrain), Arab Insurance Group (ARIG), Housing 
Bank (Jordan), Arab Academy for Banking and Financial Sciences(Jordan), Arab Jordan Investment 
Bank, Amwal Investments (Jordan), Union Arab Banks (Beirut), MAF Trust (Majed al Futtaim Trust- 
Dubai), Advisory Board of NBK Capital (Dubai), Emirates Global Islamic Bank (Pakistan), Qatarana 
Cement Co. (Jordan).

Mr. Eyad Al-Hussain* National Medical Care Co. (Care) (JS), National Petrochemical Company “Petrochem” (JS), -

Mr. Ahmed Al-Aulaqi Aspect Investment Partners Ltd. Safanad Investment Company, Saudi Tunisian Bank, The Company for Cooperative Insurance 
(Tawuniya)., Saline Water Conversion Corp, Saudi Stock Exchange (Tadawul) 

Mr. Martin Powell -

Babcock Critical Services Limited, Chadmore Assets PLC, Cheriton Resources 10 Limited, 
Cheriton Resources 12 Limited, Credit Suisse One Cabot Square Number 3 (UK) Limited, Dealer 
Development Services Limited, DJS Contracts Limited, Farming and Agricultural Finance Limited, 
First National Tricity Finance Limited, GL Trains Limited, Growcash Limited, L H Mechanical 
Handling Limited, Lex Vehicle Leasing (Holdings) Limited, Lombard Asset Finance Limited, Lombard 
Asset Leasing Limited, Lombard Charterhouse Limited, Lombard Commercial Limited, Lombard 
Corporate Finance Limited, Lombard Discount Limited, Lombard Facilities Limited, Lombard Finance 
Leasing Limited, Lombard Finance Limited, Lombard Industrial Limited, Lombard Initial Finance 
Limited, Lombard Initial Leasing Limited, Lombard Leasing Limited, Lombard Leasing Metropolitan 
Limited, Lombard Leasing Network Limited, Lombard Leasing Services Limited, Lombard Lessors 
Limited, Lombard Maritime Limited, Lombard North Central Leasing Limited, Lombard North 
Central PLC, Lombard North Central Wheelease Limited, Lombard Plant Finance Limited, Lombard 
Plant Leasing Limited, Lombard Property Facilities Limited, Lombard Venture Leasing Limited, 
Masterdrive Limited, Motability Operations Limited, Natwest Properties Limited, Transfleet 
Distribution Limited, Transfleet Truck Rentals Limited, XEL European Holdings Limited

Mr. Javier Maldonado

Produban Servicios Informáticos Generales S.L.,  Ibérica De Compras Corporativas S.L., Geoban, 
S.A., Ingenieria de Software Bancario S.L. (ISBAN), Santander Holdings USA, Santander 
Bancorp, Banco Santander Puerto Rico, Santander Consumer USA Holdings Inc., Santander 
Consumer USA, Santander Bank, N.V., Santander Investment Securities INC, Banco Santander 
International.

ABN AMRO Bank

Mr. Frank Vermeulen - Bank of London & the Middle East LeasePlan Corporation, Saudi Swiss Securities (later named 
Credit Suisse Saudi Arabia), Egyptian Finance Company (EFC), Abu Soma Development Company 

Mr. Soren Nikolajsen Alawwal Invest (CJS), Wataniya Insurance Co. (JS) RBS (China) Co (Ltd.)

* Mr. Eyad Al-Husain resigned from the Board effective on 18 November 2018.
(JS) Joint stock company (CJS) Closed joint stock company
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Board Meetings Attendance:
The Board of Directors convened four times during the year as per the table below. Board members’ attendance of the bank’s Board of Directors meetings during 2018 is as follows.

Name Sessions Attended 31 Jan 2018 24 Apr 2018 12 July 2018 30 Oct 2018

Eng. Mubarak Abdullah Al-Khafrah (Chairman) 4 ü ü ü ü

Mrs. Lubna Suliman Al-Olayan (Vice Chairperson) 4 ü ü ü ü

Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif 4 ü ü ü ü

Mr. Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi 4 ü ü ü ü

Mr. Eyad Abdulrahman Al-Hussain* 4 ü ü ü ü

Mr. Ahmed Farid Al-Aulaqi 4 ü ü ü ü

Mr. Javier Maldonado 2 ü ü û û

Mr. Martin Powell 4 ü ü ü ü

Mr. Frank Vermeulen 4 ü ü ü ü

Mr. Soren Kring Nikolajsen 4 ü ü ü ü

* ü : Present û: Absent

* Mr. Eyad Al-Husain resigned from the Board, NRC and BRC effective on 18 November 2018.

Board Committees:
The Board of Directors has four committees: The Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee, and the Board Risk Committee.
1. Executive Committee
The Executive Committee is empowered by the Board of Directors in accordance with article 26 of the bank’s Bylaws. The Executive Committee shall assist the Board of Directors within the powers determined for it by 
the Board, and deal with all matters referred to it by the Board, though the Committee shall not have power to alter any decision, rules or regulations taken or laid down by the Board. The Executive Committee consists 
of the Chairman and four members of the Board. 
The Executive Committee convened six times during the year.

Members Sessions Attended 21 Feb 2018 27 Mar 2018 29 May 2018 18 Sept 2018 20 Nov 2018 18 Dec 2018

Eng. Mubarak Abdullah  Al-Khafrah (Chairman) 6 ü ü ü ü ü ü

Mrs. Lubna Suliman Al-Olayan 5 ü û ü ü ü ü

Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif 6 ü ü ü ü ü ü

Mr. Martin Powell   6 ü ü ü ü ü ü

Mr. Soren Nikolajsen 6 ü ü ü ü ü ü
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2. Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is a sub-committee of the Board of Directors, and is formed by a resolution of the General Assembly of Shareholders. The Committee is responsible for monitoring all control issues of the bank. This 
Committee oversees the functioning and independence of the Internal Audit department and considers its recommendations. The Committee has periodic discussions with management, the internal auditors and the 
external auditors on matters affecting consolidated financial statements and internal controls and advises the Board of Directors accordingly. 
The Audit Committee convened four times during the year.

Members Sessions Attended 17 Jan 2018 12 Apr 2018 07 Aug 2018 25 Oct 2018

Mr. Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi (Chairman) 4 ü ü ü ü

Mr. Saleh Hassan Husain 4 ü ü ü ü

Dr. Sulaiman Abdulaziz Al-Tuwaijri* 2 û û ü ü

* Mr. Yousif Al-Mubarak resigned from the Audit Committee membership on 13 April 2018. His resignation was deemed effective on 9 May 2018. The Board approved the appointment of Dr. Sulaiman Al-Tuwairi replacing 
Mr. Yousif Al-Mubarak as a member of the Audit Committee as of 9 May 2018. The approval of the Board is subject to approval by the General Assembly during its first upcoming meeting. 

The Audit Committee is composed of three members, two of which are from outside the Board of Directors.  Their current and previous positions, qualifications and experience are as follows: 
1. Mr. Saleh Hassan Hussain
Current Positions President of Saleh Hussain Consultancy, Bahrain.

Previous Positions
• Held several positions during a span of 27 years at the National Commercial Bank - Bahrain (NCB - Bahrain), the latest of which was Regional Head of NCB in the 
Eastern Province based in Dammam. (1981- 2007).
• Held various positions at the British Bank of the Middle East (currently HSBC), Bank of Bahrain and Kuwait and Grindlays Bank (1970-1981). 

Qualifications Master of Business Administration (MBA) from Brunel University 1993.

Experience Over 35 years of experience in various fields of banking in the GCC as well as Asia Pacific, most prominently in retail banking, corporate finance and capital market 
activities.

2. Dr. Sulaiman Abdulaziz Al-Tuwaijri
Current Positions CEO of the Saudi Arabian Amiantit Company (Amiantit) (2018-Present).

Previous Positions

• CEO and Managing Director of the Saudi Arabian Amiantit Company (Amiantit) (2008-2017).
• General Manager of Al Othman Agriculture Production and Processing Company (NADA) (2005-2008).
• Director of Shared Services at Zajoul for Advanced Communications Technology (ZACT) (2002-2005).
• Secretary General of the Higher Education Fund (2002-2003).
• Held various positions at King Fahd University of Petroleum & Minerals (KFUPM), the latest of which is the Chairman of the Department of Accounting and MIS. (1998-2001). 

Qualifications 

• PhD in Accounting from Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, Ohio, USA, 1998.
• Master of Science in Accounting from the University of Illinois, Urbana- Champaign, Illinois, USA, 1993. 
• Bachelor of Science in Industrial Management from King Fahd University of Petroleum & Minerals (KFUPM), 1990.
• Certified Fraud Examiner (CFE), USA, 2013.
• Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA), USA, 2012.
• Qualified Expert, GCC Commercial Arbitration Centre, 2011. 
• Certified Arbitrator, GCC Commercial Arbitration Centre, 2010.
• Certified Information Systems Auditor (CISA), USA, 2004.
• Certified Public Accountant (CPA), Saudi Arabia, 2003.
• Certified Internal Auditor (CIA), USA, 2003.
• Certified in Financial Management (CFM), USA, 2001.
• Certified Management Accountant (CMA), USA, 2000.
• Certified Public Accountant (CPA), Illinois, USA, 1994.

Experience Over 20 years of experience in accounting and consultancy.
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3. Nomination and Remuneration Committee
In accordance with article (15) of the Corporate Governance Regulation issued by CMA decision no. 1-212-2006 dated 21/10/1427H corresponding to 12/11/2006 and after having the approval of General Shareholders 
Assembly of Shareholders in its meeting held on 29th March 2008, the Board of Directors established a separate committee for nomination and remuneration. The duties and responsibilities of the Nomination and 
Remuneration Committee include the following:
1. Recommendation of appointments to the Board;
2. Annual review of the requirement of suitable skills for membership of the Board of Directors;
3. Review the structure of the Board of Directors and the absence of conflicts of interest of its membership;
4. Establish clear policies for the remuneration of Board members and the bank’s senior management.
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee convened three times during the year.

Members Sessions Attended 30 Jan 2018 12 Jul 2018 18 Dec 2018

Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif (Chairman) 3 ü ü ü

Mrs. Lubna Suliman Al-Olayan 3 ü ü ü

Eng. Mubarak Abdullah Al-Khafrah 2 ü û ü

Mr. Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi 2 ü ü û

Mr. Ahmed Farid Al-Aulaqi 2 ü ü û

Mr. Eyad Abdulrahman Al-Hussain* 2 ü ü û
* Mr. Eyad Al-Husain resigned from the Board effective on 18 November 2018.
4. Board Risk Committee
In accordance with article 78 of the Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority’s Corporate Governance Principles issued in June 2012, the Alawwal bank Board of Directors established a separate committee for risk governance, 
headed by a non-executive director to assist the Board in overseeing the risk management process. The Board Risk Committee reports directly to the Board of Directors. The Committee’s responsibilities include the 
following:
1. Provide oversight and advice to the Board in relation to current and potential risk exposures, including, but not limited to, credit, market, liquidity, operational, compliance, legal, strategic and reputational risks;
2. Evaluate, monitor and oversee the adequacy and effectiveness of the banks’ risk management framework to ensure appropriate risk identification, measurement, aggregation and reporting including the determination 
of risk appetite and tolerance;
3. Assist the Board on any other matter upon request. 
The Board Risk Committee convened four times during the year.

Members Sessions Attended 30 Jan 2018 23 Apr 2018 25 Sep 2018 29 Oct 2018

Mr. Ahmed Farid Al-Aulaqi (Chairman) 4 ü ü ü ü

Mr. Eyad Abdulrahman Al-Hussain* 4 ü ü ü ü

Mr. Frank Vermeulen 4 ü ü ü ü

Board & Board Committees Evaluation:
Alawwal bank Board of Directors adopted the Board and Board Committee Evaluation Policy. The Policy outlines requirements for the evaluation of the effectiveness of the Board of Directors’ collective and individual 
performance as well as the collective performance of the Board Committees in the exercise of their mandate, as stipulated in their terms of reference, and to evaluate their accomplishments in relation to the bank’s 
strategy.  As per the bank’s policy, the Board utilizes assessment surveys to evaluate its performance and the performance of its Committees.
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18- SENIOR EXECUTIVES 

1- Abdullah Ali Al-Oraini
Current Positions Chief Financial Officer 

Previous Positions
• Head of Accounting, Asset Liability & Capital Management and Investor Relations at Saudi British Bank (SABB) (2012-2016).
• Held a number of positions at the National Commercial Bank (NCB), the latest of which was Head of Capital and Liquidity Management – Office of the Group 
Chief Financial Officer (2003-2011).

Qualifications • Master’s Degree in Management Sciences from the University of Waterloo, Canada, 2007.
• Bachelor of Science in Electrical Engineering from King Fahd University of Petroleum and Minerals, 2003.

Experience Over 15 years of experience in financial management and control, investor relations and capital and asset liability management. 

2- Hussam Abdulrahman Al-Khayal
Current Positions General Manager of Corporate Banking Group & Acting Head of  Personal Banking Group 

Previous Positions
• Held a number of positions at SAMBA Financial Group in its Corporate Banking Group (2001-2012).
• Held various positions at the Saudi Industrial Development Fund (1996-2001).
• Property Manager at Fairbourne Ltd., London, UK (1990-1991).

Qualifications 
• Master of Science (MSc) in International Marketing from Strathclyde University, Glasgow, UK, 1998.
• Master of Business Administration (MBA) from Loyola University, Chicago, USA, 1996.
• Bachelor of Science in Business Administration (B.Sc) from Illinois State University, USA, 1994.

Experience Over 20 years of expertise and broad background in the Corporate and Retail Banking Segments.

3- Khaldon Abdullah Al-Fakhri
Current Positions Chief Risk Officer 

Previous Positions • Held several positions at Al Rajhi Bank, the latest of which was Acting Chief Risk Officer (2008-2012).
• Held several positions at SAMBA Financial Group, the latest of which was Senior Credit Officer Corporate & Commercial Markets (1990-2008).

Qualifications • Master of Science in Accounting from Colorado State University, USA, 1989.
• Bachelor of Science in Computer Information Systems from Weber State University, USA, 1987.

Experience Over 28 years of experience in risk management, operations, and corporate banking.

4- Khalid Nasser Al-Muammar
Current Positions General Manager of Institutional Banking Group 

Previous Positions

• CEO and Managing Director of Alawwal Invest (2012-2018).
• Held various positions at Alawwal bank, the latest of which is the Eastern Area General Manager of Alawwal bank (2000-2012).
• Head of Corporate and Institutional Banking in the Eastern Region at the Saudi British Bank (SABB) (2007-2008).
• Senior Auditor at Arthur Andersen (1997-2000).
• Relationship Manager in the Corporate Banking Group at Banque Saudi Fransi in the Eastern Region (1996-1997).

Qualifications Bachelor of Science in Accounting from King Fahd University of Petroleum and Minerals, 1994.

Experience Over 20 years of experience in corporate strategy, corporate banking management and development, client relationship management, marketing, auditing and 
consulting.
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5- Maha Mohammed Al-Sudairi
Current Positions Chief Compliance and Governance Officer

Previous Positions Held several positions at Alawwal bank, including that of Board Secretary, Chief Governance Officer and Deputy Chief Compliance Officer (2009-Present).

Qualifications • MSc International Finance (Honors) from Kingston University, United Kingdom, 2012. 
• BA English Translation from King Saud University, Saudi Arabia, 2009.  

Experience Over 10 years of experience in the Saudi banking system, compliance and corporate governance, acquired through formal training locally and abroad. 

6- Majed Abdulraheem Al-Ghanemi

Current Positions Chief Operations Officer

Previous Positions

• Chief Information Officer at Alawwal bank (2006-2016).
• General Manager of Technology & Managed Services at Xeca International (2004-2006).
• Vertical Integration Manager at Saudi Telecom (2003-2004).
• Project Executive at Cerner (2001-2003).

Qualifications 
• MBA Degree from King Saud University, 2004.
• MS Degree in Computer Science from King Saud University, 1999.
• BS Degree in Computer Science from King Saud University, 1994.

Experience Over 24 years of experiences in banking, general management, and information technology.

7- Mohammed Abdulateef Al Shaikh
Current Positions General Manager of Treasury 

Previous Positions Held several positions at Samba Financial Group, the latest of which was Assistant General Manager - Treasury (1994-2011).

Qualifications Bachelor degree in Finance from King Saud University, 1994.

Experience Over 24 years of experience in finance, banking, general management, trading and asset and liability management.

8- Rogier Dolleman
Current Positions Acting Chief Internal Auditor 

Previous Positions

• Senior Audit Manager and Acting Head of Fraud Investigations Unit at Alawwal bank (2017-2018).
• Senior Audit Executive at the National Commercial Bank (NCB) (2016-2017).
• Held various positions at ING Bank N.V., the latest of which was Head of Audit at ING Bank Turkey (2004-2016).
• Senior Auditor at PwC International (1999-2004). 

Qualifications 

• Certified Internal Auditor (CIA) from the Institute of Internal Auditors, 2011.
• Chartered Accountant (Dutch CPA) – Nivra-Nyenrode Business University, Breukelen, Netherlands, 2007. 
• Master of Science (Msc) in Auditing & Assurance from Nyenrode Business University, Breukelen, Netherlands, 2007.
• Bachelor of Science (BSc) in Business Economics from the University for Economic Studies (HES), Rotterdam, Netherlands, 2000.

Experience Over 20 years of experience in financial audit, internal audit and fraud investigations within Financial Institutions.
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19- BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Board of Directors Compensation:
The Board and the Board Committees Remuneration Policy, approved by the Shareholders General Assembly on 19/12/2017, aims at providing the guidelines governing the remuneration of the members of the Board 
and Board Committees. The bank’s Board of Directors and members of the Board Committees are remunerated with an annual fixed fee free of any sort of incentive related pay. The annual fixed fee is set in compliance 
with the Rules on Compensation Practices as set by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority (SAMA), the Companies Law, and all the related rules and regulations issued in that regard. The annual fixed fee shall reflect 
competences and qualifications of members of Board and its Committees as well as the scope of work handled by the Board Members. 
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Independent Directors  

Total 1,640,000 80,000 280,000 - - - 2,000,000 - - - - - - - 2,000,000 -

Non-Executive Directors **

Total 2,065,807 90,000 140,000 - - - 2,295,807 - - - - - - - 2,295,807 -

Executive Directors

Total - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -

Total 3,705,807 170,000 420,000 - - - 4,295,807 - - - - - - - 4,295,807 -

* Remuneration is capped at SAR 500,000
** The remuneration of non-executive directors includes the remuneration of Mr. Eyad Al-Husain whose resignation from the Board was deemed effective on 18 November 2018.
Board Committees Compensation:

Fixed Remuneration
(Except for the Allowance for Attending Committee Meetings)* Allowance for Attending Committee Meetings* Total

Audit Committee  

Total 350,000 60,000 410,000

Nomination and Remuneration Committee 

Total 294,108 70,000 364,108

Board Risk Committee 

Total 144,108 60,000 204,108

Executive Committee 

Total 400,000 115,000 515,000

*The amounts paid to Board members which is capped at SAR 500,000 for Committee membership are included as part of the total remuneration paid to the Board
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Senior Executives Compensation:
Compensation recommendations are determined based on clear understanding of the intended total reward package and decisions are taken considering the balance between external competitiveness and affordability 
together with focusing attention on building motivational and performance related compensation arrangements. The Group’s compensation policy is aimed at rewarding both risk-adjusted performance and appropriate 
behavior in line with the Group’s core values. To this end, performance measurements are risk adjusted and reviewed by the independent Risk Management function. 

SAR’ 000
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Total 8,457 3,340 0 11,797 6,156 0 1,950 2,504 1,300 11,910 0 0 23,707 

SAR’ 000

Fixed  Remuneration Variable Remuneration

Senior Executives whose appointment 
requires the Saudi Arabian Monetary 
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Total 18,309 7,013 0 25,322 9,773 0 4,740 4,579 3,160 22,252 1,391 0 48,965

There are no arrangements or agreements under which a Board member or senior executive has waived any remuneration or compensation.

20- DIRECTORS & SENIOR MANAGEMENT INTERESTS (INCLUDING THEIR SPOUSES AND MINORS)

Board Members
Including the 1,000 qualification shares held by each Board Member during their term of office, shares held by the Directors at the beginning and end of 2018 are set out in the table below. 

Name Shares Held as of 31st Dec 2018 Shares Held as of 1st Jan 2018

Eng. Mubarak Abdullah Al-Khafrah (Chairman) 6,320 6,320

Mrs. Lubna Suliman Al-Olayan (Vice Chairperson) 60,912 60,912

Mr. Ahmed Farid Al-Aulaqi 3,456 3,456

Mr. Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi 35,778 35,778

Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif 40,000 40,000

Mr. Eyad Abdulrahman Al-Hussain* - -

Members appointed Royal Bank of Scotland N. V. - -

* Mr. Eyad Al-Husain resigned from the Board effective on 18 November 2018.
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Senior Management:
Shares held by senior management at the beginning and end of 2018 are set out in the table below:

Name Shared Held as of 31st Dec 2018 Shared Held as of 1st Jan 2018

Mr. Abdullah A. Al Oraini 22,222 Nil

Mr. Hussam Al Khayal 86,138 36,484

Mr. Mohammed Abdulatif Al Shaikh 161,633 Nil

Ms. Maha Mohammed Al-Sudairi 2,931 1,251

Mr. Khalid Nasser Al-Muammar Nil 5,216

21- SHAREHODERS GENERAL ASSEMBLIES

Alawwal bank held one Shareholders General Assembly throughout the fiscal year as follows:

General Assembly Date

1 Extraordinary General Assembly 27 March 2018

Board members’ attendance of the bank’s Shareholders General Assemblies held during 2018 is as follows, noting that non-attending members were absent for legitimate reasons of which the Chairman of the Board 
was informed by prior notice. 

Name Meetings Attended 27 Mar 2018

Eng. Mubarak Abdullah Al-Khafrah (Chairman) 1 ü

Mrs. Lubna  Suliman Al-Olayan (Vice Chairperson) 0 û

Mr. Abdulhadi Ali Shayif 0 û

Mr. Sulaiman Abdullah Al-Kadi 1 ü

Mr. Eyad Abdulrahman Al-Hussain* 1 ü

Mr. Ahmed Farid Al-Aulaqi 0 û

Mr. Javier Maldonado 0 û

Mr. Martin Powell 1 ü

Mr. Frank Vermeulen 0 û

Mr. Soren Kring Nikolajsen 1 ü
* Mr. Eyad Al-Husain resigned from the Board effective on 18 November 2018.
Alawwal bank is committed to promoting effective and open communication with all shareholders, ensuring consistency and transparency of disclosures at all times. With that in mind, the bank has procedures in place 
to ensure that shareholder suggestions and remarks in relation to the bank and its performance will be communicated to the Board. 
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Shareholders Records Request:
During 2018, the bank made six requests for shareholders’ records as follows:

Request Date Request Reason Request Date Request Reason

1 01/03/2018 Company Procedures 4 04/06/2018 Company Procedures

2 27/03/2018 AGM 5 15/11/2018 Company Procedures

3 29/03/2018 Dividends Distribution 6 31/12/2018 Company Procedures

22- EXTERNAL AUDITORS

At the Extraordinary General Meeting of Shareholders held on 10/07/1439H (27 March, 2018), Messrs KPMG Al Fozan & Partners and Messrs Ernst & Young were appointed as joint external auditors for the year ended 
31 December 2018.

23- PAYMENT OF ZAKAT, INCOME TAX & OTHERS

Zakat and income tax liabilities for the year 2018 are as follows:
a. Saudi Shareholders
Zakat attributable to Saudi Shareholders for the year is estimated to be SAR 58 million (2017: SAR 27 million), which will be adjusted against their share of current and future dividends.
b. Non-Saudi Shareholders
Income tax payable on the share of income of foreign shareholders is estimated to be SAR 94 million (2017: SAR 102 million), which will be adjusted against their share of current and future dividends.
c. Governmental agencies
The below table displays the major payments made to governmental agencies.

SAR’000

Statement Description Reasons 2018 2017 Due and outstanding until the end of the annual 
financial period

Zakat & Tax     255,248 83,674 NIL

GOSI 60,154 59,356 NIL

Visas and passports 401 1,179 NIL

Labor Office Fees 903 37 NIL

Total 316,706 144,246

During the current year, Alawwal bank reached a Settlement Agreement (the “Agreement”) with the GAZT in order to settle Zakat claims for the years from 2006 to 2017 against a full and final payment of SAR 374.48 
million, payable in 6 instalments over a period ending December 1, 2023. The settlement resulted in an additional provision of SAR 100.4 million, which was charged to shareholders’ equity during the current year. The 
bank has settled the first installment of SAR 74.90 million during the month of December 2018. Under the Agreement, the bank and the GAZT have also agreed to settle Zakat for the year 2018 in accordance with the 
basis agreed in the Agreement, which has been accounted for in the current year’s Zakat liability.
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24- SHARE PLAN

In January 2008, the Group launched an equity settled share-based 
payment plan (the “Plan”) for executives and senior employees 
(“Eligible Employees”). The initial Plan was approved by the Board 
of Directors in their meeting held on 10 Dhu-al-Qa’dah 1428H 
(corresponding to November 20, 2007) and SAMA in their letter 
dated 26 Safar 1429H (corresponding March 4, 2008). The vesting 
conditions were amended in 2009 as approved by the Board of 
Directors in their meeting held on 5 Shabaan 1430H (corresponding 
July 27, 2009) and SAMA in their letter dated 20 Dhualqada 1430H 
(corresponding November 9, 2009). According to the amendment 
made in the Plan during 2017, eligible employees will receive 
shares in the bank if the following terms and conditions are met:
• 	 Eligible employees are required to continue their employment 

with the Group for a period of one year from the grant date to 
have 1/3rd of shares vest, two years from the grant to have 
another 1/3rd of shares vest and three years from the grant to 
have remaining 1/3rd of shares to vest; and

• 	 The Group achieves specific growth thresholds as approved by 

Penalty Penalty Subject/ Reasons Authority Imposing the 
Penalty

Penal 
sanctions Amount (SAR) Measures Undertaken to Remedy and Avoid the Penalties Imposed

SAMA Penalty Violation of SAMA’s supervisory 
regulations Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency 10 507,012

Various corrective and preventive measures have been taken with respect to changes in 
processes, policies and procedures to avoid such violations and ensure compliance with the 
SAMA regulations.

SAMA Penalty Violation of SAMA’s regulations on 
due diligence. Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency 1 5,000

Various corrective and preventive measures have been taken with respect to changes in 
processes, policies and procedures to avoid such violations and ensure compliance with the 
SAMA regulations.

SAMA Penalty  Violation of SAMA’s regulations on 
customer protection Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency 3 20,000

Various corrective and preventive measures have been taken with respect to changes in 
processes, policies and procedures to avoid such violations and ensure compliance with the 
SAMA regulations.

SAMA Penalty Violation of SAMA’s regulations on 
due diligence for AML & CTF Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency 1 215,000

Various corrective and preventive measures have been taken with respect to changes in 
processes, policies and procedures to avoid such violations and ensure compliance with the 
SAMA regulations.

CMA Penalty Non-compliance with CMA 
regulations Capital Market Authority 1 50,000

Various corrective and preventive measures have been taken with respect to changes in 
processes, policies and procedures to avoid such violations and ensure compliance with the 
CMA regulations. 

Municipality Penalty
Violation for performing activities 
prior to obtaining Municipality 
license/approval

Different  municipalities 46 244,000
Various corrective and preventive measures have been taken with respect to changes in 
processes, policies and procedures to avoid such violations and ensure compliance with the 
pertinent regulations.

Total 1,041,012

the Board of Directors where each threshold will accrue a certain 
value of shares to the Eligible Employees.

The amendments made in 2017 to the Plan with regard to the 
vesting period of the grant are only applicable to the 2017 and 
future grants. Before the amendments, eligible employees were 
required to continue their employment with the Group for a period 
of two years from the grant date to have half of their shares vest 
and another year for the remainder to vest.
Under the provisions of the Plan, the Group at no point becomes 
the legal owner of the underlying shares. Until such time as these 
shares vest they will not carry voting rights. As per the plan, 
Alawwal Invest manages the Staff Share Plan Fund (the Fund) 
which will operate in accordance with the terms and conditions 
as approved by the Board of Directors in their above-mentioned 
meeting and by SAMA in their above-mentioned letter. Any further 
modifications in the terms and conditions of the Plan require prior 
approval of SAMA.
During 2008, the Fund purchased 2.15 million bank’s shares for a 
total consideration of SR 114 million which are held by it in fiduciary 
capacity until the shares vest to the eligible employees. The Fund 
purchased one million shares in 2012 and 999,063 shares in 2016 

worth SAR 27 million and 25 million, respectively. At the vesting 
date the ownership of these shares will pass to the employees. 
The number of shares granted is calculated in accordance with the 
performance based formula approved by the Board of Directors 
and is subject to approval of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee.
The bank does not maintain any treasury shares.

25-APPLICABLE REGULATIONS

Alawwal bank has adhered to the provisions of the Banking 
Control Law, Saudi Companies Law, and regulations issued by the 
Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority (SAMA) and the Capital Market 
Authority (CMA). In the event of conflicting regulations, the bank 
adheres to the existing rules governing banks and joint stock 
companies prior to the foundation of the Capital Market Authority.
During 2018, the bank paid SAR 1,041,012 in respect of penalties 
levied by regulatory authorities in the Kingdom as per the following 
table:
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26- ALAWWAL BANK & THE COMMUNITY 

(CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY)
	
As a major financial institution serving communities throughout the 
Kingdom, Alawwal bank takes the responsibility of being a good 
corporate citizen extremely seriously. The bank plays an active role 
in the social and economic development kingdom-wide. It does that 
through various programs, events and initiatives aimed at promoting 
education, empowerment of women, healthy lifestyle, supporting 
medical and rehabilitative treatment, and ensuring social and economic 
integration.  
SUPPORTING CHARITY & AWARENESS
Since its inception, Alawwal bank has always aimed to promote 
cultural awareness, national identity and social unity through effective 
coordination with many charitable associations. In 2018, the bank has 
supported various charitable efforts and initiatives focused on human 
development and social inclusion.  This includes the ‘Housing Program’ 
developed by the Saudi Cancer Society that was introduced to help 
low-income patients who had to relocate to other cities in order to get 
the necessary treatment, get suitable accommodation.
With the aim to give as many special needs children as possible the 
chance to excel in life and have equal opportunities, Alawwal bank 
has supported two initiatives launched by the Disabled Children’s 
Association. One is the ‘My Initiative Program’ helping to support 
special needs children across the Kingdom with the services provided 
by the Association and help raise awareness of disabilities. The bank 
has also supported the ‘Internal Scholarships Program’ that aims at 
providing educational and rehabilitative scholarships to special needs 
children aged 4-12 and giving them full access to the services provided 
by the Association’s specialists.
Alawwal bank supported the Ministry of Labour and Social 
Development in a number of projects for people with autism. This 
include the establishment of the Autism Center of Excellence that 
aims to help people with autism and invest in their special abilities. 
Support was also granted to the ‘Pioneer Program’ developed by the 
Ministry with the aim of holding classes designed to help young people 
with autism through social rehabilitation and occupational training, 
thus helping them acquire the skills needed to join the workforce. In 
addition, the bank has supported another initiative aimed at providing 
therapeutic approaches for people with autism and for people with 
other developmental disabilities that can be used as learning and 
developmental tools.

EMPOWERING WOMEN
Alawwal bank strongly believes in equal opportunity irrespective of 
gender and the need to increase female participation in the workforce.
As such, the bank launched a ‘Women Leadership Program’ designed 
to help young Saudi women to progress into leadership roles. The 
three-day program has been developed with the aim of equipping 
talented mid-level female managers from different organizations and 
institutions across the Kingdom with the tools and skills required to 
progress into leadership roles. 
To further help realize the Kingdom’s Vision on women empowerment, 
the bank is also proud to be supporting the Al Salhia Association in 
Unaizah to keep the Princess Noura bint Abdulrahman Community 
Center open for visitors. The visitors of the center engage in various 
sports and recreational activities, in addition to participating in various 
educational programs. 
PROMOTING EDUCATION
Alawwal bank believes sustainable economic development cannot 
be reached without substantial investment in education and human 
capital. The bank has supported various educational programs to 
help people of all ages advance and improve their lives. Support has 
been given to the establishment of the ‘Computer Course’ and ‘Al-
Khawarizmi Course’ provided by the Female Charitable Association for 
Maternity and Childhood in Al-Ghat. The courses assist in enhancing 
the educational levels of low-income women and children from low 
income families in the fields of computer skills and mathematics. The 
bank also supported the ‘School Transportation Program’ established 
by the Eradah Association (Charitable Society for Special Needs in 
Jubail Industrial City), by helping to transport special needs children 
to and from rehabilitation centers to facilitate the process of social 
integration and educational development. 
The bank has supported PhysioTrio establish the ‘Training of 
Physiotherapists in Sports Injuries Program’. The training course is 
expected to create job opportunities for both males and females in 
the field of sports physiotherapy, who in turn will support the growing 
number of professional and non-professional athletes, including special 
needs athletes driven by the Kingdom’s Vision 2030 ambitions.

27- DECLARATIONS

The Board of Directors hereby declares that:
• 	 Proper books of account have been maintained;

• 	 The system of internal controls is sound in design and has been 
effectively implemented;

• 	 There is no significant doubt concerning the bank’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.

• 	 The bank has no existing contracts in which a Director, the MD, 
the CFO or a party related to any of them has a material interest, 
except for those that were mentioned in the related party 
transactions section of this report;

• 	 After the review by the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors 
approved the consolidated financial statements for the year 
2018 on February 10, 2019 as recommended by the Committee. 

The bank has implemented all provisions of the Corporate Governance 
Regulations issued by CMA and the Principles of Corporate Governance 
issued by SAMA.

CONCLUSION

Alawwal bank has been making banking history in the Kingdom ever 
since it first opened its doors in 1926 in Jeddah. That is set to continue 
as the bank is looking forward to completing the transformational 
merger with The Saudi British Bank.
The Board of Directors of Alawwal bank extends its regards and 
gratitude to the government of the Custodian of the Two Holy 
Mosques, His Majesty the King, and to HRH the Crown Prince, HE the 
Minister of Finance, HE the Minister of Commerce & Investment, HE 
the Governor of the Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority and HE the 
Chairman of the Capital Market Authority for their continued support 
to the banking community.
The Board of Directors also extends its thanks and appreciation to the 
shareholders, customers and correspondents of Alawwal bank for their 
continuing confidence and support.
Finally, appreciation must be given to the bank’s management and 
staff for their dedication and teamwork, without which this year’s 
achievements would not have been possible.

Board of Directors
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Statement of
Internal Control
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate and effective internal control system. An Internal control system includes the policies, procedures and processes, which are designed under 
supervision of the Board to achieve the strategic objectives of the Bank. 

The scope of the Internal Audit department, independent from line management, includes the assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system across the Bank, as well as to provide 
reasonable assurance as to whether management has implemented and complied with prescribed policies and procedures. All significant and material findings of Internal Audit assessments are reported to the Audit 
Committee of the Board. The Audit Committee actively monitors the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system to ensure that identified risks are mitigated to safeguard the interest of the Bank.

Concerted and integrated efforts are made by all functions of the Bank to improve the Control Environment at grass root level through continuous reviewing and streamlining of procedures to prevent and rectify any 
control deficiencies. Each function, under the supervision of the senior executive management, is entrusted with the responsibility to oversee rectification of control deficiencies identified by internal and external 
auditors. The Compliance function, through centrally automated applications and physical examinations, ensures adherence to regulatory requirements and the Bank’s internal policies and procedures.

The Banks’ Internal control system has been designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Board on the management of risks to achieve the Bank’s strategic objectives.  Internal controls systems, no matter how well 
designed, have inherent limitations, and may not prevent or detect all control deficiencies. Moreover, the projection of current evaluations of the effectiveness to future periods is subject to a limitation that controls may 
become inadequate due to changes in conditions or compliance with policies or procedures. 

Management has adopted The Internal Controls integrated framework as recommended by SAMA through its guidelines on Internal Controls.

The Audit Committee also reviews the assessment report on the effectiveness of the internal control system, as prepared by the Internal Audit department of the Bank. The report on the assessment of internal controls 
does not contain material weaknesses in the bank’s internal control framework that have not been adequately addressed by the management.

Based on the results of the ongoing evaluation of internal controls carried out by Management during the year, Management considers the Bank’s existing internal control system to be adequately designed, operating 
effectively, and monitored consistently. Nevertheless, Management continuously endeavors to enhance and further strengthen the internal control system of the Bank.

Based on the above, the Board of Directors has duly endorsed Managements’ evaluation of the internal control system, as prescribed by SAMA.
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2018 Achievements 

Alawwal bank awarded ’Best Innovation in Retail Banking‘ in 
KSA by International Banker after a successful year of 
innovation.

Best Innovation in Retail Banking in KSA
Alawwal bank’s digital transformation won the Arabian 
Business ‘Best Innovation Project’ award in KSA. This 
includes ground breaking initiatives such as the bank’s 
revolutionary digital branch IBDA and offering artificial 
intelligence training to all staff.

Best Innovation Project Award in KSA

Alawwal bank Managing Director, Soren Nikolajsen, was 
awarded ‘CEO of the year in Retail Banking’ at the Enterprise 
Agility Awards, 2018 held in Dubai.

CEO of the Year in Retail Banking

The Bank was named ‘Best Cash Management Solutions 
Bank’ in Saudi Arabia by Global Banking & Finance Review.

Best Cash Management Solutions
Bank in Saudi Arabia

The Bank received the ‘Best Innovative Banking Initiative’ 
Award in Saudi Arabia for IBDA from Global Banking & 
Finance Review.

Best Innovative Banking Initiative – IBDA
digital branch (Saudi Arabia)

Alawwal bank, was named ‘Most Innovative Bank in KSA’ at 
this year’s Banker Middle East Awards.

Most Innovative Bank in KSA
Alawwal bank, was awarded ‘Best Private Bank in KSA’ at the 
Banker Middle East Awards.

Best Private Bank in KSA

The bank won the ’Award for excellence in customer 
experience‘ at Temenos Community Forum, Dublin, Ireland.

Excellence in customer experience Award
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2018 Achievements 

Alawwal bank are introducing Near Field (NFC) technology to 
make payments even easier for customers, Using NFC customers 
will be able to tap their mada Atheer debit card on POS devices, 
or use the mada mobile app on their Android device to pay. 
This will take away the need for customers to enter their PIN 
for purchases under SAR 100. A SAR 300 daily spend limit 
applies before PIN authorization is required.

Mada Pay and Mada Atheer

With the introduction of Touch ID, Alawwal makes log in to its 
mobile app easier via fingerprint identification for iPhone. 
While Face ID service was introduced later for fast and 
secure log in to the mobile app using face recognition.

Touch ID and Face ID recognition

Alawwal launched customer ID update through online and 
mobile, without the need to visit the branch and in a few 
simple steps.

ID Update through Alawwal Online and
Alawwal Mobile

Alawwal launched the Chat service allowing customers to 
engage with a bank agent through Alawwal Online to get the 
required help to complete their banking needs.

Online Chat

Alawwal bank partnered with leading global tech firm, Reaktor, 
and the University of Helsinki to offer training to the entire 
workforce on the potential uses of artificial intelligence (AI) 
in banking. All Alawwal bank employees have access to an 
online course and was offered several workshops 
developed and led by experts from Reaktor and University 
of Helsinki.

AI workshop 

The bank recently launched the Alawwal Token app which will 
provide customers with a secure and more convenient way of 
accessing Alawwal online, mobile and phone banking 
services.

Alawwal Token application launch
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Members of the Bank’s
Senior Management

FROM LEFT TO RIGHT

Mr. Rogier Dolleman
Internal Audit

Mr. Majed Al Ghanemi
Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Bandar Al Gaeiti
Branch Network

Ms. Maha Al Sudairi
Compliance & Governance

Mr. Mohammed Al Shaikh
Treasury

Mr. Soren Nikolajsen
Managing Director

Mr. Santiago Espinosa
Human Resources

Mr. Hussam Al Khayal
Corporate Banking &

Personal Financial Services

Mr. Khalid Al-Muammar 
Institutional Banking

Mr. Hai Liang Yu
International & transaction

banking

Mr. Salem Al-Onazi
Legal

Mr. Khaldon Al Fakhri
Risk Management

Mr. Abdullah Aloraini
Finance
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Alawwal bank & Community
Alawwal bank is proud to be able to give back to the communities in which the bank operates through a range of initiatives. 
			 
In 2018, Alawwal bank contributed a total of SR8.6million to more than 25 community development programs and charities across a board-range of fields. These include:

• Supporting various educational and training programs targeting low-income women and children.
• Providing support towards programs and grants assisting children with disabilities through charities.
• Sponsoring an exhibition supporting women drivers in Saudi Arabia to raise awareness of road safety and rules.
• Supporting the establishment of an autism center and developing programs to educate autistic children and 

supporting their parents.
• Support training programs to ensure Saudi specialists are qualified to provide adequate care for individuals with 

special needs.

Education and training

• Supporting the housing program presented by the Saudi Cancer Society to aid cancer patients.
• Providing direct support and donating to various local charities to help serve communities Kingdom-wide.

Community Support

• Alawwal bank launched a ‘Women's Leadership Program’ to help talented young Saudi women progress into leadership 
roles Kingdom-wide. Over 110 talented females have graduated from the program so far, from over 60 different 
organisations in the public and private sector. To date, 94% of graduates have said the program has given them more 
confidence to progress in their careers. The program is well aligned with Vision 2030’s goal to increase the 
participation of females in the workforce.

Women's Leadership Program
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Independent Auditors’ Report
on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ALAWWAL BANK

(A SAUDI JOINT STOCK COMPANY)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Alawwal 
bank (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the 
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2018, and the consolidated income 
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.  
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) as modified by the Saudi Arabian Monetary 
Authority (“SAMA”) for the accounting of Zakat and income tax.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described 
in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the professional code of conduct and 
ethics as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, that are relevant 
to our audit of the consolidated financial statements, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each 
matter below, a description of how our audit addressed the matter 
is provided in that context. 

Impairment of loans and advances
Key Audit Matter
At 31 December 2018, the gross loans and advances of the 
Group were Saudi Riyals 61.7 billion against which an impairment 
allowance of Saudi Riyals 3.9 billion was maintained.
During the year the Group has adopted IFRS 9 – Financial 
Instruments  which introduced a forward looking, expected credit 
loss (“ECL”) impairment model.  On adoption, the Group has applied 
the requirements of IFRS 9 retrospectively without restating 
the comparatives. The adoption of IFRS 9 resulted in transition 
adjustment of Saudi Riyals 461 million (out of which Saudi Riyals 
350 million relates to loans and advances) to the Group’s equity as 
at 1 January 2018 and the impacts of transition are explained in 
note 3.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements.
We considered impairment of loans and advances  as a key 
audit matter as the determination of ECL involves significant 
management judgement and this has a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The key areas of 
judgement include:
1. Categorisation of loans in Stage 1, 2 or 3 based on  identification 

of:
(a) exposures with significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) since 

their origination; and 
(b) individually impaired / default exposures.

2. Assumptions used in the ECL model such as financial condition 
of counterparty, expected future cash flows, forward looking 
macroeconomic factors etc.

3. The need to apply additional overlays to reflect current or future 
external factors that might not be captured by the expected 
credit loss model.

Refer to note 3.1.1 to the consolidated financial statements for 

the impacts of adoption of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments, note 
2(d) which contains the disclosure of critical accounting judgement, 
estimates and assumptions relating to impairment losses on 
financial assets and the impairment assessment methodology used 
by the Group, note 7 which contains the disclosure of impairment 
against loans and advances and note 29(c) for details of credit 
quality analysis and key assumptions and factors considered in 
determination of ECL.
How our audit addressed the key audit matter:
We have obtained an understanding of management’s assessment 
of impairment of loans and advances including the IFRS 9 
implementation process, Group’s internal rating model, Group’s 
impairment allowance policy and ECL modelling methodology. 
We compared the Group’s impairment allowance policy and ECL 
methodology with the requirements of IFRS 9. 
We assessed the design and implementation, and tested the 
operating effectiveness of controls over:
• the modelling process including governance over monitoring of 

the model and approval of key assumptions.
• the classification of borrowers in various stages and timely 

identification of SICR,
• integrity of data inputs into the ECL model.
We assessed the Group’s criteria for determination of significant 
increase in credit risk and identification of “default” or “individually 
impaired” exposures and their classification into various stages. 
For a sample of customers, we assessed:
• the internal ratings determined by the management based on 

Group’s internal rating model;
• the staging as identified by management;
• management’s computation of ECL.
We assessed underlying assumptions including forward looking 
assumptions used by the Group in ECL calculations. Where 
management’s overlays were used, we assessed those overlays 
and the governance process around such overlays.
We tested the completeness of data underlying the ECL calculation 
as of 31 December 2018.
Where relevant, we involved specialists to assist us in reviewing 

For the year ended 
31 December 2018
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Independent Auditors’ Report
on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
model calculations and data integrity.
As the Group has used, modified retrospective approach for 
adoption of IFRS 9, we performed all the above mentioned tasks to 
evaluate management’s computation of adjustment to the Group’s 
equity as at 1 January 2018 (as a result of adoption of IFRS 9).
We assessed the disclosures included by management in the 
consolidated financial statements.

Fee from banking services
Key Audit Matter
The Group charges loan transaction and service fees upfront to 
customers on corporate and retail loan financing. Due to the large 
volume of transactions with mostly insignificant fee amounts, 
adjustments to the effective yield of loan financing is made by 
management based on certain thresholds and such adjustments 
are recognised within consolidated income statement. 
All such fees which are an integral part of generating an involvement 
with the resulting financial instrument should be recognized within 
Special Commission Income, regardless of the thresholds, as an 
adjustment to the effective yield of loan financing. 
We considered this as a key audit matter since the use of 
assumptions for setting these thresholds by management 
could result in a material over / under statement of the Group’s 
profitability. 
Refer to the significant accounting policies note 3.2(g)(ii) to the 
consolidated financial statements.
How our audit addressed the key audit matter:
We assessed the design and implementation and tested the 
operating effectiveness of the control over the consistent 
application of the thresholds by management.
We considered and evaluated the thresholds established by 
the Group for making adjustments to the effective yield of loan 
financing.
We obtained management’s assessment of the impact of the use of 
the aforementioned thresholds and:
• On a sample basis, traced the current and historical data used by 

management in their assessment to the underlying accounting 
records; and

• Assessed the impact of the use of thresholds on the recognition 
of fee and commission income and special commission income.

Other assets
Key Audit Matter
As at 31 December 2018, other assets of the Group included an 
amount of Saudi Riyals 438 million, which was disbursed to a third 
party who defaulted on payment and the management expects to 
recover this balance from a related party.
The Group had a settlement agreement (the “existing settlement 
agreement”) in place with the related party for recovery of this 
amount and until 30 September 2018, the Group maintained an 
impairment allowance of Saudi Riyals 150 million against the 
outstanding balance due to uncertainty around the timing of 
recoverability of this balance.
However, during the last quarter of 2018, the Group entered into 
three settlement agreements (the “new settlement agreements”) 
to replace the existing settlement agreement and based on the 
recent developments, the impairment allowance was fully reversed.
This is considered a key audit matter due to the subjectivity involved 
in the assessment of provision against the recoverable balance 
which can have a material impact on the Group’s profitability.
Refer to note 10 to the consolidated financial statements for 
disclosure of the aforementioned receivable.
How our audit addressed the key audit matter:
We performed the following procedures:
• Read the existing settlement agreement and the new settlement 
agreements.
• Held meetings with those charged with governance and senior 
management of the Group to obtain an update on this matter and 
the results of their interactions with its related parties. 
• Held meetings with the legal counsel of the Group to discuss the 
terms of the new settlement agreements.
• Evaluated the basis used by management for reversal of the 
impairment allowance against the receivable.
• Assessed the appropriateness of the disclosures included in the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Other Information included in the Bank’s 2018 Annual Report
The Board of Directors of the Bank (the “Directors”) are responsible 
for the other information. The other information consists of the 
information included in the Bank’s 2018 annual report, other than 
the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report 
thereon. The annual report is expected to be made available to us 
after the date of this auditors’ report. 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not and will not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information identified above 
when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
When we read the other information, if we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the 
matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of the Directors and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with IFRSs as modified by SAMA for the accounting of Zakat and 
income tax, the applicable requirements  of the Regulations for 
Companies, the Banking Control Law in the Kingdom of Saudi 
Arabia and the Bank’s By-laws, and for such internal control as 
the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, 
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process. 

For the year ended 
31 December 2018
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing as endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• 	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by the Directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 

to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• 	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

• 	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Based on the information that has been made available to us, 
nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that 
the Bank is not in compliance, in all material respects, with the 
applicable requirements of the Regulations for Companies, the 
Banking Control Law in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and the Bank’s 
By-laws in so far as they affect the preparation and presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements. 

Ernst and Young & Co.
Certified Public Accountants
P.0. Box 2732
Riyadh 11461
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Abdulaziz A. Al Sowailim
Certified Public Accountant 
Registration No. 277

KPMG AI Fozan & Partners 
Certified Public Accountants
P.0. Box 92876
Riyadh 11663
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia

Nasser Ahmed Al Shutairy 
Certified Public Accountant 
Registration No. 454

8 Jumada Al-Akhirah 1440H
(13 February 2019)
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on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 
31 December 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at December 31, 
Amounts in SAR’000

Notes 2018 2017
ASSETS 
Cash and balances with SAMA 4 4,890,038 15,137,005
Due from banks and other financial institutions, net 5 1,116,012 2,115,271
Positive fair value derivatives, net 11 110,107 212,218
Investments, net 6 16,068,538 16,688,747
Loans and advances, net 7 57,767,123 63,639,483
Investment in an associate 8 53,762 45,507
Property and equipment, net 9 1,268,639 1,347,009
Other assets 10 753,983 684,590
Total assets 82,028,202 99,869,830

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Liabilities
Due to banks and other financial institutions 12 1,531,816 3,344,671
Negative fair value derivatives, net 11 57,093 91,679
Customers’ deposits 13 64,572,713 78,274,963
Subordinated debt 14     - 2,505,026
Other liabilities 15 2,006,183 2,053,795
Total liabilities 68,167,805 86,270,134

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 16 11,430,720 11,430,720
Statutory reserve 17 882,675 600,062
General reserve 130,000 130,000
Other reserves 18 37 13,129
Retained earnings 1,443,809 1,297,728
Proposed dividends 26     - 171,461
Share based plan reserve 36 (26,844) (43,404)
Total shareholders’ equity 13,860,397 13,599,696
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 82,028,202 99,869,830

The accompanying notes 1 to 40 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended December 31, 
Amounts in SAR’000

Notes 2018 2017

Special commission income 20 3,755,276 3,903,289

Special commission expense 20 1,000,570 1,137,527

Net special commission income 2,754,706 2,765,762

Fee and commission income, net 21 601,265 689,799

Exchange income, net 125,268 129,885

Trading income, net 22 75,354 95,916

Gain on FVTPL financial instruments 6,921    -

Gain on non-trading investments 23     - 30,260

Total operating income 3,563,514 3,711,622

Salaries and employee-related expenses 24 661,958 670,845

Rent and premises-related expenses 140,825 140,230

Depreciation and amortisation 9 173,292 165,191

General and administrative expenses 302,347 289,349

Impairment charge for credit and other losses, net 7b )1( 1,167,476 1,120,299

Impairment reversal for other financial assets, net (4,579)    -

Total operating expenses 2,441,319 2,385,914

Operating income 1,122,195 1,325,708

Share in earnings of an associate 8 8,255 9,810

Net income for the year 1,130,450 1,335,518

Basic and diluted earnings per share (Expressed in SAR per share) 25 0.99 1.17

The accompanying notes 1 to 40 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the year ended December 31, 
Amounts in SAR’000

Notes 2018 2017

Net income for the year 1,130,450 1,335,518

Other comprehensive loss

Items that are or may be reclassified to consolidated income statement in subsequent periods:

Available for sale investments:

 -  Net changes in fair values 18      - (4,060)

 -  Net amounts transferred to consolidated income statement      - (24,360)

Total available for sale investments      - (28,420)

Cash flow hedge:  

 -  Net changes in fair values 18 (644) 402

Other comprehensive loss for the year (644) (28,018)

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,129,806 1,307,500

The accompanying notes 1 to 40 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the year ended December 31, 
Amounts in SAR’000

2018 Notes Share
capital

Statutory
Reserve

General
reserve

Other reserves
 Retained
earnings

 Proposed
dividends

 Share based
plan reserve

Total shareholders
equity Available for

sale
 Cash flow

hedges

Balance at beginning of the year - as reported 11,430,720 600,062 130,000 12,448 681 1,297,728 171,461 )43,404( 13,599,696
Impact of adoption of new standards at January 1, 2018 3 - - - )12,448( - )448,853( - - )461,301(
Balance at beginning of the period - restated 11,430,720 600,062 130,000 - 681 848,875 171,461 )43,404( 13,138,395
Net income for the year - - - - - 1,130,450 - - 1,130,450
Net changes in fair values 18 - - - - )644( - - - )644(
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - )644( 1,130,450 - - 1,129,806
Transfer to statutory reserve 17 - 282,613 - - - )282,613( - - -
Dividends paid 26 - - - - - - )171,461( - )171,461(
Zakat for the year 26 - - - - - )58,299( - - )58,299(
Zakat for the prior years 26 - - - - - )100,408( - - )100,408(
Tax for the year 26 - - - - - )94,196( - - )94,196(
Share based plan transactions 36 - - - - - - - 16,560 16,560
Balance at end of the year 11,430,720 882,675 130,000 - 37 1,443,809 - )26,844( 13,860,397
2017
Balance at beginning of the year 11,430,720 266,183 130,000 40,868 279 854,003 - )59,328( 12,662,725

Net income for the year - - - - - 1,335,518 - - 1,335,518
Net changes in fair values 18 - - - )4,060( 402 - - - )3,658(
Net amounts transferred to the consolidated 
income statement 18 - - - )24,360( - - - - )24,360(

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - )28,420( 402 1,335,518 - - 1,307,500
Transfer to statutory reserve 17 - 333,879 - - - )333,879( - - -
Proposed dividends 26 - - - - - )171,461( 171,461 - -
Zakat for the year 26 - - - - - )26,884( - - )26,884(
Tax for the year 26 - - - - - )102,188( - - )102,188(
Zakat and income tax for prior years 26 - - - - - )257,381( - - )257,381(
Share based plan transactions 36 - - - - - - - 15,924 15,924
Balance at end of the year 11,430,720 600,062 130,000 12,448 681 1,297,728 171,461 )43,404( 13,599,696

The accompanying notes 1 to 40 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended December 31, 
Amounts in SAR’000

Notes 2018 2017
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the year 1,130,450 1,335,518
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in) / from operating activities:
Amortisation of premium and (accretion of discount) on non-trading investments, net 4,220 )4,405(
Gain on non-trading investments 23 -   )30,260(
Derivative fair value, net 66,881 2,447
Subordinated debt )5,026( )4,879(
Depreciation and amortisation 9 173,292 165,191
Loss on disposal of property and equipment 9 49 -    
Impairment charge for credit and other losses, net 7b )1( 1,167,476 1,120,299
Gain on FVTPL financial instruments )6,921( -    
Impairment reversal for other financial assets, net )4,579( -    
Share in earning of an associate 8 )8,255( )9,810(
Share based plan transactions 36 5,345 13,686

2,522,932 2,587,787
Net decrease / (increase) in operating assets:
Statutory deposit with SAMA 614,436 321,273
Due from banks and other financial institutions maturing after ninety days from the date of acquisition 114,854 5,000
Loans and advances, net 4,204,685 7,983,315
Other assets 91,730 83,860
Net (decrease) / increase in operating liabilities:
Due to banks and other financial institutions )1,812,855( 1,996,939
Customers’ deposits )13,702,250( )7,083,825(
Other liabilities )384,287( 227,231
Net cash (used in) / from operating activities )8,350,755( 6,121,580

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale and maturity of investments 600,397 7,121,398
Purchase of non-trading investments -    )2,545,000(
Purchase of property and equipment 9 )94,971( )231,177(
Net cash from investing activities 505,426 4,345,221

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid 16 )171,461( -    
Repayment of subordinated debt 14 )2,500,000( )1,400,000(
Net cash used in financing activities )2,671,461( )1,400,000(
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents  )10,516,790( 9,066,801
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 13,006,065 3,939,264
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 27 2,489,275 13,006,065
Special commission received during the year 3,715,327 3,949,633
Special commission paid during the year 1,030,006 1,304,750

Supplemental non-cash information
Impact of first time adoption of IFRS 9 3 461,301 -    
Net changes in fair value and transfers to consolidated income statement )644( )28,018(

The accompanying notes 1 to 40 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1) GENERAL

Alawwal bank (the “Bank”), is a Saudi Joint Stock Company 
incorporated in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and was formed 
pursuant to Royal Decree No. M/85 dated 29 Dhul Hijjah 1396H 
(corresponding to December 21, 1976). The Bank commenced 
business on 17 Shaaban 1397H (corresponding to August 2, 1977) 
when it took over the operations of Algemene Bank Nederland 
N.V. in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The Bank operates under 
commercial registration No. 1010064925 dated 6 Jumada II 1407H 
(corresponding to February 5, 1987) through its 67 branches 
(2017: 67 branches) in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. The registered 
address of the Bank’s head office is:

Alawwal bank
Head Office
Al-DhababStreet
P O Box 1467 Riyadh 11431,
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

The objective of the Bank and its subsidiaries (collectively referred 
to as “the Group”) is to provide a full range of banking and investment 
services. The Group also provides to its customers Islamic (non 
commission based) banking products which are approved and 
supervised by an independent Shariah Board established by the 
Bank.

The consolidated financial statements comprise of the financial 
statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries. The details of these 
subsidiaries are set out below:	

Alawwal Invest (AI)

Alawwal Invest, is a Saudi Closed Joint Stock Company incorporated 
in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Bank, was formed in accordance with the Capital Market Authority’s 
(CMA) Resolution number 1-39-2007 under commercial registration 
number 1010242378 dated 30 Dhul Hijjah 1428H (corresponding 
to January 9, 2008) to take over and manage the Group’s 
Investment Services and Asset Management activities regulated by 
CMA related to dealing, managing, arranging, advising and taking 
custody of securities.  Alawwal Invest commenced its operations 
effective on 2 Rabi’II 1429H (corresponding to April 8, 2008). 

Alawwal Real Estate Company (AREC) 

AREC, a limited liability company incorporated in the Kingdom of 
Saudi Arabia, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank through direct 
ownership was established under commercial registration number 
1010250772 dated 21 Jumada I 1429H (corresponding to May 26, 
2008) with the approval of the Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority 
(SAMA). The Company was formed to register real estate assets 
under its name which are received by the Bank from its borrowers 
as collaterals.

Alawwal Insurance Agency Company (AIAC)

AIAC, a limited liability company incorporated in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Bank through 
direct ownership was established under commercial registration 
number 1010300250 dated 29 Muharram 1432H (corresponding 
to January 4, 2011) with the approval of SAMA. The Company was 
formed to act as an agent for Wataniya Insurance Company (WIC), 
an associate, for selling its insurance products.

Alawwal Financial Markets Limited (SPV)

The Bank has established a wholly owned SPV subsidiary, formed 
with the approval of SAMA solely to facilitate trading of certain 
derivative financial instruments. The SPV is consolidated in these 
consolidated financial statements as the Bank controls the SPV. 

Further to the announcement of a non-binding agreement 
between the Bank and The Saudi British Bank (“SABB”) on May 16, 
2018 (corresponding to Ramadan 1, 1439H) with respect to the 
exchange ratio of the proposed merger, the Bank announced to its 
shareholders that it entered into a binding merger agreement with 
SABB on October 3, 2018 (corresponding to Muharram 23, 1440H) 
under which the two banks agreed to take the necessary steps 
to implement the merger by way of a statutory merger pursuant 
to Articles 191-193 of the Companies Law and Article 49(a)(1) of 
the Merger and Acquisition Regulations. The merger is subject to 
the approval of SAMA, the Capital Market Authority, the General 
Authority for Competition, the Saudi Stock Exchange, shareholders 
of both the banks and certain agreed contractual conditions.

2) BASIS OF PREPARATION

a)  Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been 
prepared on a going concern basis;

•	 In accordance with ‘International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as modified by the Saudi Arabian Monetary Authority 
(“SAMA”) for the accounting of Zakat and income tax’, which 
requires, adoption of all IFRSs as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) except for the application 
of International Accounting Standard (IAS) 12 - “Income Taxes” 
and IFRIC 21 - “Levies” so far as these relate to Zakat and income 
tax. Further, certain accounting policies followed in the current 
and comparative period are different as explained in Note 3”; and;

•	 in compliance with the provisions of Banking Control Law, the 
Regulations for Companies in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and 
by-laws of the Bank.

b)  Basis of measurement and presentation

These consolidated financial statements are prepared under the 
historical cost convention except for the measurement at fair value 
of derivatives, financial assets held at Fair Value through Profit and 
Loss (FVTPL) and Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income 
(FVOCI). In addition, financial assets or liabilities that are carried at 
cost but are hedged in a fair value hedging relationship are carried 
at fair value to the extent of the risk being hedged. The statement 
of financial position is stated broadly in order of liquidity. 

c)  Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Saudi 
Arabian Riyals (SAR), which is the Bank’s functional currency. 
Financial information  has been rounded off to the nearest 
thousands, except where otherwise indicated.

d)  Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in 
conformity with IFRs as modified by SAMA for the accounting of 
Zakat and income tax requires the use of certain critical accounting 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 

For the year ended 
31 December 2018



60 Alawwal bank Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
amounts of assets and liabilities. It also requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies. Such judgements, estimates, and assumptions 
are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including obtaining professional advices and 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the 
revision affects only that period, or in the period of revision and 
in future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. Significant areas where management has used estimates, 
assumptions or exercised judgements are as follows:

(i) Impairment for losses on loans and advances

The measurement of impairment losses under IFRS 9 across all 
categories of financial assets requires judgement, in particular, 
the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and 
collateral values when determining impairment losses and the 
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These estimates 
are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in 
different levels of allowances.

The Group’s expected credit losses calculations are outputs of 
complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding 
the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements 
of the ECL models that are considered accounting judgements and 
estimates include:

•	 The Group’s internal credit grading model, which assigns 
probability of default (PD) to the individual grades.

•	 The Group’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk and so allowances for financial assets 
should be measured on a lifetime ECL basis and the qualitative 
assessment.

•	 The segmentation of financial assets when their ECL is assessed 
on a collective basis.

•	 Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and 
the choice of inputs.

•	 Determination of associations between macroeconomic 
scenarios and economic inputs.

•	 Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their 
probability weightings, to derive the economic inputs into the 
ECL models.

(ii) Fair value measurement

The Group measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives, 
FVOCI and FVTPL investments at fair value at each reporting date. 
Fair values hierarchy is disclosed in note 32.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement 
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset 
or transfer the liability takes place either:

•	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

•	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous 
market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible 
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured 
using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in 
their economic best interest. The Group uses valuation techniques 
that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of 
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 
inputs. All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the annual consolidated financial statements are 
categorized within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole:

Level 1

Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active primary markets

Level 2

Adjusted market prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities using valuation techniques for which the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or 
indirectly observable.

Level 3

Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the annual 
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group 
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the 
hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) 
at the end of each reporting period.

(iii) Determination of control over investees

The control indicators as set out  in note 3.2 (a) are subject to 
management’s judgement that can have an impact in the case of 
the Group’s interests in investments funds.

(iv) Fee and commission income

The Group recognizes revenue in line with the accounting policy 
stated in note 3 (g), the application of which requires judgement.

3) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

3.1 Change in accounting policies

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are consistent with those used 
in the preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2017, except for the adoption 
of the following new standards and other amendments to existing 
standards and a new interpretation mentioned below. Except for 
adoption of IFRS 9, these amendments and adoption has had no 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group on the current period or prior periods and is expected to have 
an insignificant effect in future periods. The impact and disclosures 
pertaining to adoption of IFRS 9 have been illustrated in the 
subsequent notes of these financial statements.		

For the year ended 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3.1.1	 Adoption of New Standards or amendments to existing 

standards

Effective from January 1, 2018 the Group has adopted two new 
accounting standards, the impact of the adoption of these standards 
is explained below:

a) IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

“The Group adopted IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers” resulting in a change in the revenue recognition policy 
of the Group in relation to its contracts with customers.  IFRS 15 was 
issued in May 2014 and is effective for annual periods commencing 
on or after January 1, 2018. IFRS 15 outlines a single comprehensive 
model of accounting for revenue arising from contracts with 
customers and supersedes previous revenue guidance, which was 
available across several Standards and Interpretations within the 
IFRSs. It established a new five-step model that applies to revenue 
arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is 
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods 
or services to a customer. The Group has opted for the modified 
retrospective application permitted by IFRS 15 upon adoption of 
the new standard. Modified retrospective application also requires 
the recognition of the cumulative impact of adoption of IFRS 15 on 
all contracts as at 1 January 2018 in equity. There is no significant 
impact of IFRS 15 adoption in these consolidated financial 
statements.

b) IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

The Group has adopted IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments issued in 
July 2014 with a date of initial application of January 1, 2018. The 
requirements of IFRS 9 represent a significant change from IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 brings 
fundamental changes to the accounting for financial assets and to 
certain aspects of the accounting for financial liabilities.

As permitted by IFRS 9, the Group has elected to continue to apply 
the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39.

The key changes to the Group’s accounting policies resulting from 
the adoption of IFRS 9 are summarized below:

b-i) Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities	

IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for 
financial assets: measured at amortized cost, fair value through 
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and fair value through 
profit or loss (“FVTPL”). These classifications are generally based 
on the business model in which a financial asset is managed and 
its contractual cash flows. The standard eliminates the existing 
IAS 39 categories of held-to-maturity, loans and receivables and 
available-for-sale. Under IFRS 9, derivatives embedded in contracts 
where the host is a financial asset in the scope of the standard are 
never bifurcated. Instead, the whole hybrid instrument is assessed 
for classification. For an explanation of how the Group classifies 
financial assets under IFRS 9, see respective section of significant 
accounting policies.

IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for the 
classification of financial liabilities. However, although under IAS 
39 all fair value changes of liabilities designated under the fair 
value option were recognized in profit or loss, under IFRS 9 fair 
value changes are presented as follows:

•	 The amount of change in the fair value that is attributable 
to changes in the credit risk of the issuer is presented in 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income with no 
subsequent reclassification to profit or loss; and	

•	 The remaining amount of change in the fair value is presented in 
consolidated income statement.		

b-ii) Impairment of financial assets
IFRS 9 replaces the ‘incurred loss’ model in IAS 39 with an ‘expected 
credit loss’ model (“ECL”). IFRS 9 requires the Group to record an 
allowance for ECLs for all loans and other debt financial assets 
not held at FVTPL, together with loan commitments and financial 
guarantee contracts. The allowance is based on the ECLs associated 
with the probability of default in the next twelve months unless 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since its 
origination. If the financial asset meets the definition of purchased 
or originated credit impaired (POCI), the allowance is based on 
the change in the ECLs over the life of the asset. POCI assets are 
financial assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition. POCI 
assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition and special 
commission income is subsequently recognised based on a credit-
adjusted EIR. ECLs are only recognised or released to the extent 

that there is a subsequent change in the expected credit losses. 
Under IFRS 9, credit losses are recognized earlier than under IAS 
39. For an explanation of how the Group applies the impairment 
requirements of IFRS 9, see respective section of significant 
accounting policies.

c) IFRS 7

To reflect the differences between IFRS 9 and IAS 39, IFRS 7 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures was updated and the Group has 
adopted it, together with IFRS 9, for the year beginning January 
1, 2018. Changes include transition disclosures and detailed 
qualitative and quantitative information about the ECL calculations 
such as the assumptions and inputs used which are set out as 
shown in note 3 and note 29. Reconciliations from opening to 
closing ECL are presented in respective notes 7. IFRS 7 also requires 
additional and more detailed disclosures for hedge accounting 
even for entities opting to continue to apply the hedge accounting 
requirements of IAS 39.

d) IFRS 9 Transition

Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 
9 have been applied retrospectively, except as described below:

•	 Comparative periods have not been restated. A difference in 
the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 are recognized in retained 
earnings and reserves as at January 1, 2018. Accordingly, 
the information presented for 2017 does not reflect the 
requirements of IFRS 9 and therefore is not comparable to the 
information presented for the year 2018 under IFRS 9.

•	 The following assessments have been made on the basis of 
the facts and circumstances that existed at the date of initial 
application.

i)	 The determination of the business model within which a 
financial asset is held.

ii)	 The designation and revocation of previous designated 
financial assets and financial liabilities as measured at FVTPL.

iii)	 The designation of certain investments in equity instruments 
not held for trading as FVOCI.

For the year ended 
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iv)	 For financial liabilities designated as at FVTPL, the determination of whether presenting the effects of changes in the issuer’s liability credit risk in Consolidated statement of comprehensive income would create or 
enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.

It is assumed that the credit risk has not increased significantly for those debt securities which carry low credit risk at the date of initial application of IFRS 9.

e) Financial assets and financial liabilities

i) Classification of financial assets and financial liabilities on the date of initial application of IFRS 9

The following table shows the original classification categories in accordance with IAS 39 and the new classification categories under IFRS 9 for the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities as at January 1, 2018.

Original classification under IAS 39 New classification under IFRS 9  Original carrying values under
IAS 39

 New carrying values under
IFRS 9

Financial assets
Cash and balances with SAMA Loans and receivables Amortized cost 15,137,005 15,137,005
Due from banks and other financial institutions Loans and receivables Amortized cost 2,115,271 2,115,125
Positive fair value of  derivatives FVTPL FVTPL 212,218 212,218
Investments, net HTM Amortized cost 60,151 60,151

AFS FVOCI 174,125 174,006
AFS FVTPL 153,347 153,347

Loans and receivables Amortized cost 16,112,843 16,103,815
Loans and receivables FVTPL 188,281 170,337

16,688,747 16,661,656

Loans and advances Loans and receivables Amortized cost 63,639,483 63,289,192
Other assets, net Loans and receivables Amortized cost 684,590 684,590

98,477,314 98,099,786

Financial liabilities
Due to banks and other  financial institutions Amortized cost Amortized cost 3,344,671 3,344,671
Negative fair value of  derivatives FVTPL FVTPL 91,679 91,679
Customers’ deposits                   Amortized cost Amortized cost 78,274,963 78,274,963
Subordinated debt Amortized cost Amortized cost 2,505,026 2,505,026
Other liabilities Amortized cost Amortized cost 2,053,795 2,137,568

86,270,134 86,353,907

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ii) Reconciliation of carrying amounts under IAS 39 to carrying amounts under IFRS 9 at the adoption of IFRS 9
The following table reconciles the carrying amounts under IAS 39 to the carrying amounts under IFRS 9 on transition to IFRS 9 on January 1, 2018.

 IAS 39 carrying values as at 31
December 2017 Reclassification Re-measurement IFRS 9 carrying

values as at 1 January 2018 
Financial assets:
Amortized cost:
Cash and balances with SAMA 15,137,005 - - 15,137,005
Due from banks and other financial institutions, net 2,115,271 - )146( 2,115,125
Loans and advances, net 63,639,483 - )350,291( 63,289,192
Investments (HTM and OI) 16,361,275 )188,281( )9,028( 16,163,966
Other assets, net 684,590 - - 684,590
Total amortized cost 97,937,624 )188,281( )359,465( 97,389,878

Available for Sale Investments 327,472 )327,472( - -
FVOCI – Investment:
From available for sale - 174,125 )119( 174,006
Total FVOCI - 174,125 )119( 174,006

FVTPL:
Positive fair value derivatives 212,218 - - 212,218

Investment:
From available for sale - 153,347 - 153,347
From amortized cost - 188,281 )17,944( 170,337
Total investment - 341,628 )17,944( 323,684
Total FVTPL 212,218 341,628 )17,944( 535,902

Financial liabilities:
Amortized cost:
Due to banks and other financial institutions 3,344,671 - - 3,344,671
Customers’ deposits 78,274,963 - - 78,274,963
Subordinated debt 2,505,026 - - 2,505,026
Other liabilities 2,053,795 - 83,773 2,137,568
Total amortized cost 86,178,455 - 83,773 86,262,228

FVTPL:
Negative fair value derivatives 91,679 - - 91,679

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Available for sale investments reclassification includes SAR 174 million reclassified to FVOCI and SAR 153 million reclassified to FVTPL.

iii) Impact on retained earnings and other reserves

Retained earnings Other reserves

Closing balance under IAS 39 as at December 31, 2017 1,297,728 13,129
Re-measurement on reclassifications under IFRS 9 )17,944( -
Available for sale investments reserve transferred to retained earnings 12,448 )12,448(
Recognition of ECL under IFRS 9 )443,357( -
Opening balance under IFRS 9 as at January 1, 2018 848,875 681

Recognition of ECL under IFRS 9 comprises ECL for loans and advances, indirect exposure, investments and due from banks and other financial institutions amounting to SAR 350.29 million, SAR 83.77 million, SAR 9.15 
million and SAR 0.15 million, respectively.

iv) The following table provides carrying values of financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of financial position.

December 31, 2018 FVTPL FVOCI – equity investments Amortized cost Total carrying amount

Financial assets:
Cash and balances with SAMA - - 4,890,038 4,890,038
Due from banks and other financial institutions, net - - 1,116,012 1,116,012
Positive fair value derivatives, net 110,107 - - 110,107
Investments, net 313,263 4,330 15,750,945 16,068,538
Loans and advances, net - - 57,767,123 57,767,123
Other assets - - 753,983 753,983
Total 423,370 4,330 80,278,101 80,705,801

Financial liabilities:
Due to banks and other financial institutions - - 1,531,816 1,531,816
Negative fair value derivatives, net 57,093 - - 57,093
Customers’ deposits - - 64,572,713 64,572,713
Other liabilities - - 2,006,183 2,006,183
Total 57,093 - 68,110,712 68,167,805

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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December 31, 2017 Held for trading Available for sale Held to maturity Loans and receivables Total carrying amount

Financial assets:
Cash and balances with SAMA - - - 15,137,005 15,137,005
Due from banks and other financial institutions - - - 2,115,271 2,115,271
Positive fair value derivatives 212,218 - - - 212,218
Investments - 327,472 60,151 16,301,124 16,688,747
Loans and advances, net - - - 63,639,483 63,639,483
Other assets, net - - - 684,590 684,590
Total 212,218 327,472 60,151 97,877,473 98,477,314

Financial liabilities:
Due to banks and other financial institutions - - - 3,344,671 3,344,671
Negative fair value derivatives 91,679 - - - 91,679
Customers’ deposits - - - 78,274,963 78,274,963
Subordinated debt - - - 2,505,026 2,505,026
Other liabilities - - - 2,053,795 2,053,795
Total 91,679 - - 86,178,455 86,270,134

3.1.2  POLICIES APPLICABLE FROM 1 JANUARY 2018
a) Classification of financial assets
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at 
amortized cost, FVOCI or FVTPL.
i) Financial asset at Amortized cost
A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of 
the following conditions and is not designated as FVTPL:
•	 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to 

hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and
•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified 

dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

ii) Financial asset at FVOCI
Debt instrument: a debt instrument is measured at FVOCI only if 
it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as 
FVTPL:
•	 the asset is held within a business model whose objective is 

achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling 
financial assets; and

•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

FVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair 
value with gains and losses arising due to changes in fair value 
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
Special commission income and foreign exchange gains and losses 
are recognised in consolidated income statement.
Equity Instruments: On initial recognition, for an equity investment 
that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to 
present subsequent changes in fair value in consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income. This election is made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis. Changes in fair value are recognized in OCI and 
are never recycled to consolidated income statement, even if the 
asset is sold or impaired.
iii) Financial asset at FVTPL
All other financial assets are classified as FVTPL. In addition, on 

initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial 
asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured 
at amortized cost or at FVOCI at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise 
arise. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their 
initial recognition, except in the period after the Group changes its 
business model for managing financial assets.
e) Business model assessment
The Group assesses the objective of a business model in which 
an asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects 
the way the business is managed and information is provided to 
management. The information considered includes:
•	 the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the 

operation of those policies in practice. In particular, whether 
management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual 
commission revenue or maintaining a particular commission rate 
profile; 

•	 matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of 
the liabilities that are funding those assets or realizing cash 
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consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any 
new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that 
had been recognized in OCI is recognized in consolidated income 
statement.
From January 1, 2018, any cumulative gain/loss recognized in 
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income in respect 
of equity investment securities designated as at FVOCI is not 
recognized in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities. Any 
interest in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition 
that is created or retained by the Group is recognized as a separate 
asset or liability. When assets are sold to a third party with a 
concurrent total rate of return swap on the transferred assets, the 
transaction is accounted for as a secured financing transaction 
similar to sale-and repurchase transactions, as the Group retains 
all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of 
such assets. In transactions in which the Group neither retains nor 
transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of 
a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Group 
continues to recognize the asset to the extent of its continuing 
involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to 
changes in the value of the transferred asset.
ii) Financial liabilities
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual 
obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expired.
i) Modification of financial assets and financial liabilities
i)  Financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, the Group evaluates 
whether the cash flows of the modified asset are substantially 
different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the 
contractual rights to cash flows from the original financial asset are 
deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset 
is derecognized with the difference recognized as a de-recognition 
gain or loss and a new financial asset is recognized at fair value. 
If the cash flows of the modified asset carried at amortized cost 
are not substantially different, then the modification does not 
result in derecognition of the financial asset. In this case, the 
Group recalculates the gross carrying amount of the financial 
asset and recognizes the amount arising from adjusting the gross 
carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. If 
such a modification is carried out because of financial difficulties 
of the borrower, then the gain or loss is presented together with 
impairment losses.  In other cases, it is presented as interest income.

flows through the sale of the assets;
•	 how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported 

to the Group’s management;
•	 the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and 

the financial assets held within that business model) and how 
those risks are managed;

•	 the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, 
the reasons for such sales and its expectations about future 
sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not 
considered in isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of 
how the Group’s stated objective for managing the financial 
assets is achieved and how cash flows are realized.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected 
scenarios without taking ‘worst case’ or ‘stress case’ scenarios into 
account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way 
that is different from the Group’s original expectations, the Group 
does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets 
held in that business model, but incorporates such information 
when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial 
assets going forward. Financial assets that are held for trading and 
whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured 
at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash 
flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell 
financial assets.
f) Assessments whether contractual cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is the fair value of the 
financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is the consideration 
for the time value of money, the credit and other basic lending 
risks associated with the principal amount outstanding during a 
particular period and other basic lending costs (e.g. liquidity risk and 
administrative costs), along with profit margin.
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments 
of principal and interest, the Group considers the contractual terms 
of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial 
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or 
amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this 
condition. In making the assessment, the Group considers:
•	 contingent events that would change the amount and timing of 

cash flows;
•	 leverage features;

•	 prepayment and extension terms;
•	 terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified 

assets (e.g. non-recourse asset arrangements); and.
•	 features that modify consideration of the time value of money- 

e.g. periodical reset of interest rates.
g) Financial liabilities at FVTPL
For financial liabilities classified as FVTPL using fair value option 
after initial recognition, changes in fair value related to changes in 
own credit risk are presented separately in consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income and all other fair value changes are 
presented in the consolidated income statement. Amounts in 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income relating to 
changes in own credit risk are not recycled to the consolidated 
income statement even when the liability is derecognized and the 
amounts are realized.
On initial recognition of the financial liability, the Group assesses 
whether presenting the amount of change in the fair value of the 
liability that is attributable to changes in issuer’s credit risk in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income would create 
or enlarge an accounting mismatch in the consolidated income 
statement. This assessment is made by using a regression analysis 
to compare:
•	 the expected changes in the fair value of the liability related to 

changes in the credit risk; with
•	 the impact on profit or loss of expected changes in fair value of 

the related instruments.
h) Derecognition
i) Financial assets
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it 
transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a 
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the 
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial 
asset.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the 
carrying amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated 
to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the sum of (i) the 
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•	 undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the 
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to 
the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows 
that the Group expects to receive; and

•	 financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to 
reimburse the holder less any amounts that the Group expects to 
recover.

l)  Restructured financial assets
If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an 
existing financial asset is replaced with a new one due to financial 
difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made of whether 
the financial asset should be derecognized and ECL are measured 
as follows:
•	 If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of 

the existing asset, then the expected cash flows arising from 
the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash 
shortfalls from the existing asset.

•	 If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the 
existing asset, then the expected fair value of the new asset is 
treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset 
at the time of its derecognition. This amount is included in 
calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset 
that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition to 
the reporting date using the original effective interest rate of the 
existing financial asset.

m) Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets 
carried at amortized cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 
‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have detrimental 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset 
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired 
includes the following observable data:
•	 significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
•	 a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;
•	 the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that 

the Group would not consider otherwise;
•	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy 

or other financial reorganization; or
•	 the disappearance of an active market for a security because of 

financial difficulties.
A loan that has been renegotiated due to deterioration in the 
borrower’s condition is usually considered to be credit-impaired 
unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual 
cash flows has reduced significantly and there are no other 
indicators of impairment. In addition, a retail loan that is overdue for 
90 days or more is considered impaired. In making an assessment 
of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-impaired, the 
Group considers the following factors.
•	 The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the 

bond yields.
•	 The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness.
•	 The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt 

issuance.
•	 The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in 

holders suffering losses through voluntary or mandatory debt 
forgiveness.

•	 The international support mechanisms in place to provide the 
necessary support as ‘lender of last resort’ to that country, as well 
as the intention, reflected in public statements, of governments 
and agencies to use those mechanisms. This includes an 
assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective 
of the political intent, whether there is the capacity to fulfil the 
required criteria.

n) Presentation of allowance for ECL in the consolidated 
statement of financial position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial 
position as follows:
•	 financial assets measured at amortized cost: as a deduction from 

the gross carrying amount of the assets;
•	 loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, 

as a provision;
•	 where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an 

undrawn component, and the Group cannot identify the ECL on 
the loan commitment component separately from those on the 
drawn component: the Group presents a combined loss allowance 
for both components. The combined amount is presented as 
a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn 
component. Any excess of the loss allowance over the gross 

ii)  Financial liabilities
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its terms 
are modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are 
substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based 
on the modified terms is recognized at fair value. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished 
and the new financial liability with modified terms is recognized in 
consolidated income statement.
j)  Impairment
The Group recognizes loss allowances for ECL on the following 
financial instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:
•	 financial assets that are debt instruments;
•	 financial guarantee contracts issued; and
•	 loan commitments issued.
No impairment loss is recognized on equity investments. The Group 
measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, 
except for the following, for which they are measured as 12-month 
ECL:
•	 debt investment securities that are determined to have low 

credit risk at the reporting date; and
•	 other financial instruments on which credit risk has not increased 

significantly since their initial recognition.
The Group considers a debt security to have low credit risk when 
their credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood 
definition of investment grade. 12-month ECL is the ECL that 
results from modelled default events within 12 months of the 
reporting date.
k)  Measurement of ECL
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are 
measured as follows:
•	 financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting 

date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference 
between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the 
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive);

•	 financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: 
as the difference between the gross carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows;
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commission income is calculated by applying the effective interest 
rate to the amortized cost of the financial asset. If the asset is no 
longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of commission income 
reverts to the gross basis. For financial assets that were credit-
impaired on initial recognition, commission income is calculated 
by applying the credit-adjusted effective commission rate to the 
amortized cost of the asset. The calculation of commission income 
does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset 
improves.
r)  Rendering of services
The Group provides various services to its customer. These services 
are either rendered separately or bundled together with rendering 
of other services. The Group has concluded that revenue from 
rendering of various services related to Share trading and fund 
management, Trade finance, Corporate finance and advisory and 
other banking services, should be recognized at the point when 
services are rendered i.e. when performance obligation is satisfied.
s)  Customer Loyalty Program
The Group offers customer loyalty program, which allows card 
members to earn points that can be redeemed for certain Partner 
outlets. The Group allocates a portion of transaction price 
(interchange fee) to the reward points awarded to card members, 
based on the relative stand alone selling price. The amount of 
revenue allocated to reward points is deferred and released to the 
consolidated income statement when reward points are redeemed. 
The cumulative amount of liability related to unredeemed reward 
points is adjusted over time based on actual experience and current 
trends with respect to redemption.
3.1.3    POLICIES APPLICABLE BEFORE ADOPTION OF IFRS 9
The Group classified its financial assets into one of the following 
categories:
a)  Investments
Initial recognition
All investment securities are initially recognised at fair value 
plus incremental direct transaction costs except for fair value 
through income statement (“FVIS”) instruments where incremental 
direct transaction costs are charged to the consolidated income 
statement. These are subsequently accounted for depending 
on their classification as either held to maturity, FVIS, available 
for sale or other investments held at amortised cost. Premiums 
are amortised and discounts accreted using the effective special 

amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision; and
•	 debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is 

recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position 
because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. 
However, the loss allowance is disclosed and is recognized in 
the fair value reserve. Impairment losses are recognised in profit 
or loss and changes between the Amortized cost of the assets 
and their fair value are recognised in consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

o) Write-off
Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) 
when there is no realistic prospect of recovery. However, financial 
assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement 
activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for 
recovery of amounts due. If the amount to be written off is greater 
than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is first treated 
as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the 
gross carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to 
credit loss expense.
p) Financial guarantees and loan commitments
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to 
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss that 
it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when 
it is due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. ‘Loan 
commitments’ are firm commitments to provide credit under pre-
specified terms and conditions. Financial guarantees issued or 
commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate are 
initially measured at fair value and the initial fair value is amortized 
over the life of the guarantee or the commitment. Subsequently, 
they are measured as follows:
•	 from 1 January 2018: at the higher of the un-amortized amount 

and the amount of loss allowance;
•	 before 1 January 2018: at the higher of the un-amortized amount 

and the present value of any expected payment to settle the 
liability when a payment under the contract has become probable.

‘The Group has issued no loan commitments that are measured at 
FVTPL. For other loan commitments:
•	 from 1 January 2018: the Group recognizes loss allowance;.
•	 before 1 January 2018: the Group recognizes a provision in accordance 

with IAS 37 if the contract was considered to be onerous.

q)  Revenue / expense recognition
i) Special commission income and expenses
Special commission income and expense are recognized in profit 
or loss using the effective commission method. The ‘effective 
commission rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument to or the amortized cost of the financial instrument.
When calculating the effective commission rate for financial 
instruments other than credit-impaired assets, the Group estimates 
future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial 
instrument, but not expected credit losses. For credit-impaired 
financial assets, a credit-adjusted effective commission rate is 
calculated using estimated future cash flows including expected 
credit losses. Subsequent to the recognition of an impairment 
loss on a financial asset or a group of financial assets, special 
commission income continues to be accounted for in consolidated 
statement of financial position on the effective special commission 
rate basis, on the asset’s carrying value.
The calculation of the effective yield takes into account all 
contractual terms of the financial instruments (prepayment, options 
etc.) and includes all commission rate includes transaction costs and 
fees and points paid or received transaction costs, and discounts or 
premiums that are an integral part of the effective commission rate. 
Transaction costs are include incremental costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, or issue or disposal of a financial 
asset or financial liability.
ii) Measurement of amortized cost and special commission 
income
The ‘amortized cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is 
the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, 
plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective 
commission method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any 
expected credit loss allowance.
The ‘gross carrying amount of a financial asset’ is the amortized 
cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected credit 
loss allowance. In calculating commission income and expense, 
the effective commission rate is applied to the gross carrying 
amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to 
the amortized cost of the liability. However, for financial assets 
that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, 
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trading or designated by management as FVIS on initial recognition. 
Investments classified as trading are acquired principally for 
the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short term and are 
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair 
value. Changes in fair value are recognized in net trading income / 
(loss).
An investment may be designated at FVIS by the management, at 
initial recognition if doing so significantly reduces measurement 
inconsistencies which would otherwise arise except for equity 
instruments that do not have a quoted price in an active market and 
whose fair values cannot be reliably measured.
Investments at FVIS are recorded in the consolidated statement 
of financial position at fair value. Changes in the fair value are 
recognised in the consolidated income statement for the year in 
which it arises. Special commission income and dividend income on 
financial assets held as FVIS are reflected as either trading income 
or income from FVTPL financial instruments in the consolidated 
income statement.
ii) Available for sale
Available-for-sale investments (AFS) are those non-derivative 
equity and debt securities which are neither classified as held to 
maturity (HTM) investments, other investments held at amortized 
cost (OI) nor designated as FVIS, that are intended to be held for an 
unspecified period of time, which may be sold in response to needs 
for liquidity or changes in special commission rates, exchange rates 
or equity prices. Investments which are classified as AFS are initially 
recognised at fair value plus direct and incremental transaction 
costs and subsequently measured at fair value except for certain 
unquoted equity securities whose fair value cannot be reliably 
measured and are carried at cost. Unrealised gains or losses arising 
from a change in its fair value is recognised in other comprehensive 
income until the investment is de-recognised or impaired 
whereupon any cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in 
other comprehensive income is reclassified to consolidated income 
statement.
iii)  Held to maturity
Investments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturity that the Group has the positive intention and ability to 
hold to maturity are classified as held to maturity (HTM). Held to 
maturity investments are initially recognised at fair value including 
direct and incremental transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, less provision for impairment in value. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount 
or premium on acquisition using an effective special commission 
rate method. Any gain or loss on such investments is recognised 
in the consolidated income statement when the investment is 
derecognised or impaired.
Investments classified as held to maturity cannot ordinarily be 
sold or reclassified without impacting the Group’s ability to use 
this classification and cannot be designated as a hedged item with 
respect to special commission rate or prepayment risk, reflecting 
the longer-term nature of these investments. However, sales and 
reclassifications in any of the following circumstances would not 
impact the Group’s ability to use this classification;
•	 Sales or reclassifications that are so close to maturity that the 

changes in market rate of special commission would not have a 
significant effect on the fair value;.

•	 Sales or reclassifications after the Group has collected 
substantially all the assets’ original principal; and.

•	 Sales or reclassifications attributable to non-recurring isolated 
events beyond the Group’s control that could not have been 
reasonably anticipated. 

iv) Other investments held at amortised cost
Investment securities with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market are classified as Other investments 
held at amortised cost (OI). Such investments whose fair values 
have not been hedged are stated at amortised cost using effective 
special commission rate method basis, less provision for impairment. 
Any gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement 
when the investment is derecognised or impaired.
b)  Loans and advances
Loans and advances are non-derivative financial assets originated 
or acquired by the Group with fixed or determinable payments. 
Loans and advances are recognised when cash is advanced to 
borrowers. They are derecognised when either the borrower 
repays the obligations, the loans are written off or substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred. All loans and 
advances are initially measured at fair value, including acquisition 
charges associated with the loans and advances.
Subsequently loans and advances that are not quoted in an active 
market and for which fair value has not been hedged, are stated 
at amortised cost less any amount written off and impairment for 
credit losses. For loans and advances which are hedged, the related 

commission rate basis and are taken to special commission income.
Determination of fair value
For securities traded in organised financial markets, fair value 
is determined by reference to quoted market average bid / ask 
prices at the close of business. Fair value of managed assets 
and investments in mutual funds are determined by reference to 
declared net asset values which approximate the fair value.
For securities where there is no quoted market price, a reasonable 
estimate of the fair value is determined by reference to the current 
market value of another instrument which is substantially the same, 
or is based on the expected cash flows or the underlying net asset 
base of the security. Where the fair values cannot be derived from 
active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation 
techniques that include the use of mathematical models. 
Reclassification
Investments at FVIS are not reclassified subsequent to their 
initial recognition, except for non-derivative FVIS instrument, that 
are not designated as FVTPL upon initial recognition (i.e. trading 
investments) which may be reclassified out of the FVIS category if 
they are no longer held for the purpose of being sold or repurchased 
in the near term, and the following conditions are met:
•	 If the investments would have met the definition of “held at 

amortised cost” and had not been required to be classified as 
held for trading at initial recognition, these may be reclassified if 
the Group has the intention and ability to hold the investments 
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

•	 If the investments would not have met the definition of held 
at amortised cost, and then it is reclassified out of the trading 
category only in ‘rare circumstances.

A security held as available for sale may be reclassified to “Other 
investments held at amortised cost” if it otherwise would have met 
the definition of “Other investments held at amortised cost” and if 
the Group has the intention and ability to hold that financial asset 
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
Subsequent measurement
The investments under each class are accounted  for and presented 
using the basis set out in the following paragraphs:
i) Held as FVIS
Investments in this category are classified if they are held for 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 
31 December 2018



70 Alawwal bank Annual Report 2018

impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the 
consolidated income statement.
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument 
increases and the increase can be objectively related to a credit 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the 
consolidated income statement, the impairment loss is reversed 
through the consolidated income statement.
For equity investments held as available for sale, a significant or 
prolonged decline in fair value below its cost represents objective 
evidence of impairment. The impairment loss cannot be reversed 
through the consolidated  income statement as long as the asset 
continues to be recognised i.e. any increase in fair value after 
impairment has been recorded can only be recognised in the 
consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity. On 
derecognition, any cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity is 
included in the consolidated income statement for the year.
f) Trading income / (loss), net 
Results arising from trading activities include all realised and 
unrealised gains and losses from changes in fair value and related 
special commission income or expense, dividends for financial 
assets and financial liabilities held for trading and foreign exchange 
differences. This includes any ineffectiveness recorded in hedging 
transactions.
3.2) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries drawn up to December 
31 of each year. The financial statements of the subsidiaries 
are prepared for the same reporting period as that of the Bank 
and changes have been made to their accounting policies where 
necessary to align them with the accounting policies of the Bank.
Subsidiaries are investees controlled by the Group. The Group 
controls an investee when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability 
to affect those returns through its power over the investee. The 
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date that control commences until 
the date that control ceases. The results of subsidiaries acquired or 
disposed of during the year, if any, are included in the consolidated 
income statement from the date of the acquisition or up to the date 

portion of the hedged fair value is adjusted against the carrying 
amount.
c) Impairment of financial assets
An assessment is made at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is an objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets may be impaired.
If such evidence exists, the net present value of future anticipated 
cash flows from that asset is determined and any impairment 
loss, is recognised for changes in its carrying amounts. The Group 
considers evidence of impairment for loans and advances and held 
to maturity investments at both a specific asset and collective 
level. When a financial asset is uncollectible, it is either written off 
against the related allowances for impairment or is charged directly 
to the consolidated income statement. Financial assets are written 
off only in circumstances where effectively all possible means of 
recovery have been exhausted, and the amount of the loss has 
been determined.  
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss 
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an 
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account. The 
amount of the reversal is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement in impairment charge for credit losses.
d)   Impairment of financial assets held at amortised cost
A financial asset or group of financial assets is classified as impaired 
when there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one 
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the 
financial asset or group of financial assets and that a loss event has 
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset 
or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
A specific allowance for credit losses due to impairment of a loan 
or any other financial asset held at amortised cost is established 
if there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to 
collect all amounts due. The amount of the specific allowances is 
the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated 
recoverable amount. The estimated recoverable amount is the 
present value of expected future cash flows, including amounts 
estimated to be recoverable from guarantees and collateral, 
discounted based on the original effective special commission rate. 
Consumer loans are considered to be impaired when a payment 

is overdue for specified number of days as per related product 
programs. Since the risk metrics for consumer loans are based on a 
collective “pool” basis, rather than on individual loans, the provisions 
for consumer loans are also computed on a “pool basis” using the 
‘flow rate” methodology. The provision coverage is 70% for the 
non-performing loans (other than home finance), which are overdue 
by 90 days whereas the loans are considered as a total write off 
once overdue by 180 days. In case of home finance, exposure is 
downgraded to non-performing loans and special commission 
income is suspended once the loan is overdue by 90 days. Specific 
provision is raised for non-performing loans overdue by 180 days 
and above and are written off once overdue by 720 days. 
In addition to specific provision for credit losses, provision for 
collective impairment is made on a portfolio basis for credit losses 
where there is objective evidence that unidentified losses exist 
at the reporting date. These are based on any deterioration in the 
risk rating (i.e. downward migration of risk ratings) of the financial 
assets since it was originally granted. This provision is estimated 
based on various factors including credit ratings allocated to a 
borrower or group of borrowers, the current economic conditions, 
the experience that the Group has had in dealing with a borrower 
or group of borrowers and available historical default information.
Loans and advances are generally renegotiated either as part of 
an ongoing customer relationship or in response to an adverse 
change in the circumstances of the borrower. In the latter case, 
renegotiation can result in an extension of the due date of payment 
or repayment plans under which the Group offers a revised rate of 
special commission to genuinely distressed borrowers. This results 
in the asset continuing to be overdue and individually impaired as 
the renegotiated payments of special commission and principal do 
not recover the original carrying amount of the loan. In other cases, 
renegotiation leads to a new loan agreement based on revised 
terms. Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators 
or criteria which, indicate that payment will most likely continue. 
The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective 
impairment assessment, calculated using the loan’s original 
effective special commission rate.
(e)  Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets
In the case of debt instruments classified as available for sale, 
Management assesses individually whether there is objective 
evidence of impairment based on the same criteria as financial 
assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded 
for impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference 
between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less any 
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•	 Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in 
equity

•	 Recognises the fair value of the consideration received
•	 Recognises the fair value of any investment retained
•	 Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss
•	 Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously 

recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income to consolidated income statements or retained earnings, 
as appropriate, as would be required if the Group had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

b) Investment funds
The Group acts as Fund Manager to a number of investment funds. 
Determining whether the Group controls such an investment fund 
usually focuses on the assessment of the aggregate economic 
interests of the Group in the Fund (comprising any carried interests 
and expected management fees) and the investors rights to remove 
the Fund Manager. The Group has conducted a detailed assessment 
and as a result the Group has concluded that it acts as an agent for 
the investors in all cases, and therefore has not consolidated any of 
these funds. See notes 6 and 35.
c) Investments in associates
Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and 
subsequently accounted for under the equity method of accounting 
based on annual audited or latest available financial statements. 
An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant 
influence (but not control), over financial and operating policies and 
which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Investments in 
associates are carried in the consolidated statement of financial 
position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s 
share of net assets, less any impairment in the value of individual 
investments. The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition 
profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated income statement 
and its share of post-acquisition movements in statement of 
comprehensive income is recognised in the Group’s consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. The cumulative post-
acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount 
of the investment. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate 
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other 
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, 
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of 
the associate. Unrealized gains and losses on transactions between 

the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group’s interest in the associates. 
The Group’s share of profit / loss of an associate is shown on the 
face of the consolidated income statement. This is the earnings 
/ (losses) attributable to equity holders of the associate and, 
therefore, is earnings / (losses) after tax and non-controlling 
interests in the subsidiaries of the associate. After application of 
the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary 
to recognise an additional impairment loss on its investment in its 
associate. The Group determines at each reporting date whether 
there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate 
is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of 
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of 
the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in 
the ‘share of earning of an associate’ in the consolidated income 
statement.
d)  Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments, including foreign exchange 
contracts, foreign exchange and commodity forward contracts, 
commission rate swaps, commodity options, futures and forward 
rate agreements, currency and commission rate swaps, currency 
and commission rate options (both written and purchased) are 
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the derivative 
contract is entered into with transaction costs recognised in the 
consolidated income statement.  
and are subsequently re-measured at fair value in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.
All derivatives are carried at their fair value and classified as assets 
where the fair value is positive and as liabilities where the fair 
value is negative. Fair values are derived by applying discounted 
cash flow models or pricing models as appropriate. The treatment 
of changes in their fair value depends on their classification into 
the following categories:
i) Derivatives held for trading
Any changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading are 
taken directly to the consolidated income statement and disclosed 
in net trading income. Derivatives held for trading include all those 
derivatives which do not qualify for hedge accounting including 
embedded derivatives.
ii) Embedded derivatives
Derivatives may be embedded in another contractual arrangement 

of disposal, as applicable. The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared using uniform accounting policies and 
valuation methods for like transactions and other events in similar 
circumstances.
Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group 
has:
•	 Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the 

current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee);
•	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 

the investee, and.
•	 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.
When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar 
rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 
including:
•	 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the 

investee.
•	 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
•	 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights granted by 

equity instruments such as shares.
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if 
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or 
more of the three elements of control.
All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and 
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group 
are eliminated on consolidation.
The Group manages and administers assets held in unit trusts and 
other investment vehicles on behalf of investors. The financial 
statements of these entities are not included in these consolidated 
financial statements except when the Group controls the entity.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of 
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. If the Group loses 
control over a subsidiary, it:
•	 Derecognises the assets (including goodwill, if any) and liabilities 

of the subsidiary
•	 Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling 

interests
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to be recognized.
Where the hedged forecasted transaction results in the recognition 
of a non- financial asset or a non-financial liability, then at the time 
such asset or liability is recognised the associated gains or losses 
that had previously been recognised directly in other comprehensive 
income are included in the initial measurement of the acquisition 
cost or other carrying amount of such asset or liability. When the 
hedging instrument is expired or sold, terminated or exercised, or no 
longer qualifies for hedge accounting, or the forecast transaction is 
no longer expected to occur or the Group revokes the designation 
and hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. At that point 
of time, any cumulative gain or loss on the cash flow hedging 
instrument that was recognised in other comprehensive income 
from the period when the hedge was effective is transferred from 
equity to consolidated income statement when the forecasted 
transaction occurs. Where the hedged forecasted transaction 
is no longer expected to occur and affects the consolidated 
income statement, the net cumulative gain or loss recognised in 
“other comprehensive income” is transferred immediately to the 
consolidated income statement for the year.
e)  Foreign currencies
The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Saudi Arabian Riyals, which is the functional currency of the Bank 
and all its subsidiaries. Each entity in the Group determines its own 
functional currency and items included in the financial statements 
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Saudi Arabian 
Riyals at the spot rates prevailing at transaction dates. Monetary 
assets and liabilities at year-end (other than monetary items that 
form part of the net investment in a foreign operation), denominated 
in foreign currencies, are translated into Saudi Arabian Riyals at 
rates of exchange prevailing at the reporting date. The foreign 
currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between 
amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the 
year adjusted for the effective interest rate and payments during 
the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the 
exchange rate at the end of the year. All differences arising on non-
trading activities are taken to other non-operating income in the 
consolidated income statement, with the exception of differences 
on foreign currency borrowings that provide an effective hedge 
against a net investment in foreign entity.
Foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the 

following items are recognized in Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income:

(a host contract). The Group accounts for an embedded derivative 
separately from the host contract when:
•	 the host contract is not an asset in the scope of IFRS 9 / IAS 39).
•	 the terms of the embedded derivative would meet the definition 

of a derivative if they were contained in a separate contract; and
•	 the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded 

derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics 
and risks of the host contract.

Separated embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with 
all changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss unless they 
form part of a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedging 
relationship.
iii) Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in 
qualifying hedging relationships to manage exposures to interest 
rate, foreign currency, and credit risks, including exposures arising 
from highly probable forecast transactions and firm commitments. 
In order to manage particular risk, the Group applies hedge 
accounting for transactions that meet specific criteria.
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified into 
two categories: (a) fair value hedges that hedge the exposure to 
changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability (or assets 
or liabilities in case of portfolio hedging) or an unrecognised firm 
commitment or an identified portion of such an asset, liability or 
firm commitment, that is attributable to a particular risk and could 
affect the reported net gain or losses; and (b) cash flow hedges 
which hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is either 
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset 
or liability or to a highly probable forecasted transaction that 
affects the reported net gains or loss.
In order to qualify for hedge accounting, hedge should be expected 
to be highly effective, i.e. changes in the fair value or cash flows 
of the hedging instruments should effectively offset corresponding 
changes in the hedged items, and should be reliably measurable. 
At inception of the hedge, the risk management objective and 
strategy is documented including the identification of the hedging 
instrument, the related hedged item, the nature of risk being 
hedged, and how management will assess the effectiveness of 
the hedging relationship. Subsequently hedges are assessed for 
effectiveness on an on-going basis.
At each hedge effectiveness assessment date, a hedge relationship 

must be expected to be highly effective on a prospective basis and 
demonstrable that it was effective (retrospective effectiveness) 
for the designated period in order to qualify for hedge accounting. 
A formal assessment is undertaken by comparing the hedging 
instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the changes in fair value or 
cash flows attributable to the hedged risk in the hedged item, both 
at inception and at each quarter end on an ongoing basis. A hedge is 
expected to be highly effective if the changes in fair value or cash 
flows attributable to the hedged risk during the period for which 
the hedge is designated were offset by the hedging instrument in 
a range of 80% to 125% and were expected to achieve such offset 
in future periods.
Fair Value Hedges
When a derivative is designated as a hedging instrument in a fair 
value hedge relationship, any gain or loss from re-measuring the 
hedging instruments to fair value is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement together with the change in the fair value of the 
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk.
Where the fair value hedge of a commission bearing hedged item 
measured at amortized cost ceases to meet the criteria for hedge 
accounting or is sold, exercised or terminated, the difference 
between the carrying value of the hedged item on termination and 
the face value is amortised over the remaining term of the original 
hedge using the effective commission rate. If the hedged item is 
derecognised, the unamortised fair value adjustment is recognised 
immediately in the consolidated income statement.
Cash Flow Hedges
For designated and qualifying cash flow hedging, derivative 
instruments are used in a hedge of a variability in cash flows 
attributable to a particular risk  associated with  recognised asset or 
a liability or a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect 
the consolidated income statement. The portion of the gain or loss 
on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective 
portion is recognised directly in other comprehensive income and the 
ineffective portion, if any, is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement. For cash flow hedges affecting future transactions, the 
gains or losses recognised in other reserves, are transferred to the 
consolidated income statement in the same period in which the 
hedged item affects the consolidated income statement. However, 
if the Group expects that all or a portion of a loss recognized in 
other comprehensive income will not be recovered in one or more 
future periods, it shall reclassify into the consolidated income 
statement as a reclassification adjustment the amount that is not 
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Fee and commission income that are integral to the effective special 
commission rate are included in the measurement of the relevant 
assets. Fee and commission income that are not integral part of the 
effective special commission rate calculation on a financial asset 
or liability are recognised when the related service is provided as 
follows:
•	 Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are 

recognised over the period of applicable service contracts usually 
on a time proportionate basis.

•	 Fee received on asset management, wealth management, 
financial planning, custody services and other similar services 
that are provided over an extended period of time, are recognised 
over the period when the services are being provided.  

•	 Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn 
down and other credit related fees are deferred (together with 
any incremental costs) and recognised as an adjustment to 
the effective special commission rate on the loan. When a loan 
commitment is not expected to result in the draw-down of a loan, 
loan commitment fees are recognised on a straight-line basis 
over the commitment period.

•	 Other fee and commission expense relate mainly to transaction 
and service fees and are expensed as the services are received 
and are disclosed net of the related fee and commission income.

iii) Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive 
dividend is established. Dividends are reflected as a component of 
net trading income, net income from FVTPL financial instruments 
or other operating income based on the classification of the related 
equity instrument.
iv) Gains / (loss) from FVTPL financial instruments
Net income from FVIS financial instruments relates to financial 
assets and liabilities designated as FVIS and include all realised and 
unrealised fair value changes, commission, dividends and foreign 
exchange differences.
v) Trading income / (loss), net
Net income from other financial instruments at FVTPL relates to 
non-trading derivatives that do not form part of qualifying hedge 
relationships, financial assets and financial liabilities designated 
as at FVTPL and from 1 January 2018, also non-trading assets 
mandatorily measured at FVTPL. The line item includes fair value 

changes, commission, dividends and foreign exchange differences.
h) Day one profit or loss
Where the transaction price differs from the fair value of other 
observable current market transactions in the same instrument or 
based on a valuation technique whose variables include only data 
from observable markets, the Group immediately recognises the 
difference between the transaction price and fair value (a ‘Day one’ 
profit or loss) in the consolidated income statement in ‘Net trading 
income’. In cases where use is made of data which is not observable, 
the difference between the transaction price and model value is 
only recognised in the consolidated income statement when the 
inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognised.
i)  Sale and repurchase agreements
Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a 
specified future date (repos) continue to be recognised in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as the Group retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. These 
assets are continued to be measured in accordance with related 
accounting policies for investments held as FVTPL, FVOCI, other 
investments held at amortized cost. The transactions are treated 
as collateralised borrowing and counter-party liability for amounts 
received under these agreements is included in “Due to banks and 
other financial institutions” or “Customer deposits”, as appropriate.
The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as 
special commission expense and accrued over the life of the repo 
agreement on an effective special commission rate basis. Assets 
purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified 
future date (reverse repo) are not recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position, as the Group does not obtain 
control over the assets. Amounts paid under these agreements are 
included in “Cash and balances with SAMA”, “Due from banks and 
other financial institutions” or “Loans and advances”, as appropriate. 
The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as 
special commission income and accrued over the life of the reverse 
repo agreement on an effective special commission rate basis.
j)  Trade date accounting 
All ‘regular-way’ purchases and sales of financial assets are initially 
recognised and derecognised on trade date, i.e. the date that the 
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
‘Regular-way’ purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame generally 
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

•	 available-for-sale equity instruments (before 1 January 2018) 
or equity investments in respect of which an election has been 
made to present subsequent changes in fair value in Consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income (from 1 January 2018).

•	 a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment 
in a foreign operation to the extent that the hedge is effective; 
and

•	 qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that the hedge is 
effective.

Foreign exchange gains or losses from settlement of transactions 
and translation of period end monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement, except for differences that are 
deferred in other comprehensive income relating to qualifying cash 
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges to the extent 
hedges are effective. Translation gains or losses on non-monetary 
items carried at fair value are included as part of the fair value 
adjustment, unless the non-monetary items have an effective 
hedging strategy. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms 
of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
is determined.
f)  Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and reported net in the 
consolidated statement of financial position when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and when the 
Group intends to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 
Income and expenses are not offset in the consolidated income 
statement unless required or permitted by any accounting standard 
or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the accounting 
policies of the Group.
g) Revenue / expense recognition
i) Exchange income / (loss)
Exchange income / (loss) is recognised when earned / incurred, as 
discussed in the foreign currencies policy earlier.
ii) Fee and commission income
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Collateral repossessed
The Group’s accounting policy under IFRS 9 remains the same as 
it was under IAS 39. The Group’s policy is to determine whether 
a repossessed asset can be best used for its internal operations 
or should be sold. Assets determined to be useful for the internal 
operations are transferred to their relevant asset category at 
the lower of their repossessed value or the carrying value of the 
original secured asset. Assets for which selling is determined to 
be a better option are transferred to assets held for sale at their 
fair value (if financial assets) and fair value less cost to sell for 
non-financial assets at the repossession date in, line with the 
Group’s policy. In its normal course of business, the Group does not 
physically repossess properties or other assets in its retail portfolio, 
but engages external agents to recover funds, generally at auction, 
to settle outstanding debt. Any surplus funds are returned to the 
customers/obligors. As a result of this practice, the residential 
properties under legal repossession processes are not recorded on 
the consolidated statement of financial position.
o)  Property and equipment
Property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment loss. Freehold land and 
capital work in progress are not depreciated. The cost of other items 
property and equipment is depreciated / amortised on the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 33 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of lease period 
or economic useful life i.e 5 years

Furniture and fixtures, computer 
hardware and software and motor 
vehicles

3 to 10 years

Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by changing 
the period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes 
in accounting estimates. The residual values and useful lives 
of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included 
in the consolidated income statement. All assets are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable and the 
carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount.

A contract that requires or permits net settlement of the change in 
the value of the contract is not a regular way contract. Instead, such 
a contract is accounted for as a derivative in the period between the 
trade date and the settlement date.
k)  Impairment of non–financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an 
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists, 
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash–generating 
units (CGU) fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Where 
the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable 
amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to 
its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining 
fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is 
used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, 
quoted share prices for publicly traded entities or other available 
fair value indicators.
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each 
reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s 
or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that 
the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable 
amount, nor exceeds the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised 
in the consolidated income statement. Impairment loss recognized 
against the goodwill is not reversed subsequently.
l) Provisions for liabilities and charges
The Group receives legal claims in the normal course of business. 
Management has made judgments, as to the likelihood of any 
claim succeeding, in making provisions. The time of concluding 
legal claims is uncertain, as is the amount of possible outflow of 
economic benefits. Timing and cost ultimately depends on the due 
process being followed as per law.

m) End of service benefits
The benefits payable to the employees of the Group at the end 
their services are accrued on actuarial valuation in accordance with 
Saudi Arabian Labour Laws. Net obligation, with respect to end 
of service benefits, to the Group is reviewed by using a projected 
unit credit method. The assumptions used to calculate the scheme 
obligations include assumptions such as expected future salaries 
growth, expected employee resignation rates, and discount rate to 
discount the future cash flows. Benefits payable to the employees 
are included in other liabilities in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.
n)  Other real estate
The Group, in the ordinary course of business, acquires certain real 
estate against settlement of due loans and advances. Such real 
estate assets are considered as assets held for sale and are initially 
stated at the lower of net realisable value of due loans and advances 
and the current fair value of the related properties, less any costs 
to sell (if material). No depreciation is charged on such real estate 
assets. Rental income from other real estate is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
any subsequent write down to fair value, less costs to sell, are 
charged to the consolidated income statement. Any subsequent 
revaluation gain in the fair value less costs to sell these assets 
to the extent this does not exceed the cumulative write down is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement.  Gains or losses 
on disposal are recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Collateral valuation
To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Group seeks 
to use collateral, where possible. The collateral comes in various 
forms, such as cash, securities, letters of credit/guarantees, real 
estate, receivables, inventories, other non-financial assets and 
credit enhancements such as netting agreements. The Group’s 
accounting policy for collateral assigned to it through its lending 
arrangements under IFRS 9 is the same as it was under IAS 39. 
Collateral, unless repossessed, is not recorded on the Group’s 
consolidated statement of financial position. However, the fair value 
of collateral affects the calculation of ECLs. It is generally assessed, 
at a minimum, at inception and re-assessed on a periodic basis. 
However, some collateral, for example, cash or securities relating 
to margin requirements, is valued daily. To the extent possible, the 
Group uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as 
collateral. Non-financial collateral, such as real estate, is valued 
based on data provided by third parties such as mortgage brokers.
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use of the underlying asset is diminished, another systematic basis. 
When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has 
expired, any penalty required to be paid to the lessor is recognised 
as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.
t)  Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, “cash 
and cash equivalents” include notes and coins on hand, balances with 
SAMA excluding statutory deposit, and due from banks and other 
financial institutions with original maturity of three months or less 
which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value.
u)  Share based plan transactions
The Group’s share plan is classified as an equity settled plan. The 
fair value of shares which the Group expects will eventually vest 
is determined at the grant date and is expensed on a straight line 
basis over the vesting period with corresponding increase in share 
based plan reserve. Details regarding the plan and determination 
of the fair value are set out in note 36. At each reporting date, 
management revises its estimates of the number of equity 
instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the 
original estimates, if any, is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement over the remaining vesting period, with a corresponding 
adjustment to the share base plan reserve.
v)  Short term employee benefits
Short term employee benefits are measured on an undiscounted 
basis and is expensed as the related service is provided. A liability 
is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short 
term cash bonus or profit sharing plans if the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of 
past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.
w)  Zakat and income tax
The Group recognizes a liability for Zakat and tax on a quarterly 
basis. Zakat and income tax is charged to retained earnings. 
Zakat and tax is calculated based on the Zakat and tax rules and 
regulations in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Zakat is computed 
based on equity or net income using the basis defined under the 
Zakat regulations.
x) Investment management services
The Group offers investment services to its customers through 
its subsidiary AI. The services include the management of certain 

investment funds in consultation with professional investment 
advisors. The Group’s share of investment in these funds is included 
in the FVTPL investments and fees earned are disclosed under 
related party transactions. Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary 
capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are 
not included in the consolidated financial statements. 
y) Non-special commission based banking products
In addition to conventional banking, the Group also offers its 
customers certain non-special commission based banking products, 
which are approved by its independent Shariah Board, as follows:
All non-special commission based banking products are included 
in loans and advances, customers’ deposits and due from and to 
banks and other financial institutions and are in conformity with 
the related accounting policies described in these consolidated 
financial statements. 
Brief description of non-special commission based banking 
products:
(i) Murabaha
is an agreement whereby the Group sells to a customer a commodity 
or an asset, which the Group has purchased and acquired based 
on a promise received from the customer to buy. The selling price 
comprises the cost plus an agreed profit margin.
(ii) Ijarah
is an agreement whereby the Group, acting as a lessor, purchases 
or constructs an asset for lease according to the customer request 
(lessee), based on his promise to lease the asset for an agreed rent 
and specific period that could end by transferring the ownership of 
the leased asset to the lessee.
(iii) Musharaka
is an agreement between the Group and a customer to contribute 
to a certain investment enterprise or the ownership of a certain 
property ending up with the acquisition by the customer of the 
full ownership. The profit or loss is shared as per the terms of the 
agreement.
(iv) Tawaruq
is a form of Murabaha transactions where the Group purchases 
a commodity and sells it to the customer. The customer sells 
the underlying commodity at spot and uses the proceeds for his 
financing requirements.                                     

p)  Financial Liabilities
All money market deposits, customer deposits, term loans, 
subordinated debts and other debt securities in issue are initially 
recognised at fair value less transaction costs. Financial liabilities at 
FVTPL are recognised initially at fair value and transaction costs are 
taken directly to the consolidated statement of income. Subsequently 
all commission-bearing financial liabilities other than those held 
at FVTPL or where fair values have been hedged are measured at 
amortised cost. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium. Premiums are amortised and discounts 
accreted on an effective yield basis to maturity and taken to special 
commission expense. For financial liabilities carried at amortised 
cost, any gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
income when derecognised. Financial liabilities classified as FVTPL, if 
any, include (i) liabilities held for trading and (ii) liabilities designated 
as FVTPL on initial recognition. After initial recognition, these 
liabilities are measured at fair value and the resulting gain or loss is 
included in the consolidated statement of income.
Financial liabilities in an effective fair value hedge relationship 
are adjusted for fair value changes to the extent of the risk being 
hedged. The resultant gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of income.
q)  Provisions
Provisions are recognised when management can reliably estimate 
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events 
and it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation.
r)  Contingent assets
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events 
and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the entity. Contingent asset is recognized in 
the consolidated financial statements when it becomes virtually 
certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise.
s)  Accounting for leases
Leases entered into by the Group as a lessee are all operating leases. 
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying 
asset. Otherwise a lease is classified as an operating lease. A lessor 
recognises operating lease payments as income on a straight-line 
basis or, if more representative of the pattern in which benefit from 
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4) CASH AND BALANCES WITH SAMA

2018 2017
Cash in hand 978,844 876,270
Current accounts 51,419 145,524
Balances with SAMA:
 - Statutory deposit 3,491,775 4,106,211
 - Reverse repo with SAMA (note 29) 368,000 10,009,000
Total 4,890,038 15,137,005

In accordance with the requirements of the Banking Control Law and Regulations issued by SAMA, the Group is required to maintain a statutory deposit with SAMA at stipulated percentages of its demand, savings, 
time and other deposits, calculated at the end of each month. The statutory deposit with SAMA is  not available to finance the Group’s day-to-day operations and therefore does not form part of cash and cash 
equivalents (note 27). 

5) DUE FROM BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS, NET

2018 2017
Current accounts 674,985 914,899
Money market placements 441,071 1,200,372
Less: Impairment allowance for credit losses )44( -     
Total 1,116,012 2,115,271

The credit quality of due from banks and other financial institutions is managed using credit ratings from reputable external credit rating agencies. The table below shows the credit quality of balances due from banks 
and other financial institutions.

2018 2017
Investment grade (credit rating AAA to BBB-) 1,107,257 2,103,319
Unrated 8,755 11,952
Total 1,116,012 2,115,271
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6) INVESTMENTS, NET

a) Investments are classified as follows:

2018 2017
Investment at amortized cost 15,755,580 -     
Other investments held at amortized cost (2017) -    16,301,124
Investments at FVOCI – Equity investments 4,330 -    
Available for sale investments (2017) -    327,472
Investment at FVTPL 313,263 -    
Held to maturity investments (2017) -   60,151
Less: Impairment allowance for credit losses )4,635( -    

16,068,538 16,688,747

b) Breakdown of Investments by type of securities is as follows:

Domestic International Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017

Fixed rate securities 7,997,076 8,000,584 38,120 38,223 8,035,196 8,038,807
Floating rate securities 7,342,506 7,866,823 544,752 625,440 7,887,258 8,492,263
Mutual funds 146,389 153,347  - - 146,389 153,347
Equities 4,330 4,330 - - 4,330 4,330
Less: Impairment allowance for credit losses )4,590( - )45( - )4,635( -
Total 15,485,711 16,025,084 582,827 663,663 16,068,538 16,688,747

The impairment allowance related to debt instruments carried at amortized cost amounts to SAR 4.6 million (2017: SAR nil).

c) The analysis of the composition of investments is as follows:

2018 2017
Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unquoted Total

Fixed rate securities 242,338 7,792,858 8,035,196 242,306 7,796,501 8,038,807
Floating rate securities 242,953 7,644,305 7,887,258 325,189 8,167,074 8,492,263
Mutual funds 146,389 - 146,389 153,347 - 153,347
Equities - 4,330 4,330 - 4,330 4,330

631,680 15,441,493 16,073,173 720,842 15,967,905 16,688,747

Less: Impairment allowance for credit losses )325( )4,310( )4,635( - - -
Total 631,355 15,437,183 16,068,538 720,842 15,967,905 16,688,747
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Unquoted securities principally comprise of Saudi Government Bonds and floating rate notes.

d) The analysis of investments by counter-party is as follows:

2018 2017
Government and quasi-government 13,552,283 13,552,992
Corporates 1,676,186 1,907,080
Banks and other financial institutions 689,350 1,070,998
Others 150,719 157,677
Total 16,068,538 16,688,747

Investments held at amortized cost amounting to SAR nil (2017: SAR 8 million) are pledged under repurchase agreements with customers. The market value of these investments is SAR nil (2017: SAR 8 million). 

e) Credit risk exposures of investments

2018 2017

Investments
at FVOCI

Investment
at FVTPL

 Investment  at
amortized cost Total Available for sale Held to maturity

 Other investments
 held at

amortized cost
Total

Saudi Sovereign bonds - - 12,035,644 12,035,644 - - 12,031,861 12,031,861
Investment grade securities - 166,874 2,429,688 2,596,562 - 60,151 2,922,332 2,982,483
Unrated securities - - 1,285,613 1,285,613 169,795 - 1,346,931 1,516,726
Total credit risk exposure of investments - 166,874 15,750,945 15,917,819 169,795 60,151 16,301,124 16,531,070
Equities and mutual funds 4,330 146,389 - 150,719 157,677 - - 157,677
Total  4,330 313,263 15,750,945 16,068,538 327,472 60,151 16,301,124 16,688,747

Investment grade securities includes those investments having an external agency ratings of AAA to BBB-. Where specific bonds are not rated, but the issuer of the bond has been rated, issuer ratings have been used. 
Bonds falling in this category amounted to SAR 2.2 billion (2017: SAR 2.1 billion). Investments under life time ECL not credit impaired at December 31, 2018 amounted to SAR 75.9 million.

7) LOANS AND ADVANCES, NET

a) Loans and advances held at amortised cost

2018 Credit cards Consumer loans Commercial loans and overdrafts Total
Performing loans and advances, gross 363,485 16,468,409 42,349,952 59,181,846
Non performing loans and advances, net 17,511 283,314 2,178,957 2,479,782
Total loans and advances 380,996 16,751,723 44,528,909 61,661,628
Impairment allowance for credit losses )53,106( )366,505( )3,474,894( )3,894,505(
Total loans and advances, net 327,890 16,385,218 41,054,015 57,767,123
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2017 Credit cards Consumer loans Commercial loans and
overdrafts Total

Performing loans and advances, gross 380,945 18,248,471 45,797,325 64,426,741
Non performing loans and advances, net 15,269 145,647 1,824,688 1,985,604
Total loans and advances 396,214 18,394,118 47,622,013 66,412,345
Impairment allowance for credit losses )15,590( )281,279( )2,475,993( )2,772,862(
Total loans and advances, net 380,624 18,112,839 45,146,020 63,639,483

b) Movements in impairment allowance for credit losses:

2018 Notes Credit cards Consumer loans Commercial loans and
overdrafts Total

Impairment allowance as at January 1, 2018 under IAS 39 15,590 281,279 2,475,993 2,772,862
Amounts re-stated through opening retained earnings 41,062 104,873 200,420 346,355
Impairment allowance as at January 1, 2018 under IFRS 9 56,652 386,152 2,676,413 3,119,217

Provided during the year 7b )1( 45,121 179,601 1,348,271 1,572,993
Recoveries of amounts previously provided 7b )1( - - )17,735( )17,735(
Impairment allowance against indirect exposure 
transferred to other liabilities 15 - - )16,584( )16,584(

45,121 179,601 1,313,952 1,538,674
Bad debts written off )48,667( )199,248( )515,471( )763,386(
Balance at end of the year 53,106 366,505 3,474,894 3,894,505

2017 Notes Credit cards Consumer loans Commercial loans and
overdrafts Total

Balance at beginning of the year 21,770 326,305 1,804,165 2,152,240
Provided during the year 7b )1( 38,628 146,475 1,019,013 1,204,116
Recoveries of amounts previously provided 7b )1( - - )7,746( )7,746(
Impairment allowance against indirect exposure 
transferred to other liabilities 15 - - )28,575( )28,575(

38,628 146,475 982,692 1,167,795
Bad debts written-off )44,808( )191,501( )310,864( )547,173(
Balance at end of the year 15,590 281,279 2,475,993 2,772,862
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7 b (i) Impairment charge for credit and other losses, net

2018 2017
Impairment charge for credit and others losses, net 1,572,993 1,204,116
Less: Reversal of impairment charge for other assets )149,908( -     
 Recoveries of amounts previously provided )17,735( )7,746(
 Recoveries of amounts previously written-off )237,874( )76,071(
Total impairment charge for credit and other losses, net 1,167,476 1,120,299

c) Credit quality of loans and advances

i)  Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired

The Group has categorised the loans and advances portfolio that is neither past due nor impaired into three sub categories according to its internal rating system, i.e. strong, satisfactory and watch.

Loans and advances under the strong category are performing, have sound fundamental characteristics and include those that exhibit characteristics that are expected to allow them to weather adverse business, 
financial or economic conditions without materially impairing the obligor’s ability to meet its commitments.

Loans and advances under the satisfactory category are loans where borrowers are capable to meet their financial obligations and are expected to remain able to do so in the medium term. However, unexpected 
adverse business, financial or economic conditions could impair the obligor’s ability to meet its commitments in future.

The watch category includes loans and advances that are performing, generally current and up-to date in terms of principal and special commission payments. However, the obligors require close management 
attention as their ability to meet their financial commitments has deteriorated and currently exhibits vulnerability to default or non-payment.  Such borrowers may be dependent upon more favorable business, 
financial, and economic conditions to meet their financial commitments in full and on time.

2018 Credit cards Consumer loans Commercial loans and
overdrafts Total

Strong - - 5,466,153 5,466,153
Satisfactory 328,093 15,388,062 31,512,761 47,228,916
Watch - - 3,391,423 3,391,423
Total 328,093 15,388,062 40,370,337 56,086,492

2017 Credit cards Consumer loans Commercial loans and
overdrafts Total

Strong - - 6,904,034 6,904,034
Satisfactory 346,320 17,598,009 36,745,284 54,689,613
Watch - - 1,958,400 1,958,400
Total 346,320 17,598,009 45,607,718 63,552,047

ii) Ageing of past due but not impaired loans and advances

2018 Credit cards Consumer loans Commercial loans and
overdrafts Total

Up to 30 days 20,630 810,887 550,979 1,382,496
From 31 days to 90 days 14,762 269,460 172,340 456,562
Above 90 days - - 1,256,296 1,256,296
Total 35,392 1,080,347 1,979,615 3,095,354
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2017 Credit cards Consumer loans Commercial loans and
overdrafts Total

Up to 30 days 25,323 506,958 93,449 625,730
From 31 days to 90 days 9,302 143,504 18,421 171,227
Above 90 days - - 77,737 77,737
Total 34,625 650,462 189,607 874,694

Past due but not impaired loans provided above comprise of total loan values except for commercial loans and overdraft which comprise overdue instalment amounts. Commercial loans and overdraft total loans and 
advances past due but not impaired amounted to SAR 5,598.93 million (2017: SAR 1,655.98 million).
d) Economic sector risk concentration for loans and advances and allowances for impairment of credit losses are as follows:

2018 Performing Non performing, net Impairment allowance for credit 
losses Loans and advances, net

Government and quasi-government 931,325 - - 931,325
Banks and other financial institutions 1,241,641 - )2,163( 1,239,478
Agriculture and fishing 761,030 303 )63,956( 697,377
Manufacturing 9,901,872 268,594 )913,002( 9,257,464
Electricity, water, gas and health services 1,321,130 50,087 )51,796( 1,319,421
Building and construction 8,054,835 1,338,913 )1,744,635( 7,649,113
Commerce 12,149,419 448,492 )535,872( 12,062,039
Transportation and communication 2,529,592 -   )15,046( 2,514,546
Services 2,879,493 52,127 )80,257( 2,851,363
Consumer loans and credit cards 16,831,894 300,825 )419,612( 16,713,107
Others 2,579,615 20,441 )68,166( 2,531,890
Total 59,181,846 2,479,782 )3,894,505( 57,767,123

2017 Performing Non performing, net Impairment allowance for credit 
losses Loans and advances, net

Government and quasi-government 1,003,218 - - 1,003,218
Banks and other financial institutions 1,125,709 - - 1,125,709
Agriculture and fishing 751,622 304 )304( 751,622
Manufacturing 10,401,382 374,748 )374,748( 10,401,382
Electricity, water, gas and health services 1,406,932 7,193 )7,193( 1,406,932
Building and construction 8,943,814 909,639 )709,607( 9,143,846
Commerce 13,330,292 454,562 )432,245( 13,352,609
Transportation and communication 2,475,835 7,654 )7,654( 2,475,835
Services 3,404,209 68,413 )68,413( 3,404,209
Consumer loans and credit cards 18,629,416 160,916 )104,276( 18,686,056
Others 2,954,312 2,175 )2,175( 2,954,312

64,426,741 1,985,604 )1,706,615( 64,705,730
Portfolio Impairment allowance - - )1,066,247( )1,066,247(
Total 64,426,741 1,985,604 )2,772,862( 63,639,483

Loans and advances include Islamic products amounting to SAR 39 billion (2017: SAR 43 billion).
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e) Collateral

The Group, in the ordinary course of its lending activities holds collaterals to mitigate the associated credit risk. These mostly consists of time, demand and other cash deposits, financial guarantees, local and international 
equities, real estate and other fixed assets. Collaterals are mainly held against commercial and consumer loans and are managed against relevant exposures at their net realisable value. Total collateral fair value amounted 
to SAR 23.6 billion (2017: SAR 26.2 billion).

f) An analysis of credit quality of loans and advances is as follows:

 month ECL 12 Life time ECL not
credit impaired

Lifetime ECL
 credit impaired Total

Strong 5,466,101 - -    5,466,101
Satisfactory 38,568,956 11,093,451                    -    49,662,407
Watch list -               4,053,338                    -                  4,053,338
Non-performing - - 2,479,782 2,479,782
Gross Loans 44,035,057 15,146,789 2,479,782 61,661,628
Impairment allowance for credit losses )198,986( )1,644,731( )2,050,788( )3,894,505(
Carrying amount 43,836,071 13,502,058 428,994 57,767,123

g) An analysis of changes in impairment allowance for loans and advances is as follows:	

 month ECL 12 Life time ECL not
credit impaired

Lifetime ECL
 credit impaired Total

Impairment allowance as at January 1, 2018 220,014 1,155,890 1,743,313 3,119,217
Transfers to 12 month ECL 12,899 )12,899( - - 
Transfers to life time ECL not credit impaired )8,901( 8,901 - - 
Transfers to life time ECL credit impaired - )100,919( 100,919 - 
Net change for the year (note 7 b) )25,026( 593,758 969,942 1,538,674
Write-offs - - )763,386( )763,386(
Impairment allowance as at December 31, 2018 198,986  1,644,731 2,050,788 3,894,505

Movement in retail ECL has been presented on a net basis.

8) INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

2018 2017

Balance at beginning of the year 45,507 35,697

Share in earning of an associate 8,255 9,810

Balance at end of the year 53,762 45,507

Investment in an associate represents a 20% (2017: 20%) shareholding in Wataniya Insurance Company (WIC) formed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, pursuant to Royal Decree No. M/53 dated Shawwal 21, 1430H (corresponding to October 10, 2009).
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9) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property and equipment details are as follows:

2018 Land and
buildings

Leasehold 
improvements Softwares Computer 

hardware
Furniture / 

fixtures
Motor 

vehicles
Capital work in 
progress (CWIP) Total

Cost:
Balance at beginning of the   year 805,371 408,584 738,413 500,442 341,841 5,351 123,472 2,923,474
Additions during the year - - - - - - 94,971 94,971
Disposal during the year - - - - - )472( - )472(
Transfers from CWIP during the year 25,621 12,628 48,282 4,546 20,454 - )111,531( -
Balance at end of the year 830,992 421,212 786,695 504,988 362,295 4,879 106,912 3,017,973

Accumulated depreciation / amortisation:
Balance at beginning of the year 71,853 306,769 527,426 440,656 225,016 4,745 - 1,576,465
Charge for the year 5,869 20,604 83,957 28,185 34,522 155 - 173,292
Disposal during the year - - - - - )423( - )423(
Balance at end of the year 77,722 327,373 611,383 468,841 259,538 4,477 - 1,749,334
Net book value as at December 31, 2018 753,270 93,839 175,312 36,147 102,757 402 106,912 1,268,639

2017 Land and
buildings

Leasehold 
improvements Softwares Computer 

hardware
Furniture / 

fixtures
Motor 

vehicles
Capital work in 
progress (CWIP) Total

Cost:
Balance at beginning of the    year 783,825 317,715 635,707 422,406 282,304 5,351 244,989 2,692,297
Additions during the year - - - - - - 231,177 231,177
Transfers from CWIP during the year 21,546 90,869 102,706 78,036 59,537 - )352,694( -
Balance at end of the year 805,371 408,584 738,413 500,442 341,841 5,351 123,472 2,923,474

Accumulated depreciation / amortisation:
Balance at beginning of the    year 59,861 291,441 448,564 413,696 193,357 4,355 - 1,411,274
Charge for the year 11,992 15,328 78,862 26,960 31,659 390 - 165,191
Balance at end of the year 71,853 306,769 527,426 440,656 225,016 4,745 - 1,576,465

Net book value as at December 31, 2017 733,518 101,815 210,987 59,786 116,825 606 123,472 1,347,009
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10) OTHER ASSETS

As at December 31, 2018, other assets include an amount of US 
dollar 116.9 million equivalent to SAR 438 million (2017: US dollar 
116.9 million) plus accrued interest, which was disbursed to a third 
party who defaulted on repayment. The management expected 
to recover this balance from its related party under a settlement 
agreement (the “existing settlement agreement”).  Due to 
uncertainty around the timing of recoverability of this balance, an 
impairment allowance of SAR 150 million was maintained against 
the outstanding balance until September 30, 2018. On October 3, 
2018, the Group entered into three settlement agreements (the 
“new settlement agreements”) with its related parties replacing 
the existing settlement agreement. Based on recent developments, 
management reassessed the recoverability of the above balance 
and reversed the impairment allowance of SAR 150 million during 
the last quarter of 2018.

The conditional settlement agreement also includes an additional 
claim amounting to SAR 656.25 million along with accrued interest 
which is currently not being recognised in these consolidated 
financial statements.	

11) DERIVATIVES

In the ordinary course of business, the Group utilises the following 
derivative financial instruments for both trading and hedging 
purposes:						

a)  Swaps

Swaps are commitments to exchange one set of cash flows for 
another. For commission rate swaps, counterparties generally 
exchange fixed and floating rate commission payments in a 
single currency without exchanging principal. For cross-currency 
commission rate swaps, principal and fixed and floating commission 
payments are exchanged in different currencies.

b)  Forwards and futures	

Forwards and futures are contractual agreements to either buy 
or sell a specified currency, commodity or financial instrument at 
a specified price and date in the future. Forwards are customised 
contracts transacted in the over-the-counter market. Foreign 
currency and commission rate futures are transacted in standardised 
amounts on regulated exchanges and changes in futures contract 
values are settled daily. 

c)  Forward-rate agreements	

Forward-rate agreements are individually negotiated commission 
rate contracts that call for a cash settlement of the difference 
between a contracted commission rate and the market rate on a 
specified future date on a notional principal for an agreed period 
of time.

d)  Options

Options are contractual agreements under which the seller (writer) 
grants the purchaser (holder) the right, but not the obligation, to 
either buy or sell at a fixed future date or at any time during a 
specified period a specified amount of a currency, commodity or 
financial instrument at a pre-determined price.

Derivatives held for trading purposes	

Most of the Group’s derivative trading activities relate to sales, 
positioning and arbitrage. Sales activities involve offering products 
to customers and banks in order to inter alia, enable them to 
transfer, modify or reduce current and future risks. Positioning 
involves managing market risk positions with the expectation of 
profiting from favourable movements in prices, rates or indices. 
Arbitrage involves identifying price differentials between markets 
or products with the expectation of profiting.

Derivatives held for hedging purposes	

The Group has adopted a comprehensive process for the 
measurement and management of risk. Part of the risk management 
process involves managing the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in 
foreign exchange and special commission rates to acceptable levels 

as determined by the Board of Directors and management. The 
Board of Directors has established risk appetite for market risks 
including currency and special commission rate risk.  Management, 
through the Bank’s Asset and Liability Committee, have established 
a framework of limits to ensure that risk is maintained within 
the appetite set by the Board. As part of its asset and liability 
management process, positions are monitored regularly and the 
Group uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to adjust 
its exposure to currency and special commission rate risks. This 
is generally achieved by hedging specific transactions. The Group 
uses commission rate swaps to hedge against the commission 
rate risk arising from specifically identified fixed commission rate 
exposures. The Group also uses commission rate swaps to hedge 
against the cash flow risk arising on certain floating-rate exposures. 
In all such cases, the hedging relationship and objective, including 
details of the hedged items and hedging instrument, are formally 
documented and the transactions are accounted for as fair value or 
cash flow hedges.

Cash flow hedges	

The Group is exposed to variability in future commission cash flows 
on non-trading assets and liabilities which bear commission at a 
variable rate. The Group uses commission rate swaps as cash flow 
hedges of these commission rate risks. The Group is also exposed 
to foreign exchange and commission rate risks which are hedged 
with cross currency commission rate swaps. Below is the schedule 
indicating as at 31 December, the periods when the hedged cash 
flows are expected to occur and when they are expected to affect 
the consolidated income statement:			

Within 1 year

2018 2017

Cash inflows (assets) 4,876 8,366

Cash out flows (liabilities) )4,865( )14,569(

Net cash flows 11 )6,203(
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The schedule reflects special commission income cash flows expected to arise on the hedged items in cash flow hedges based on the repricing profile of the hedged assets and liabilities.

Derivative financial instruments 2018 Positive
 fair value

Negative
 fair value

Notional amount 
total

Notional amounts by maturity Monthly
averageWithin three months 3-12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years

Held for trading:
Special commission rate swaps 93,561 44,504 22,554,743 833,833 3,902,669 16,645,897 1,172,344 25,819,887
Foreign exchange and commodity forward 
contracts 5,421 4,216 2,797,987 2,266,963 456,024 75,000 - 6,637,188

Currency and commodity options 6,619 6,394 5,767,393 1,219,643 3,277,886 1,269,864 - 7,016,431
Special commission rate options 4,506 1,972 1,807,893 - - 832,893 975,000 1,938,032
Held as fair value hedges:
Special commission rate swaps - 4 37,515 - 37,515 - - 37,515
Held as cash flow hedges:
Special commission rate swaps - 3 1,095,000 1,095,000 - - - 1,534,584
Total 110,107 57,093 34,060,531 5,415,439 7,674,094 18,823,654 2,147,344
Fair values of netting arrangements 623,715 623,715
Fair values before netting 733,822 680,808

Derivative financial instruments 2017 Positive
 fair value

Negative
 fair value

Notional amount 
total

Notional amounts by maturity Monthly
averageWithin three months 3-12 months 1-5 years Over 5 years

Held for trading:
Special commission rate swaps 125,130 53,192 31,843,039 864,120 3,791,360 24,713,833 2,473,726 29,836,618
Foreign exchange and commodity forward 
contracts 59,419 29,916 11,062,273 7,146,516 3,560,189 355,568 - 14,372,492

Currency and commodity options 20,208 3,765 6,179,525 2,854,363 3,230,053 95,109 - 12,848,144
Special commission rate options 7,461 3,871 2,121,768 - - - 2,121,768 2,242,809
Held as fair value hedges:
Special commission rate swaps - 366 37,500 - - 37,500 - 37,502
Held as cash flow hedges:
Special commission rate swaps - 569 4,196,137 4,196,137 - - - 2,598,801
Total 212,218 91,679 55,440,242 15,061,136 10,581,602 25,202,010 4,595,494
Fair values of netting arrangements 843,727 843,727
Fair values before netting 1,055,945 935,406
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The net fair value of the derivatives is SAR 53.01 million (2017: SAR 120.54 million).
The tables below shows a summary of hedged items, its fair value, the nature of the risk being hedged and hedging instrument:

Description 2018
Hedged items

Fair value Hedge inception value Risk Hedging instruments

Fixed special commission rate investments 38,479 37,504 Fair value Special commission rate swaps

Fixed special commission rate deposits 1,102,538 1,098,688 Cash flow Special commission rate swaps

Description 2017
Hedged items

Fair value Hedge inception value Risk Hedging instruments

Fixed special commission rate investments 40,249 37,504 Fair value Special commission rate swaps

Fixed special commission rate deposits 3,035,372 3,026,186 Cash flow Special commission rate swaps

The net gains on the hedging instruments held for fair value hedge are SAR 0.36 million (2017: SAR 0.56 million).
Approximately 68% (2017: 26%) of the positive fair value of the Group’s derivatives are entered into with financial institutions and less than 19% (2017: 9%) of the total positive fair value of the derivatives are with 
any single counterparty at the reporting date. Derivative activities are carried out by the Group’s treasury segment. Margins placed with and received from counter parties for derivative instruments amounted to SAR 
33.94 million and SAR 13.01 million (2017: SAR 38.06 million and SAR 23.21 million), respectively.

12) DUE TO BANKS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2018 2017

Current accounts 328,285 422,838

Money market deposits 1,203,531 2,921,833

Total 1,531,816 3,344,671

13) CUSTOMERS’ DEPOSITS

2018 2017

Time 35,048,023 47,387,509

Demand 28,063,408 29,370,600

Saving 357,082 403,046

Others 1,104,200 1,113,808

Total 64,572,713 78,274,963

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 
31 December 2018



87Alawwal bank Annual Report 2018

Time deposits include:

2018 2017

 i)   Deposits against repurchase agreements with customers - 8,000

ii)  Islamic deposits 27,017,264 28,177,231

Customers' deposits include SAR 822 million (2017: SAR 815 million) of margins held for irrevocable commitments and other non-special commission based deposits amounting to SAR 29 billion (2017: SAR 30 billion).  
Foreign currency deposits at December 31 are as follows:								

2018 2017

Time 2,766,179 5,331,353

Demand 2,036,134 2,494,703

Saving 23,231 26,877

Others 60,105 79,640

Total 4,885,649 7,932,573

14) SUBORDINATED DEBT

Subordinated debt represents the following debt security:

Issued on December 12, 2013:  	

The Group issued SAR 2,500 million unsecured subordinated Tier II Sukuk which was due in 2023. The Group exercised the option of early redemption of these certificates at their redemption amount in December 2018. 
The commission rate paid on the above averaged 6 months SIBOR plus 155 basis points (2016: 6 months SIBOR plus 155 basis points). All the required approvals from regulatory authorities were obtained for the purpose 
of redemptions.								

The Group has not defaulted on any principal or commission repayments and there have been no breaches with regard to above debt security during 2018 or 2017.

15) OTHER LIABILITIES

2018 2017

Accrued expenses and accounts payable 1,482,283 1,486,783

Allowances for indirect facilities (note 7 b and note 3) 192,834 95,395

Others 331,066 471,617

Total 2,006,183 2,053,795
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16) SHARE CAPITAL

The authorised, issued and fully paid share capital consists of 1,143.07 million shares of SAR 10 each (2017: 1,143.07 million shares of SAR 10 each).
The ownership of the Bank’s share capital is as follows:

Percentage 2018 2017

Saudi shareholders 60% 6,858,432 6,858,432

Royal Bank of Scotland N.V. (formerly known as ABN AMRO Bank N.V.) 40% 4,572,288 4,572,288

Total 100% 11,430,720 11,430,720

17) STATUTORY RESERVE

In accordance with Saudi Arabian Banking Control Law and the By-Laws of the Bank, a minimum of 25% of the annual net income is required to be transferred to a statutory reserve until this reserve equals the paid up 
share capital of  the Bank. Accordingly, SAR 282.61 million  (2017: SAR 333.88 million) has been transferred from retained earnings to the statutory reserve.

18) OTHER RESERVES

2018 2017

Available for sale Cash flow hedges Available for sale Cash flow hedges

Balance at beginning of the year 12,448 681 40,868 279

Impact on available for sale reserve on adoption of IFRS9 at January 1, 2018 )12,448( - - -

Net changes in fair value - )644( )4,060( 402

Net amounts transferred to consolidated income statement - - )24,360( -

Balance at end of the year - 37 12,448 681

19) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

a)  Legal proceedings

As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were certain legal proceedings outstanding against the Group that arose in the normal course of business. No additional provision was raised during the current or prior years, 
as professional legal advice indicates that it is not probable that any further losses will arise with respect to these proceedings. 
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b) Capital commitments	

The Group has capital commitments of SAR 29.9 million (2017: SAR 40.6 million) in respect of leasehold improvements and computer hardware and software purchases. 

c) Credit related commitments and contingencies		

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to customers as required.								      

Letters of guarantees and stand-by letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Group will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same 
credit risk as loans and advances. Cash requirements under guarantees and standby letters of credit are considerably less than the amount of the commitment because the Group does not generally expect the third party 
to draw the full funds under the agreement.								

Documentary letters of credit are written undertakings by the Group on behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Group up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions and are 
generally collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate and therefore, have significantly less risk.								

Acceptances comprise undertakings by the Group to pay bills of exchange drawn on customers. The Group expects most acceptances to be presented before being reimbursed by the customers.			 

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit represent the unused portion of authorisations to extend credit, principally in the form of loans and advances, guarantees and letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on 
commitments to extend credit, the Group is potentially exposed to a loss of an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss, is expected to be considerably less than the total unused 
commitment as most commitments to extend credit are contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The total outstanding commitments to extend credit do not necessarily represent future cash 
requirements as many of the commitments could expire or terminate without being funded.								

i) The contractual maturities of the Group’s commitments and contingencies are as follows:

2018 Within 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

Letters of guarantee 1,401,765 7,725,482 6,925,266 210,780 16,263,293

Letters of credit 1,648,898 2,271,870 238,210 350 4,159,328

Acceptances 775,402 353,725 1,778 - 1,130,905

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit 175 - 36,771 1,062,183 1,099,129

Total 3,826,240 10,351,077 7,202,025 1,273,313 22,652,655

2017 Within 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

Letters of guarantee 1,556,321 9,442,183 5,931,634 212,303 17,142,441

Letters of credit 2,770,839 2,263,983 240,588 - 5,275,410

Acceptances 1,192,645 533,982 8,276 - 1,734,903

Irrevocable commitments to extend credit - 32,008 72,856 1,907,338 2,012,202

Total 5,519,805 12,272,156 6,253,354 2,119,641 26,164,956

Outstanding and unused portion of commitments that can be revoked unilaterally at any time by the Group amounts to SAR 25.3 billion (2017: SAR 28.6 billion).
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ii) Commitments and contingencies by counterparty are as follows:

2018 2017
Government and quasi-government 82,066 101,987
Corporate 18,189,631 21,495,747
Banks and other financial institutions 3,963,996 4,137,773
Other 416,962 429,449
Total 22,652,655 26,164,956

d) Operating lease commitments

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases where the Group is a lessee are as follows:

2018 2017
Less than 1 year 21,987 19,849
1 to 5 years 37,244 39,989
Over 5 years 19,981 5,459
Total 79,212 65,297

20) SPECIAL COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSE

Special commission income on: 

Investments: 2018 2017
 FVOCI / Available for sale (2017) 5,472 7,029
 Amortised cost / Held to maturity (2017) 399,553 351,473

405,025 358,502
 Due from banks and other financial institutions 78,481 82,114
 Loans and advances 3,271,770 3,462,673
Total 3,755,276 3,903,289

Special commission expense on:

2018 2017
 Due to banks and other financial institutions 7,168 16,144
 Customers’ deposits 898,335 986,320
 Subordinated debt 95,067 135,063
Total 1,000,570 1,137,527
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21) FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME, NET

Fee and commission income from: 2018 2017

  Corporate finance and advisory 196,992 261,641

  Trade finance 248,588 266,876

  Card products 168,431 157,149

  Share brokerage and fund management 25,261 28,739

  Others 73,948 70,907

Total fee and commission income 713,220 785,312

Fee and commission expenses on:

  Card products 91,540 72,612

  Others 20,415 22,901

Total fee and commission expenses 111,955 95,513

Fee and commission income, net 601,265 689,799

22) TRADING INCOME, NET

2018 2017

Derivatives and others, net 75,354 95,916

Total 75,354 95,916

23) GAIN ON NON-TRADING INVESTMENTS

2018 2017

Realised gain on disposal of non- trading investments - 30,260

Total - 30,260
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24) SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE-RELATED EXPENSES

The following table summarizes the Group’s employee categories defined in accordance with SAMA’s rules on compensation practices and includes the total amounts of fixed and variable compensation paid to employees 
during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the forms of such payments. 								

2018
Number of employees Fixed compensation paid

Variable compensation

Categories of employees Cash Shares Total

Senior executives who require SAMA's no objection 19 25,322 9,773 7,739 42,834

Employees engaged in control and risk management functions 142 40,752 5,866 2,654 49,272

Employees engaged in risk taking activities 657 143,843 12,561 5,277 161,681

Other employees 1,659 271,470 23,639 5,498 300,607

Total 2,477 481,387 51,839 21,168 554,394

Variable compensation accrued during the year 49,536

Other employee related expenses paid during the year 83,028

Other employee related expenses accrued during the year 48,007

Total salaries and employee related expenses 661,958

2017
Number of employees Fixed compensation paid

Variable compensation

Categories of employees Cash Shares Total

Senior executives who require SAMA's no objection 15 23,969 6,838 3,574 34,381

Employees engaged in control and risk management functions 137 40,091 5,180 1,046 46,317

Employees engaged in risk taking activities 643 141,333 15,672 4,558 161,563

Other employees 1,683 258,741 22,429 2,678 283,848

Total 2,478 464,134 50,119 11,856 526,109

Variable compensation accrued during the year 59,325

Other employee related expenses paid during the year 75,722

Other employee related expenses accrued during the year 71,664

Total salaries and employee related expenses 670,845
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Senior executives requiring SAMA's no objection:
This comprises senior management having responsibility and 
authority for formulating strategies and directing and controlling 
the activities of the Group. This covers the Managing Director (MD) 
and certain other employees directly reporting to the MD.
Employees engaged in control and risk management 
functions:
This refers to employees working in divisions that are not 
involved in risk taking activities but are engaged in review and 
control functions, for example Risk Management, Compliance, 
Internal Audit, Operations and Finance. These functions are fully 
independent from the risk taking units.
Employees engaged in risk taking activities:
This comprises staff within business lines (Corporate Banking, 
Personal Banking, Treasury and Alawwal Invest), who are 
responsible for executing and implementing the business strategy 
on behalf of the Group, for example staff involved in recommending 
credit limits, pricing of loans, undertaking and executing business 
proposals, treasury dealing activities, investment management and 
brokerage services. 
Other employees:
This includes all other employees of the Group, excluding those 
already mentioned above.
Group Compensation policy:
The purpose of the policy is to establish and apply compensation 
policies and processes which support the delivery of the Bank’s 
business strategy, reinforce the desired organisational culture, 
reflect prudent risk management and comply with SAMA regulations.
The Group's compensation policy is aimed at rewarding both risk-
adjusted performance and appropriate behavior that is in line with 
the Group's core values. Performance measurement is risk adjusted 
and monitored by the independent risk management function of 
Group's. The Risk Management Committee is reviewing the Group’s 
Compensation Policy to ensure that the Group’s processes are 
ensuring rewards are adjusted for the level of risk incurred.
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring the effective 
implementation of the compensation policy. The Board is advised by 
the Nominations and Remuneration Committee (the "Committee"), 

which comprises five Non Executive Directors out of which three 
are independent. The Committee receives compensation reports 
and recommendations from Executive Management supported by 
Human Resources and reviews and approves employee related 
compensation decisions.
The compensation policy ensures that staff in control functions 
are remunerated independently of the businesses they oversee. 
Compensation recommendations are based on an understanding 
of the intended total reward package; decisions consider the 
balance between external competitiveness and affordability while 
also paying attention to motivational and performance related 
compensation arrangements for staff.

25) BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year 2018 and 2017 
are calculated by dividing the net income for the year attributable 
to the equity shareholders by 1,143.07 million shares.

26) PROPOSED DIVIDENDS, ZAKAT AND INCOME TAX 
 
The Board of Directors in its meeting held on December 25, 2017 
proposed a dividend of SAR 400.1 million, which was approved 
by the Extra Ordinary General Assembly meeting held on March 
27, 2018. After deducting Zakat, the dividend resulted in a net 
payment of SAR 0.25 per share to Saudi shareholders during the 
current year. The income tax liability of the foreign shareholders 
is adjusted from their share of current and future dividends. Zakat 
and income tax liabilities for the local and foreign shareholders are 
as follows:
a) Saudi shareholders:
Zakat attributable to Saudi Shareholders for the year is estimated 
to be SAR 58 million (2017: SAR 27 million), which will be adjusted 
against their share of current and future dividends.
b) Non-Saudi shareholders:
Income tax payable on the share of income of foreign shareholders 
is estimated to be SAR 94 million (2017: SAR 102 million), which 

will be adjusted against their share of current and future dividends.
c) Status of Zakat and Income Tax assessments 
Zakat Assessments
During the current year, the Bank has reached a Settlement 
Agreement (the “Agreement”) with the GAZT in order to settle 
Zakat claims for the years from 2006 to 2017 against a full and 
final payment of SAR 374.48 million, payable in 6 instalments over 
a period ending December 1, 2023. The settlement resulted in an 
additional provision of SAR 100.4 million, which was charged to 
shareholders' equity during the current year. The Bank has settled 
the first installment of SAR 74.90 million during the month of 
December 2018. Under the Agreement, the Bank and the GAZT 
have also agreed to settle Zakat for the year 2018 in accordance 
with the basis agreed in the Agreement, which has been accounted 
for in the current year's Zakat liability.
Income Tax assessments
The Bank will continue to contest its appeals before the Appellate 
Committee for Resolution of tax disputes for the years from 2006 
to 2013 and expects a favourable outcome of the aforementioned 
appeals.

27) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement 
of cash flows comprise the following:

2018 2017

Cash and balances with SAMA  
(note 4) 4,890,038 15,137,005

Statutory deposit (note 4) )3,491,775( )4,106,211(

1,398,263 11,030,794

 Due from banks and other 
financial institutions maturing 
within three months or less from 
the acquisition date

1,091,012 1,975,271

Total 2,489,275 13,006,065
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a) The following is an analysis of the Group's assets, revenues and results by operating segments for the year ended December 31:

2018 Corporate banking Personal banking Investments banking and 
investments services

Central 
treasury and ALCO Total

External revenue / (expense):
Net special commission income 2,009,572 901,086 9,806 )165,758( 2,754,706
Fee and commission income, net 435,961 157,863 31,868 )24,427( 601,265
Trading income, net 24,107 752 1,748 48,747 75,354
Other revenue 72,975 52,293 - 6,921 132,189
Inter-segment (expense) / revenue )866,576( 313,511 10,410 542,655 -
Total segment revenue 1,676,039 1,425,505 53,832 408,138 3,563,514
Operating expenses )370,769( )800,794( )43,892( )62,967( )1,278,422(

Other material non-cash items: impairment charge for credit and other losses, net )1,014,499( )152,977( - - )1,167,476(

Other material non-cash items: Impairment reversal for other financial assets, net - - - 4,579 4,579
Non-operating income - - - 8,255 8,255
Segment profit 290,771 471,734 9,940 358,005 1,130,450
Segment assets 39,719,589 18,047,534 810,629 23,450,450 82,028,202
Segment liabilities 16,116,244 27,588,970 268,549 24,194,042 68,167,805

28) OPERATING SEGMENTS

Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports 
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the 
senior management responsible for operational decision making 
in the Group in order to allocate resources to the segments and to 
assess performance. Transactions between operating segments are 
on normal commercial terms and conditions. Funds are ordinarily 
reallocated between operating segments, resulting in funding cost 
transfers. Special commission is charged to operating segments based 
on a pool rate, which approximates the marginal cost of funds. The 
revenue from external parties reported to the senior management, is 
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated income 
statement. There have been no changes in the measurement basis 
for the segment profit or loss since December 31, 2017. Following 
are the reportable operating segments of the Group:

Corporate banking 

The corporate banking segment offers a range of products and 
services to corporate and institutional customers. It accepts 
customer deposits and provides financing, including term loans, 
overdrafts, syndicated loans and trade finance services. Services 
provided to customers include internet banking, global transaction 
services and a centralised service that manages all customer 
transfers, electronic or otherwise.

Personal banking

The personal banking group operates through a national network of 
branches and ATMs supported by a 24-hour phone banking centre. 
This segment accepts customers’ deposits in various savings and 
deposit accounts and provides retail banking products and services, 
including consumer loans, overdrafts and credit cards to individuals 
and small-to-medium-sized enterprises.

Investment banking and investment services

The investment banking and investment services segment offers 
security dealing, managing, arranging, advising and maintaining 
custody services in relation to securities.

Central treasury and ALCO

Treasury transacts mainly in money market, foreign exchange, 
special commission rate and other derivatives for corporate and 
institutional customers as well as for the Group’s own benefit. It is 
also responsible for managing the Group’s funding and centralized 
risk management and investment portfolio. ALCO include the 
group-wide assets and liabilities other than the business and 
treasury's core activities maintaining Group-wide liquidity and 
managing its consolidated financial position. It also includes the net 
interdepartmental revenues / charges on Funds Transfer Pricing as 
approved by ALCO and unallocated income and expenses relating to 
Head Office and other departments.
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2017 Corporate banking Personal banking Investments banking and 
investments services

Central 
treasury and ALCO Total

External revenue / (expense):
Net special commission income 2,057,304 1,058,531 2,090 )352,163( 2,765,762
Fee and commission income, net 502,539 180,460 31,426 )24,626( 689,799
Trading income, net 51,988 2,349 1,552 40,027 95,916
Other revenue 78,631 51,254 - 30,260 160,145
Inter-segment (expense) / revenue )1,004,776( 235,483 9,254 760,039 -
Total segment revenue 1,685,686 1,528,077 44,322 453,537 3,711,622
Operating expenses )393,895( )767,510( )37,570( )66,640( )1,265,615(

Other material non-cash items: impairment charge for credit and other losses, net )940,300( )179,999( - - )1,120,299(
Non-operating income - - - 9,810 9,810

Segment profit 351,491 580,568 6,752 396,707 1,335,518

Segment assets 43,661,906 19,977,577 748,030 35,482,317 99,869,830

Segment liabilities 22,392,629 27,180,681 208,884 36,487,940 86,270,134

b) The Group’s maximum credit exposure by operating segments is as follows:

2018 Corporate banking Personal banking Central treasury and ALCO Total

Non derivative financial assets 39,719,589 18,047,534 17,787,814 75,554,937
Commitments and contingencies stated at credit equivalents 12,326,557 - - 12,326,557
Derivatives stated at credit equivalents 269,100 - 332,322 601,422

2017 Corporate banking Personal banking Central treasury and ALCO Total

Non derivative financial assets 43,661,906 19,977,577 19,330,931 82,970,414
Commitments and contingencies stated at credit equivalents 12,693,340 - - 12,693,340
Derivatives stated at credit equivalents 438,691 - 462,360 901,051

Credit exposure comprises the carrying value of non derivative financial assets, excluding cash and balances with SAMA, investments in equities, associate, mutual funds and property and equipment. The credit 
equivalent value of commitments and contingencies and derivatives are also included in credit exposure.
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29) FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

a) Credit Risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument may fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. Credit exposures arise principally in lending activities that lead to loans 
and advances, and investment activities. There is also a credit risk on credit related commitments, contingencies and derivatives. The Group controls credit risk by monitoring credit exposures, limiting transactions with 
specific counterparties, and continually assessing the creditworthiness of counterparties.								

In addition to monitoring credit limits, the Group manages the credit exposure relating to its trading activities by entering into master netting agreements and collateral arrangements with counterparties in appropriate 
circumstances, and by limiting the duration of exposure. In certain cases management may also close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit risk. The Group’s credit risk on derivatives 
represents the potential cost to replace the derivative contracts if counterparties fail to fulfill their obligation. To control the level of credit risk taken, management assesses counterparties using the same techniques 
as for its lending activities. Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features 
that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s 
performance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location.								

Management seeks to manage concentration of credit risk within Board approved Risk Appetite and in line with SAMA guidelines, through a system of limits and strategies designed to ensure appropriate diversification 
of lending activities and to prevent undue concentration of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific locations or businesses. The Group also takes security when appropriate. Management monitors on 
a regular basis the market value of collateral and requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement, if required. In addition, it also specifically monitors the market value of collateral during its 
review of the adequacy of the allowances for impairment losses. Management regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes in markets products and emerging best practice.			 
					   

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk computed as per SAMA guidelines as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, without taking into account any collateral held or credit enhancements attached is reflected below:	

2018 2017

Due from banks and other financial institutions 1,116,012 2,115,271

Investments, net 15,917,819 16,531,070

Loans and advances, net 57,767,123 63,639,483

Other assets, net 753,983 684,590

Derivatives 601,422 901,051

Credit related commitments and contingencies 12,326,557 12,693,340

Total 88,482,916 96,564,805

The Group uses a credit classification system as a tool to assist in managing the quality of credit risk within the lending portfolio. In addition to the three categories mentioned in note 7, management maintains further 
classification grades that differentiates between performing and impaired portfolios and allocate allowances respectively. Management determines each individual borrower’s grade based on specific financial ratios and 
other quantitative indicators and criteria such as activity, cash flows, capital structure, security, quality of management and borrower’s character. A further quality classification is performed over existing borrowers and 
the results of this exercise are validated by the independent risk management unit.								
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b) Geographical concentration

Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure and financial liabilities:

2018 Saudi Arabia GCC and 
Middle East Europe Americas South 

East Asia
Other  

countries Total

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA (note 4) 368,000 - - - - - 368,000

Due from banks and other  financial institutions, net 25,096 177,810 583,781 317,900 532 10,893 1,116,012

Positive fair value derivatives, net 44,118 21,474 44,515 - - - 110,107

Investments, net 

Held as FVTPL 146,389 - 166,836 - - - 313,225

Held at amortised cost 15,334,992 38,119 - 377,872 - - 15,750,983

Held as FVOCI 4,330 - - - - - 4,330

Loans and advances, net 57,767,123 - - - - - 57,767,123

Other assets 270,574 454,245 27,128 1,989 2 45 753,983

Total 73,960,622 691,648 822,260 697,761 534 10,938 76,183,763

Liabilities

Due to banks and other financial institutions 1,057,461 380,918 62,099 14,138 268 16,932 1,531,816

Negative fair value derivatives, net 31,131 4,128 21,830 4 - - 57,093

Customers’ deposits 64,572,713 - - - - - 64,572,713

Other liabilities 1,967,500 33,222 5,461 - - - 2,006,183

Total 67,628,805 418,268 89,390 14,142 268 16,932 68,167,805

Commitments and Contingencies 19,436,800 714,763 1,469,027 359,921 10,395 661,749 22,652,655

Maximum credit exposure (stated at credit equivalent amounts)

Commitments and contingencies 10,406,399 482,927 636,849 172,128 5,198 623,057 12,326,558

Derivatives 281,393 137,802 175,864 6,363 - - 601,422
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2017 Saudi Arabia GCC and 
Middle East Europe Americas South 

East Asia
Other  

countries Total

Assets

Cash and balances with SAMA (note 4) 10,009,000 - - - - - 10,009,000

Due from banks and other  financial institutions, net 572,792 653,680 770,483 102,999 330 14,987 2,115,271

Positive fair value derivatives, net 107,535 45,526 59,157 - - - 212,218

Investments, net 

Held as FVTPL 327,472 - - - - - 327,472

Held at amortised cost 15,697,612 38,224 188,281 377,007 - - 16,301,124

Held as FVOCI - 60,151 - - - - 60,151

Loans and advances, net 63,639,483 - - - - - 63,639,483

Other assets 312,516 298,525 45,487 28,062 - - 684,590

Total 90,666,410 1,096,106 1,063,408 508,068 330 14,987 93,349,309

Liabilities

Due to banks and other financial institutions  3,011,961  255,638  44,367  11,278  386  21,041  3,344,671 

Negative fair value derivatives, net  59,463  7,189  23,653  1,374    -    -  91,679 

Customers’ deposits  78,274,963    -    -    -    -    -  78,274,963 

Subordinated debt  2,505,026    -    -    -    -    -  2,505,026 

Other liabilities  1,987,050  21,712  42,898  2,135    -    -  2,053,795 

Total  85,838,463  284,539  110,918  14,787  386  21,041  86,270,134 

Commitments and contingencies  22,522,530  573,609  1,075,683  363,892    -  1,629,242  26,164,956 

Maximum credit exposure (stated at credit equivalent amounts)

Commitments and contingencies  11,324,416  290,596  485,532  174,116    -  418,680  12,693,340 

Derivatives  461,616  190,555  248,405  475    -    -  901,051 

Credit equivalent amounts reflect the amounts that result from translating the Group’s contingent liabilities and commitments and derivatives into the risk equivalents using credit conversion factors prescribed by SAMA. 
The credit conversion factor is meant to capture the potential credit risk related to the exercise of that commitment. Impaired loans and advances and allowances for credit losses are all within the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia.

c) Amounts arising from ECL – Significant increase in credit risk 

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue 
cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group's historical experience and expert credit assessment and including an assessment of the change in probability of default (PD) 
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as at the reporting date with the PD at the time of initial recognition of 
the exposure. The objective of the assessment is to identify whether 
a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for an exposure by 
comparing:

i) the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the 
reporting date; with
ii) the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was 
estimated at the time of initial recognition of the exposure 
(adjusted where relevant for changes in prepayment 
expectations).

The Groups categories its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and 
POCI, as described below:

Stage 1: When loans are first recognised, the Group recognises 
an allowance based on 12 months ECL. Stage 1 loans also include 
facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been 
reclassified from Stage 2 or Stage 3.

Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk 
since origination, the Group records an allowance for the lifetime 
ECL. Stage 2 loans also include facilities, where the credit risk has 
improved and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3.

Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired. The Group records an 
allowance for the lifetime ECL.

POCI assets are financial assets that are credit impaired on initial 
recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair value at original 
recognition and interest income is subsequently recognised based 
on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECLs are only recognised or released to the 
extent that there is a subsequent change in the expected credit 
losses.

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly

The criteria for determining whether credit risk has increased 
significantly vary by portfolio and include quantitative changes 
in PDs and qualitative factors, including a backstop based on 
delinquency.

The credit risk of a particular exposure is deemed to have increased 
significantly since initial recognition if, based on the Group's 

quantitative modeling, the remaining lifetime PD is determined 
to have increased significantly. Using its expert credit judgment 
and, where possible, relevant historical experience, the Group may 
determine that an exposure has undergone a significant increase in 
credit risk based on particular qualitative indicators that it considers 
are indicative of such and whose effect may not otherwise be fully 
reflected in its quantitative analysis on a timely basis. As a backstop, 
the Group considers that a significant increase in credit risk occurs 
no later than when an asset is more than 30 days past due. Days 
past due are determined by counting the number of days since the 
earliest elapsed due date in respect of which full payment has not 
been received. Due dates are determined without considering any 
grace period that might be available to the borrower.

The Group monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify 
significant increase in credit risk by regular reviews to confirm that:

1.	 the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in 
credit risk before an exposure is in default.

2.	 the criteria does align with the point in time when an asset 
becomes 30 days past due; and

3.	 there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from 
transfers between 12-month PD (stage 1) and lifetime PD 
(stage 2).

Credit risk grades

The Group allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based 
on a variety of data that is determined to be predictive of the risk 
of default and applying experienced credit judgment. Credit risk 
grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative factors that 
are indicative of risk of default. These factors vary depending on 
the nature of the exposure and the type of borrower. Credit risk 
grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default 
occurring increases exponentially as the credit risk deteriorates so, 
for example, the difference in risk of default between credit risk 
grades 1 and 2 is smaller than the difference between credit risk 
grades 2 and 3. Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade 
at initial recognition based on available information about the 
borrower. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring, which may 

result in an exposure being moved to a different credit risk grade. 
The monitoring typically involves use of the following data.

1.	 Information obtained during periodic review of customer files 
– e.g. audited financial statements, management accounts, 
budgets and projections.  Examples of areas of particular focus 
are: gross profit margins, financial leverage ratios, debt service 
coverage, compliance with covenants, and senior management 
changes.

2.	 Data from credit reference agencies, press articles, changes in 
external credit ratings.

3. Quoted bond and credit default swap (CDS) prices for the 
borrower where available.

4.	 Actual and expected significant changes in the political, 
regulatory and technological environment of the borrower or in 
its business activities.

5.	 Payment records – this includes overdue status as well as a 
range of variables about payment ratios.

6.	 Utilization of the granted limits or requests for and granting of 
forbearance. 

7.	 Existing and forecast changes in business, financial and 
economic conditions.

Credit risk grades

Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the 
term structure of PD for exposures. The Group collects performance 
and default information about its credit risk exposures analyzed by 
jurisdiction or region as well as by credit risk grading. The Group 
employs statistical models to analyze the data collected and 
generate estimates of the remaining lifetime PD of exposures and 
how these are expected to change as a result of the passage of 
time.

Based on variety of external actual and forecast information, the 
Group formulates a ‹base case› view of the future direction of 
relevant economic variables as well as a representative range of 
other possible forecast scenarios. The Group then uses these 
forecasts to adjust its estimates of PDs. Based on variety of external 
actual and forecast information, the Group formulates a ‹base case› 
view of the future direction of relevant economic variables as well 
as a representative range of other possible forecast scenarios.  
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The Group then uses these forecasts to adjust its estimates of PDs.

Definition of ‘Default’

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:

1.	 the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group 
in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realizing 
security (if any is held); or 

2.	 the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material 
credit obligation to the Group, unless there are reasonable and 
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 
default criterion is more appropriate. Overdrafts are considered 
as being past due once the customer has breached an advised 
limit or been advised of a limit smaller than the current amount 
outstanding. 

In assessing whether a borrower is in default. The Group considers 
indicators that are:

1.	 qualitative- e.g. breaches of covenant.

2.	 quantitative- e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another 
obligation of the same issuer to the Group; and

3.	 based on data developed internally and obtained from external 
sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in 
default and their significance may vary over time to reflect changes 
in circumstances.

The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the 
Group for regulatory capital purposes.

Modified financial assets

The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of 
reasons, including changing market conditions, customer retention 
and other factors not related to a current or potential credit 
deterioration of the customer. An existing loan whose terms have 
been modified may be derecognized and the renegotiated loan 
recognized as a new loan at fair value in accordance with the 

accounting policy set out in Note 3. When the terms of a financial 
asset are modified and the modification does not result in de-
recognition, the determination of whether the asset's credit risk 
has increased significantly reflects comparison of:

1.	 its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the 
modified terms; with

2.	 the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data at initial 
recognition and the original contractual terms.

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties 
(referred to as ‹forbearance activities›) to maximize collection 
opportunities and minimize the risk of default. Under the Group's 
forbearance policy, loan forbearance is granted on a selective basis 
if the debtor is currently in default on its debt or if there is a high 
risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor made all reasonable 
efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor 
is expected to be able to meet the revised terms. The revised terms 
usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of 
interest payments and amending the terms of loan covenants. Both 
retail and non-retail loans are subject to the forbearance policy. The 
Bank Audit Committee regularly reviews reports on forbearance 
activities.

For financial assets modified as part of the Group's forbearance 
policy, the estimate of PD reflects whether the modification has 
improved or restored the Group's ability to collect interest and 
principal and the Group's previous experience of similar forbearance 
action. As part of this process, the Bank evaluates the borrower's 
payment performance against the modified contractual terms and 
considers various behavioral indicators. Generally, forbearance is 
a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and 
an expectation of forbearance may constitute evidence that an 
exposure is credit-impaired. A customer needs to demonstrate 
consistently good payment behavior over a period of time before 
the exposure is no longer considered to be credit-impaired or the 
PD is considered to have decreased such that the loss allowance 
reverts to being measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Incorporation of forward looking information

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both its 
assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased 
significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of 
ECL. Based on variety of external actual and forecast information, 
the Group formulates a ‹base case› view of the future direction of 
relevant economic variables as well as a representative range of 
other possible forecast scenarios. This process involves developing 
two or more additional economic scenarios and considering the 
relative probabilities of each outcome. External information includes 
economic data and forecasts published by governmental bodies and 
monetary authorities in the Kingdom and selected private-sector 
and academic forecasters.

The base case represents a most-likely outcome and is aligned with 
information used by the Group for other purposes such as strategic 
planning and budgeting. The other scenarios represent more 
optimistic and more pessimistic outcomes. Periodically, the Group 
carries out stress testing of more extreme shocks to calibrate its 
determination of these other representative scenarios. The Group 
has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit 
losses for each portfolio of financial instruments and, using an 
analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between 
macro-economic variables and credit risk and credit losses. 

Measurement of ECL

The Group recognizes impairment allowances based on a forward 
looking Expected Credit Loss (ECL) approach on financial assets 
that are not measured as FVIS. This mainly includes financing and 
investments that are measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI (other 
than equity investments), due from banks and financial institutions, 
financial guarantees, lease receivables and credit commitments. No 
impairment loss will be recognised on equity investments. The key 
inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the 
following variables:

 -  Probability of default (PD)
 -  Loss given default (LGD)
 -  Exposure at default (EAD)
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The above parameters are derived from statistical models, historical 
data and expert judgement and are adjusted, where appropriate to 
take account of forward looking information.  

PD estimates, except for retail PD, are estimates at a certain date, 
which are calculated, based on rating models and assessed using 
rating tools tailored to the various categories of counterparties and 
exposures. These models are based on internally and externally 
compiled data comprising both quantitative and qualitative factors. 
If a counterparty or exposure migrates between ratings classes, 
then this will lead to a change in the estimate of the associated PD. 

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Bank 
estimates LGD parameters based on the history of recovery rates of 
claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models consider 
the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty 
industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the 
financial asset. For loans secured by retail property, LTV ratios are 
a key parameter in determining LGD. LGD estimates are recalibrated 
for different economic scenarios and, for real estate lending, to 
reflect possible changes in property prices. These are calculated on 
a discounted cash flow basis using the effective interest rate as the 
discounting factor.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. 
The Bank derives the EAD from the current exposure to the 
counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed 
under the contract including amortization. The EAD of a financial 
asset is its gross carrying amount. For lending commitments and 
financial guarantees, the EAD includes the amount drawn, as well 
as potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, 
which are estimated based on historical observations and forward-
looking forecasts. For some financial assets, EAD is determined 
by modeling the range of possible exposure outcomes at various 
points in time using scenario and statistical techniques.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month 
PD for financial assets for which credit risk has not significantly 
increased, the Bank measures ECL considering the risk of default 
over the maximum contractual period (including any borrower's 

extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, 
for risk management purposes, the Bank considers a longer period. 
The maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the 
Bank has the right to require repayment of an advance or terminate 
a loan commitment or guarantee.

However, for overdrafts and credit card facilities that include both a 
loan and an undrawn commitment component, the Bank measures 
ECL over a period longer than the maximum contractual period if 
the Bank's contractual ability to demand repayment and cancel 
the undrawn commitment does not limit the Bank's exposure to 
credit losses to the contractual notice period. These facilities do 
not have a fixed term or repayment structure and are managed on 
a collective basis. The Bank can cancel them with immediate effect 
but this contractual right is not enforced in the normal day-to-day 
management but only when the Bank becomes aware of an increase 
in credit risk at the facility level. This longer period is estimated 
taking into account the credit risk management actions that the 
Bank expects to take and that serve to mitigate ECL. These include 
a reduction in limits. Cancellation of the facility and/or turning the 
outstanding balance into a loan with fixed repayment terms.

Where modeling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, 
the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of shared risk 
characteristics that include:

 - instrument type;

 - credit risk grading;

 - collateral type;

 - LTV ratio for retail mortgages;

 - date of initial recognition;

 - remaining term to maturity;

 - industry; and

 - geographic location of the borrower.

30) MARKET RISK 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of financial instruments 
will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as special 
commission rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. 
Management classifies exposures to market risk into either trading 
book, or non-trading book (also referred to as banking book).

a) MARKET RISK - TRADING BOOK

The Board of Directors has set limits for the acceptable level of risk 
in managing the trading book. In order to manage market risk in 
the trading book, Management applies a VaR methodology daily 
to assess the market risk positions held and also to estimate the 
potential economic loss based on a set of assumptions and changes 
in market conditions. 

A VaR methodology estimates the potential negative change in the 
market value of a portfolio at a given confidence level and over a 
specified time horizon. The Group uses simulation models to assess 
the possible changes in the market value of the trading book based 
on historical data. VaR models are usually designed to measure the 
market risk in a normal market environment and therefore the use 
of VaR has limitations because it is based on historical correlations 
and volatilities in market prices and assumes that the future 
movements will follow a statistical distribution. 

VaR that management uses is an estimate, using a confidence level 
of 99% of the potential loss that is not expected to be exceeded 
if the current market positions were to be held unchanged for one 
day. The use of 99% confidence level depicts that within a one-day 
horizon, losses exceeding VaR figure should occur, on average, not 
more than once every hundred days. The VaR represents the risk of 
portfolios at the close of a business day, and it does not account for 
any losses that may occur beyond the defined confidence interval. 
The actual trading results may differ from the VaR calculations 
and, in particular, the calculation does not provide a meaningful 
indication of profits and losses in stressed market conditions.
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To overcome the VaR limitations mentioned above, management maintains a framework of non-modelled limits that show potential loss for a given change in a market factor and makes no assumption about the 
behaviour of market factors.  Furthermore, management employs stop loss limits on market risk positions and carries out stress tests of its portfolio to simulate conditions outside normal confidence intervals. The 
potential losses occurring under stress test conditions are reported regularly to the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO) for review.

The Group’s VaR related information for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as provided below. 

2018 (VaR) Foreign exchange rate risk Special commission rate risk Foreign exchange forwards Overall risk

As at December 31  57 146 190 393

Average for the year 52 150 120 322

2017 (VaR) Foreign exchange rate risk Special commission rate risk Foreign exchange forwards Overall risk

As at December 31  38 67 5 110

Average for the year 140 262 72 474

b) MARKET RISK – NON-TRADING OR BANKING BOOK

Market risk on non-trading or banking positions mainly arises from special commission rate, foreign currency exposures and equity price changes.

i) SPECIAL COMMISSION RATE RISK

Special commission rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in special commission rates will affect either the fair values or the future cash flows of the financial instruments. The Board of Directors has 
established special commission rate gap limits for stipulated periods. Management monitors positions daily and uses hedging strategies to ensure maintenance of positions within established gap limits.

The following table depicts the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in special commission rates, with other variables held constant, on the Group’s consolidated  income statement or equity. The sensitivity of the 
income is the effect of the assumed changes in special commission rates on the net special commission income for one year, based on the floating rate non-trading financial assets and financial liabilities held at year end 
including the effect of hedging instruments.  The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing the fixed rate available for sale financial assets, including the effect of any associated hedges at year end for the effect 
of assumed changes in special commission rates.  The sensitivity of equity is analyzed by maturity of the asset or swap. 

Banking book exposures are monitored and analysed in currency concentrations and relevant sensitivities are disclosed below:
2018

Currency Increase/ (decrease) in
basis points

Sensitivity of  net special
commission income

Sensitivity of equity

6 months or less 6 to12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

USD
25 )1( - - - - -

)25( 1 - - - - -

SAR
25 35 - - - - -

)25( )35( - - - - -
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2017

Currency Increase/ (decrease) in
basis points

Sensitivity of  net special
commission income

Sensitivity of equity

6 months or less 6 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

USD
 25 - - - - - -
)25( - - - - - -

SAR
 25  35 )104( )3( - - )107(
)25( )35(  104  3 - - 107

The exposure to the effect of various risks associated with fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market special commission rates on the Group's financial position and cash flows is managed. The Board of Directors 
sets limits on the level of special commission rate risk to which the Group may be exposed. These limits are monitored by the Group’s Asset and Liability Committee, Risk Management and Treasury departments. The 
Group is exposed to special commission rate risk as a result of mismatches or gaps in the amounts of assets and liabilities and other financial instruments that mature or re-price in a given period. This risk is managed 
by matching the re-pricing of financial assets and liabilities through risk management strategies. The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to special commission rate risks. Included in the table are the Group’s 
financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of the contractual re-pricing or the maturity dates.

2018 Within 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Non-commission 
bearing Total

Assets
Cash and balances with SAMA 368,000 - - - 4,522,038 4,890,038
Due from banks and other  financial institutions 415,931 25,140 - - 674,941 1,116,012
Positive fair value derivatives, net 6,957 7,533 89,275 6,342 - 110,107
Investments, net 7,079,910 892,962 7,944,947 - 150,719 16,068,538
Loans and advances, net 33,260,652 11,651,342 6,109,906 6,745,223 - 57,767,123
Other assets 455,390 - - - 298,593 753,983
Total 41,586,840 12,576,977 14,144,128 6,751,565 5,646,291 80,705,801

Liabilities
Due to banks and other financial institutions 1,187,448 10,223 5,860 - 328,285 1,531,816
Negative fair value derivatives, net 5,696 3,633 43,806 3,958 - 57,093
Customers’ deposits 28,951,707 6,759,366 55,451 - 28,806,189 64,572,713
Other liabilities - - - - 2,006,183 2,006,183
Shareholders’ equity - - - - 13,860,397 13,860,397
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 30,144,851 6,773,222 105,117 3,958 45,001,054 82,028,202
Special commission rate sensitivity - financial position gap 11,441,989 5,803,755 14,039,011 6,747,607
Special commission rate sensitivity on derivative financial 
instruments - 267,005 )238,431( )28,574(

Total special commission rate sensitivity gap 11,441,989 6,070,760 13,800,580 6,719,033
Cumulative special commission rate sensitivity gap 11,441,989 17,512,749 31,313,329 38,032,362
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2017 Within 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Non-commission 
bearing Total

Assets
Cash and balances with SAMA 10,009,000 - - - 5,128,005 15,137,005
Due from banks and other financial institutions 1,124,804 75,568 - - 914,899 2,115,271
Positive fair value derivatives 25,047 57,040 99,631 30,500 - 212,218
Investments, net 7,680,122 864,529 7,802,446 183,973 157,677 16,688,747
Loans and advances, net 35,267,827 13,740,016 6,742,284 7,889,356 - 63,639,483
Other assets, net 336,275 22,580 - - 325,735 684,590
Total 54,443,075 14,759,733 14,644,361 8,103,829 6,526,316 98,477,314

Liabilities 
Due to banks and other financial institutions 2,901,400 13,329 7,104 - 422,838 3,344,671
Negative fair value derivatives 12,721 20,553 32,481 25,924 - 91,679
Customers’ deposits 37,840,687 10,155,394 124,127 - 30,154,755 78,274,963
Subordinated debt - 2,505,026 - - - 2,505,026
Other liabilities 44,916 24,438 - - 1,984,441 2,053,795
Shareholders’ equity - - - - 13,599,696 13,599,696
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 40,799,724 12,718,740 163,712 25,924 46,161,730 99,869,830
Special commission rate sensitivity - financial position gap 13,643,351 2,040,993 14,480,649 8,077,905
Special commission rate sensitivity on derivative financial 
instruments 608,807 )32,565( )585,617( 9,375

Total special commission rate sensitivity gap 14,252,158 2,008,428 13,895,032 8,087,280
Cumulative special commission rate sensitivity gap 14,252,158 16,260,586 30,155,618 38,242,898

Special commission rate sensitivity on derivative financial instruments represents the net notional amounts that are used to manage special commission rate risk. The effective yield of a monetary financial instrument 
is the yield that the Group earns from its clients taking into consideration the contractual special commission rate. 

ii) CURRENCY RISK

Currency risk represents the risk of change in the value of financial instruments due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Board of Directors have set risk appetite for market risks including currency risk and the 
Group’s Asset and Liability Committee have set a framework of limits on positions by currency and in aggregate, which are monitored daily. Hedging strategies are also used to ensure that positions are maintained 
within these limits. The table below shows the currencies to which the Group has a significant exposure as at year end on its non-trading monetary assets and liabilities and forecasted cash flows. The analysis 
calculates the effect on the consolidated income statement (due to the fair value of the currency sensitive non-trading monetary assets and liabilities) of a potential movement in the foreign currency against SAR, 
with all other variables held constant. A positive effect shows a potential increase in consolidated income statement or equity, whereas a negative effect shows a potential net reduction in consolidated income 
statement or equity.
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2018 2017
Currency exposure Change in Currency Rate (%) Effect on Net Income Currency exposure Change in Currency Rate (%) Effect on Net Income

USD 5 8,366 USD 5 3,734
)5( )8,366( )5( )3,734(

AED 5 108 AED 5 )30(
)5( )108( )5( 30

CHF 5 3 CHF 5 )10(
)5( )3( )5( 10

EUR 5 )63( EUR 5 )68(
)5( 63 )5( 68

GBP 5 )18( GBP 5 )32(
)5( 18 )5( 32

JPY 5 17 JPY 5 28
)5( )17( )5( )28(

Others 5 237 Others 5 132
)5( )237( )5( )132(

Currency position: At the end of the year, the Group had the following significant net exposures denominated in foreign currencies:
Currency position:

2018 2017
US Dollar 167,314 74,689
UAE Dirham 2,166 )608(
Swiss Franc 60 )203(
Euro )1,256( )1,367(
Pound Sterling )355( )640(
Japanese Yen 345 558
Others 4,734 2,642

31) LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may encounter difficulty 
in meeting obligations associated with its financial liabilities that 
are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. Liquidity 
risk can be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades, 
which may cause certain sources of funding to dry up at short 
notice. To mitigate this risk, management has diversified funding 
sources and assets are managed considering liquidity positions to 
maintain a healthy balance of cash and cash equivalents and readily 
marketable securities.

i) Maturity profile of assets and liabilities
The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s 
assets and liabilities. The contractual maturities of assets and 
liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining 
period to contractual maturity date as at year end and do not take 
into account the effective maturities as indicated by the Group’s 
deposit retention history. Management monitors the maturity 
profile to ensure that adequate liquidity is maintained. The daily 
liquidity position is monitored and regular liquidity stress testing 
is conducted under a variety of scenarios covering both normal and 
more severe market conditions. All liquidity policies and procedures 
are subject to review and approval by ALCO. Daily reports cover the 
liquidity position of both the Bank and other operating subsidiaries. A 

summary report, including any exceptions and remedial action taken, 
is submitted regularly to ALCO and the Board and its Committees also 
receive regular reporting on key liquidity risk indicators.
In accordance with the Banking Control Law and the regulations 
issued by SAMA, the Bank maintains a statutory deposit with SAMA 
equal to 7% (2017: 7%) of total demand deposits and 4% (2017: 4%) 
of savings and time deposits. In  addition to the statutory deposit, the 
Bank also maintains liquid reserves of no less than 20% of its deposits 
liabilities, in the form of cash, Saudi Government Development Bonds 
or assets which can be converted into cash within a period not 
exceeding 30 days or the Bank may raise additional funds through 
repo facilities available with SAMA against securities issued by the 
Saudi Government up to 75% of the nominal value of bonds held.
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ii) The maturity profile of assets and liabilities at year end is as follows:
2018 No fixed maturity Within 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
Assets
Cash and balances with SAMA 3,491,775 1,398,263 - - - 4,890,038
Due from banks and other financial  institutions 674,941 415,931 25,140 - - 1,116,012
Positive fair value derivatives, net - 6,957 7,533 89,275 6,342 110,107
Investments, net 150,720 435,752 222,257 8,734,157 6,525,652 16,068,538
Loans and advances, net 1,433,279 20,862,462 12,391,304 13,279,828 9,800,250 57,767,123
Investments in an associate 53,762 - - - - 53,762
Property and equipment, net 1,268,639 - - - - 1,268,639
Other assets, net 753,983 - - - - 753,983
Total 7,827,099 23,119,365 12,646,234 22,103,260 16,332,244 82,028,202
Liabilities and shareholders' equity
Due to banks and other financial  institutions 328,285 1,187,448 10,223 5,860 - 1,531,816
Negative fair value derivatives, net - 5,696 3,633 43,806 3,958 57,093
Customers’ deposits 34,332,399 23,425,497 6,759,366 55,451 - 64,572,713
Other liabilities 2,006,183 - - - - 2,006,183
Shareholders' equity 13,860,397 - - - - 13,860,397
Total 50,527,264 24,618,641 6,773,222 105,117 3,958 82,028,202

2017 No fixed maturity Within 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
Assets
Cash and balances with SAMA 4,106,211 11,030,794 - - - 15,137,005
Due from banks and other financial institutions 914,899 1,124,804 75,568 - - 2,115,271
Positive fair value derivatives - 25,047 57,040 99,631 30,500 212,218
Investments, net 157,677 63,382 239,372 9,335,992 6,892,324 16,688,747
Loans and advances, net 1,154,544 23,205,228 12,114,187 15,629,529 11,535,995 63,639,483
Investments in an associate 45,507 - - - - 45,507
Property and equipment, net 1,347,009 - - - - 1,347,009

612,976 49,034 22,580 - - 684,590
Total 8,338,823 35,498,289 12,508,747 25,065,152 18,458,819 99,869,830
Liabilities and shareholders' equity
Due to banks and other financial institutions 422,838 2,901,400 13,329 7,104 - 3,344,671
Negative fair value derivatives - 12,721 20,553 32,481 25,924 91,679
Customers’ deposits 30,154,755 37,840,687 10,155,394 124,127 - 78,274,963
Subordinated debt - - 5,026 - 2,500,000 2,505,026
Other liabilities 1,984,441 44,916 24,438 - - 2,053,795
Shareholders' equity 13,599,696 - - - - 13,599,696
Total 46,161,730 40,799,724 10,218,740 163,712 2,525,924 99,869,830
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The cumulative maturity of commitments and contingencies and derivatives are given in note 19 (c) and note 11 of the consolidated financial statements, respectively. 

iii) Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at year end based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. As special commission payments upto contractual maturity are 
included in the table, totals do not match with the consolidated statement of financial position. The contractual maturities of liabilities have been determined based on the remaining period at year end to the contractual 
maturity date and do not take into account the effective expected maturities. The Group expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Group could be required to pay and therefore 
the table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Group's deposit retention history.

2018 No fixed maturity Within 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

Financial Liabilities

Due to banks and other financial institutions 328,285 1,187,965 10,422 6,340 - 1,533,012

Customers’ deposits 34,332,399 23,503,423 6,884,174 59,213 - 64,779,209

Derivatives

Contractual amounts payable - )2,916,514( )1,876,284( )6,574,010( )29,727( )11,396,535(

Contractual amounts receivable - 2,928,336 1,896,668 6,591,570 29,791 11,446,365

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 34,660,684 24,703,210 6,914,980 83,113 64 66,362,051

2017 No fixed maturity Within 3 months 3 to 12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total

Financial Liabilities

Due to banks and other financial institutions 422,838 2,902,089 13,590 7,529 - 3,346,046

Customers’ deposits 30,154,755 38,065,115 10,315,886 131,720 - 78,667,476

Subordinated debt - - 107,090 657,347 2,500,000 3,264,437

Derivatives

Contractual amounts payable - )9,485,150( )3,274,956( )6,450,348( )65,210( )19,275,664(

Contractual amounts receivable - 9,503,271 3,319,687 6,488,989 65,698 19,377,645

Total undiscounted financial liabilities 30,577,593 40,985,325 10,481,297 835,237 2,500,488 85,379,940

32) FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Determination of fair value and the fair value hierarchy

Management uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active primary markets.
Level 2 - Adjusted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities using valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable.
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable.
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The following table shows the carrying amount and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy for financial instruments measured at fair value. It does not include 
fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable approximation of fair value.

2018 Carrying value
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets measured at fair value:
Derivative financial instruments 110,107 - 110,107 - 110,107
Held as FVTPL 313,263 146,389 166,874 - 313,263
Held as FVOCI 4,330 - - 4,330 4,330
Total financial assets measured at fair value: 427,700 146,389 276,981 4,330 427,700
Financial assets not measured at fair value:
Due from banks and other financial institutions 1,116,012 - 1,116,012 - 1,116,012
Investments held at amortised cost 15,755,580 238,095 15,410,601 - 15,648,696
Loans and advances 57,767,123 - - 57,514,331 57,514,331
Total financial assets not measured at fair value 74,638,715 238,095 16,526,613 57,514,331 74,279,039
Financial liabilities measured at fair value:
Derivative financial instruments 57,093 - 57,093 - 57,093
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value:
Due to banks and other financial institutions 1,531,816 - 1,531,816 - 1,531,816
Customers' deposits 64,572,713 - 64,572,713 - 64,572,713
Total financial liabilities not measured at fair value 66,104,529 - 66,104,529 - 66,104,529

2017 Carrying value
Fair value

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Financial assets measured at fair value:
Derivative financial instruments 212,218 - 212,218 - 212,218
Financial assets available for sale 327,472 153,347 169,795 4,330 327,472
Total financial assets measured at fair value: 539,690 153,347 382,013 4,330 539,690
Financial assets not measured at fair value:
Due from banks and other financial institutions 2,115,271 - 2,115,271 - 2,115,271
Held to maturity investments 60,151 - 60,052 - 60,052
Other investments at amortised cost 16,301,124 - 16,224,881 - 16,224,881
Loans and advances 63,639,483 - - 63,388,863 63,388,863
Total financial assets not measured at fair value: 82,116,029 - 18,400,204 63,388,863 81,789,067
Financial liabilities measured at fair value:
Derivative financial instruments 91,679 - 91,679 - 91,679
Financial liabilities not measured at fair value:
Due to banks and other financial institutions 3,344,671 - 3,344,671 - 3,344,671
Customers’ deposits 78,274,963 - 78,274,963 - 78,274,963
Subordinated debt 2,505,026 - 2,505,026 - 2,505,026
Total financial liabilities not measured at fair value: 84,124,660 - 84,124,660 - 84,124,660
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The fair values of financial instruments included in the consolidated statement of financial position, except for those held to maturity, other investments held at amortised cost and loans and advances that are carried 
at amortised cost, are not significantly different from the carrying values included in the consolidated financial statements. The estimated fair values of other investments held at amortised cost and held-to-maturity 
investments are based on quoted market prices, when available, or pricing models in the case of certain fixed rate bonds. The fair value of special commission-bearing customers’ deposits are not significantly different 
from their book values since the current market special commission rates for similar financial liabilities are not significantly different from the contracted rates. 

The fair values of cash and balances with SAMA, due from / to banks and other financial institutions, other assets and other liabilities are not significantly different from their carrying values since the underlying amounts 
for these categories are for shorter durations which indicates that their booking rates are not significantly different from the current market rates. The fair value of subordinated debt approximates carrying value since 
this is a floating rate liability with special commission rates re-priced every six months. 

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date. The Group uses widely recognized valuation models for determining the fair value of common and simpler financial instruments. Observable prices or model inputs are usually 
available in the market for listed debt and equity securities, exchange-traded derivatives and simple over-the-counter derivatives such as interest rate swaps. Availability of observable market prices and model inputs 
reduces the need for management judgment and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determining fair values. Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products 
and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets. 

The following table shows the valuation techniques used in measuring fair values at December 31, as well as the significant unobservable inputs used. 

Type Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs
Inter- relationship between significant 

unobservable inputs and fair value 
measurement

FVOCI / Available for sale investments 
(2017)

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison with 
similar instruments for which market observable prices exist. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation 
techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and other premium used in 
estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices and foreign currency exchange rates.

None Not applicable

Loans and advances Fair valued using discounted cash flow techniques that use observable market data inputs for yield curves 
and credit spread Credit spreads

The wider the movement in credit
spread, the higher the difference
between the carrying values and

fair values

33) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In the ordinary course of its activities, the Group transacts business with related parties. The related party transactions are carried out based on the terms agreed between the parties. Banking transactions with related 
parties are governed by limits set by the Banking Control Law and regulations issued by SAMA.

The balances at reporting date, unless reported elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, resulting from such transactions are as follows:
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Royal Bank of Scotland N.V. (formerly known as ABN AMRO Bank N.V.) 2018 2017
Due from banks and other financial institutions 29,971 189,337
Due to banks and other financial institutions 839 1,990
Derivatives at fair value, net 212 239
Commitments and contingencies 33,118 45,769
Associates & other major shareholders and their affiliate entities with significant influence:
Loans and advances 1,160,928 576,689
Derivatives at fair value, net 3,629 9,366
Customers’ deposits 5,331,347 4,656,774
Subordinated debt - 424,533
Commitments and contingencies 104,103 289,146
Mutual funds managed by the Group:
Investments 146,389 153,347
Subordinated debt - 15,271
Customers’ deposits 273,101 167,453
Derivatives at fair value, net 89 311

Other major shareholders represent shareholdings (excluding the non-Saudi shareholder) of more than 5% of the Bank’s issued share capital. Income and expenses pertaining to transactions with related parties included 
in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

2018 2017
Special commission income 7,657 12,880
Special commission expense 122,486 190,336
Fees from banking services, net 1,355 944
Fees from management services 14,572 17,732
General and administrative expenses 30,214 41,320
Directors’ remuneration and other related expenses 4,691 4,763
Compensation paid to key management personnel ( note 24) 42,834 34,381
End of service benefits paid to key management personnel 1,391 691

Key management personnel are those persons having responsibility and authority for formulating strategies and directing and controlling the activities of the Group.

34) CAPITAL ADEQUACY

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to comply with the capital requirements set by SAMA and to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern by maintaining a strong capital base.

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by management. SAMA requires holding the minimum level of regulatory capital and maintaining a ratio of total regulatory capital to the Risk-Weighted 
Assets (RWA) at or above the agreed minimum of 8%.
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Management monitors the adequacy of its capital using ratios established by SAMA. These ratios expressed as a percentage, measure capital adequacy by comparing the Group’s eligible capital with its consolidated 
statement of financial position assets, commitments and contingencies and notional amount of derivatives at amounts weighted to reflect their relative risk. During the year, the Group has fully complied with regulatory 
capital requirement.

The components of RWA, capital and ratios are as follows:

2018 2017

Credit Risk RWA 67,881,975 77,414,670
Operational Risk RWA 6,403,504 6,262,700
Market Risk RWA 423,902 223,114
Total Pillar-I RWA 74,709,381 83,900,484
Tier I Capital 14,547,619 13,599,696
Tier II Capital 848,525 3,467,683
Total Tier I & II Capital 15,396,144 17,067,379
Capital Adequacy Ratio %
Tier I 19.47 16.21
Tier I + Tier II 20.61 20.34

35) INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT AND BROKERAGE SERVICES

The Group offers investment management services to its customers that include the management of investment funds and discretionary portfolios with total assets of SAR 2.14 billion (2017: SAR 2.85 billion), in consultation 
with professional investment advisors. This includes funds managed under Shariah approved portfolios amounting to SAR 1.35 billion (2017: SAR 1.56 billion). The financial statements of these funds are not consolidated 
with the consolidated financial statements of the Group. The Group’s investment in these funds is included in investments held as FVTPL.  Fees earned from management services are recorded within fee and commission 
income and are disclosed under “related party transactions”. Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, therefore, are not included in these consolidated financial statements.

36) SHARE BASED PLAN RESERVE

In January 2008, the Group launched an equity settled share-based payment plan (the “Plan”) for executives and senior employees («Eligible Employees»). The initial Plan was approved by the Board of Directors in 
their meeting held on 10 Dhu-al-Qa’dah 1428H (corresponding to November 20, 2007) and SAMA in their letter dated 26 Safar 1429H (corresponding March 4, 2008). The vesting conditions were amended in 2009 as 
approved by the Board of Directors in their meeting held on 5 Shabaan 1430H (corresponding July 27, 2009) and SAMA in their letter dated 20 Dhualqada 1430H (corresponding November 9, 2009). According to the 
amendment made in the Plan during 2017, eligible employees will receive shares in the Bank if the following terms and conditions are met:
-	 Eligible employees are required to continue their employment with the Group for a period of one year from the grant date to have 1/3 rd of shares vest, two years from the grant to have another 1/3 rd of shares vest 

and three years from the grant to have remaining 1/3 rd of shares to vest; and
-	 The Group achieves specific growth thresholds as approved by the Board of Directors where each threshold will accrue a certain value of shares to the eligible employees.
The amendments made in the Plan during 2017, with respect to vesting period of the grant is applicable to 2017 grant onwards only and the vesting period of the prior grants will be subject to the policy applicable 
before the aforementioned amendment. Before the amendments, Eligible employees were required to continue their  employment with the Group for a period of 2 years from the grant date to have half of their shares 
vest and another year for the remainder to vest.
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Under the provisions of the Plan, the Group at no point becomes the legal owner of the underlying shares. Until such time as these shares vest they will not carry voting rights. As per the plan, Alawwal Invest manages 
the Staff Share Plan Fund (the Fund) which will operate in accordance with the terms and conditions as approved by the Board of Directors in their above referred meeting and by SAMA in their above referred letter. Any 
further modifications in the terms and conditions of the Plan require prior approval of SAMA.

During 2008, the Fund purchased 2.15 million Bank’s shares for a total consideration of SAR 114 million which are held by it in fiduciary capacity until the shares vest to the eligible employees. The Fund purchased one 
million shares in 2012 and 999,063 shares in 2016 worth of SAR 27 million and 25 million, respectively. At the vesting date the ownership of these shares will pass to the employees. The number of shares granted is 
calculated in accordance with the performance based formula approved by the Board of Directors and is subject to approval of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 

In accordance with the terms of the Plan, shares will be granted to eligible employees annually and will vest as described above and in addition, eligible employees may be granted shares subject to specified vesting 
terms and conditions. The Group has granted 9 tranches of the Plan over the period from 2008 to 2018 and the tranches granted for the years from 2016 to 2018 are currently under their vesting periods. The Plan 
details are as follows:

Grant in 2018 Grant in 2017 Grant in 2016

Plan Commencement date February 2018 March 2017 March 2016
Value of shares granted on the grant date (SAR) 13,168,117 11,855,820 26,301,969
Fair value per share at grant date (SAR) 12 12 27
Number of shares granted 1,097,342 987,985 974,147
Vesting period January 2019 - 2021 March 2018 - 2020 March 2018 - 2019
Method of settlement Bank's shares Bank’s shares Bank’s shares

The following is the movement in number of shares in grant at December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Number of shares

2018 2017

Beginning of the year 2,978,636 3,417,001
Grant / additions during the year 1,649,065 987,985
Vested during the year )1,543,620( )1,116,845(
Forfeited during the year )490,901( )309,505(

2,593,180 2,978,636

During the year Share Based Plan related charge to consolidated income statement amounted to SAR 5.34 million (2017: SAR 13.69 million).
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37) EMPLOYEE END OF SERVICE BENEFITS

The Group operates an End of Service Benefit Plan for its employees based on the prevailing Saudi Labour Laws. Accruals are made in accordance with the actuarial valuation under projected unit credit method while 
the benefit payments obligation is discharged as and when it falls due. Following are the key assumptions resulting in net liability of SAR 223.1 million as of December 31, 2018 (2017: 207.4 million) and charge to the 
consolidated income statement for the year amounted to SAR 34.4 million (2017: SAR 42.8 million). 

2018 2017

Discount rate (per annum) 4.60% 4.60% 
Expected rate of salary increase (per annum) 5.21% 5.31%
Mortality rate 0.583 – 2.926 0.583 – 2.926
Normal retirement age - (years) 55 – 60 55 – 60

Above assumptions are based on actuarial input. Actuarial liability 
is more sensitive to change in salary inflation and discount rate. A 
0.5% change in either discount rate or salary increase can increase or 
decrease the end of service liability by SAR 5 to SAR 10 million.

38)	PROSPECTIVE CHANGES IN THE INTERNATIONAL 

FINANCIAL REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following new 
standards and amendments which have been issued but not yet 
effective for the current accounting year. Following is a brief on 
the new IFRSs and amendments to IFRSs and the related impact 
assessment, effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 01, 2018:

IFRS 16 – “Leases”

IFRS 16 – “Leases”, applicable for the period beginning on or after 
1 January 2019. The new standard eliminates the current dual 
accounting model for lessees under IAS 17, which distinguishes 
between on-balance sheet finance leases and off-balance sheet 
operating leases. Instead, IFRS 16 proposes on-balance sheet 
accounting model.

Transition to IFRS 16 

The Group plans to adopt IFRS 16 using modified retrospective 
approach. The Group will elect to apply the standard to contracts 
that were previously identified as leases applying IAS 17 and IFRIC 
4. The Group will therefore not apply the standard to contracts that 
were not previously identified as containing a lease applying IAS 17 
and IFRIC 4. The Group will elect to use the exemptions proposed 
by the standard on lease contracts for which the lease terms ends 
within 12 months as of the date of initial application, and lease 
contracts for which the underlying asset is of low value. 

The impact on the consolidated statement of financial position as 
at December 31, 2018 is estimated to be an increase of 0.3% and 
0.4% in assets and liabilities, respectively. The adoption of IFRS 16 is 
not expected to have significant impact on Group's operating results. 

Amendments to IAS 19 

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement, applicable for the 
period beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The amendments to 
IAS 19 address the accounting when a plan amendment, curtailment 
or settlement occurs during a reporting period. The amendments 
specify that when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement 
occurs during the annual reporting period. 

For other Standards, amendments or interpretations effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, the Group 
does not anticipate that these will have a material impact  on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

39) COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain prior year figures have been reclassified to conform to the 
current year's presentation.

40) BOARD OF DIRECTORS' APPROVAL

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue 
by the Board of Directors on 5 Jumada II, 1440H (corresponding to 
February 10, 2019).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 
31 December 2018



1935 HRH Prince Saud Bin Abdulaziz at the Head Office 
of Netherland Trading Society in Amsterdam



2018Alawwal bank Board of Directors











120 Alawwal bank Annual Report 2018

A N N U A L  R E P O R TA L A W W A L  B A N K  A N N U A L  R E P O R T 2018 2018


